#### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

### **FORM 10-Q**

Quarterly report pursuant to sections 13 or 15(d)

Filing Date: **2020-11-12** | Period of Report: **2020-09-30** SEC Accession No. 0001437749-20-023605

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

#### **FILER**

#### Moleculin Biotech, Inc.

CIK:1659617| IRS No.: 474671999 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: 10-Q | Act: 34 | File No.: 001-37758 | Film No.: 201306468

SIC: 2834 Pharmaceutical preparations

Mailing Address 5300 MEMORIAL DRIVE SUITE 950 HOUSTON TX 77007 Business Address 5300 MEMORIAL DRIVE SUITE 950 HOUSTON TX 77007 713-300-5160

Non-accelerated filer  $\boxtimes$  Accelerated filer  $\square$ 

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

### **FORM 10-Q**

	Γ TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECU the quarterly period ended September 30, 20 or	
	T TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECU he transition period from to Commission File Number: 001-37758	
	Moleculin	
	MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.	
Delaware	sact name of registrant as specified in its charter 2834	) 47-4671997
(State or Other Jurisdiction of	(Primary Standard Industrial	(IRS Employer
Incorporation or Organization)	Classification Code Number)	Identification Number)
5300 Memorial Drive, S		
Houston T	X	77007
	(Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip Code
	713-300-5160	
(Re	gistrant's telephone number, including area cod-	e)
	$(1)$ has filed all reports required to be filed by $(2)$ months (or for such shorter period that the regements for the past 90 days. Yes $\square$ No $\square$	
	t has submitted electronically every Interactive I ecceding 12 months (or for such shorter period the	
	t is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, ee definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," the Exchange Act.:	
Large accelerated filer □	Smaller r	eporting company 🗷

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. 🗵

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.): Yes □ No ☑

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol (s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share	MBRX	The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

The registrant had 62,464,564 shares of common stock outstanding at November 5, 2020.

#### Moleculin Biotech, Inc.

#### **Table of Contents**

		<u>Page</u>
	PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION	_
Item 1.	Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	3 3
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019	<u>3</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Nine Months	
	ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	<u>4</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	<u>5</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 and	
	2019	6
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	6 7 19 25 26
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	19
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	25
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	26
	PART II – OTHER INFORMATION	27
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	27 27 27 28 28 28 28
Item 1A.	- <del></del>	27
Item 2.	Unregistered sales of Equity Securities and Uses of Proceeds	28
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	28
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	28
Item 5.	Other Information	28
Item 6.	Exhibits	29
	Signatures	<u>30</u>
	2	

Table of Contents

#### PART 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION

#### **Item 1. Financial Statements**

# Moleculin Biotech, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands, except for share and per share data) (unaudited)

	-	otember 30, 2020	De	2019
Assets				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	12,795	\$	10,735
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		2,455		2,749
Total current assets		15,250		13,484
Furniture and equipment, net		522		316
Intangible assets		11,148		11,148
Operating lease right-of-use asset		224		287
Total assets	\$	27,144	\$	25,235

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 1,343	\$ 2,153
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	 2,095	1,417
Total current liabilities	3,438	3,570
Operating lease liability - long-term, net of current portion	190	276
Warrant liability - long-term	 9,049	5,818
Total liabilities	12,677	9,664
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)		
Stockholders' equity		
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding	_	_
Common stock, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized as of September 30, 2020 and		
December 31, 2019, 61,764,225 and 45,727,700 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,	62	46
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	68,649	55,055
Accumulated other comprehensive income	33	31
Accumulated deficit	 (54,277)	 (39,561)
Total stockholders' equity	14,467	15,571
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 27,144	\$ 25,235

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

3

#### Table of Contents

# Moleculin Biotech, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss (in thousands, except share and per share data) (unaudited)

	7	Three Mor Septem	nths Ended ber 30,		Nine Mont Septem		
		2020	2019	2020			2019
Revenues	\$	_	\$ —	\$	_	\$	_
Operating expenses:							
Research and development		4,435	2,785		10,971		7,816
General and administrative		1,659	1,672		5,122		4,748
Depreciation and amortization		57	51		154		147
Total operating expenses		6,151	4,508		16,247		12,711
Loss from operations		(6,151)	(4,508)		(16,247)		(12,711)
Other income:							
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability		2,743	124		1,489		3,059
Other income, net		10	5		32		5
Interest income, net		3	5		10	_	10
Net loss before taxes	\$	(3,395)	\$ (4,374)	\$	(14,716)	\$	(9,637)
Income tax benefit		_	229		_		229
Net loss	\$	(3,395)	\$ (4,145)	\$	(14,716)	\$	(9,408)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted	\$	(0.06)	\$ (0.09)	\$	(0.26)	\$	(0.24)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted	61	,474,857	45,464,746	5	6,979,507	_	39,034,303
Net Loss	\$	(3,395)	\$ (4,145)	\$	(14,716)	\$	(9,408)
Other comprehensive income (loss):							
Foreign currency translation		10	(3)		2	_	(16)

Comprehensive loss \$ (3,385) \$ (4,148) \$ (14,714) \$ (9,424)

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

4

#### **Table of Contents**

# Moleculin Biotech, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands) (unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,				
		2020		2019	
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net loss	\$	(14,716)	\$	(9,408)	
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization		154		147	
Stock-based compensation		1,265		1,155	
License rights expense settled in stock		_		490	
Change in fair value of warrant liability		(1,489)		(3,059)	
Operating lease, net of sublease receipts		90		(10)	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		294		(2,337)	
Accounts payable		(810)		1,942	
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		565		(1,441)	
Net cash used in operating activities		(14,647)		(12,521)	
Cash flows from investing activities:					
Purchase of fixed assets		(360)		(42)	
Net cash used in investing activities		(360)		(42)	
Cash flows from financing activities:					
Proceeds from exercise of stock options				5	
Proceeds from exercise of warrants		5		1,557	
Payment of tax liability for vested restricted stock units		(17)			
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of issuance costs		17,077		19,292	
Net cash provided by financing activities		17,065		20,854	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		2		(16)	
Net change in cash and cash equivalents		2,060		8,275	
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period		10,735		7,134	
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period	\$	12,795	\$	15,409	
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:					
Cash paid for interest	\$	_	\$	1	
Cash paid for taxes	\$	20	\$	15	
Research and development expense settled in stock	\$	_	\$	490	
Non-cash investing and financing activities:					
Purchases of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	316	\$	21	

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

4

**Table of Contents** 

## (in thousands, except for shares) (unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020										
	Commo	on St	ock	A	Additional	Ac	ccumulated		ccumulated Other mprehensive	Sto	ockholders'
	Shares	_	Par Value Amount		Paid-In Capital		Deficit	In	come (Loss)		Equity
Balance, December 31, 2019	45,727,700	\$	46	\$	55,055	\$	(39,561)	\$	31	\$	15,571
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$709	7,500,000		7		559		_		_		566
Stock-based compensation	_		_		397		_		_		397
Consolidated net loss	_		_				(1,209)		_		(1,209)
Cumulative translation adjustment			<u> </u>				<u> </u>		(33)		(33)
Balance, March 31, 2020	53,227,700	\$	53	\$	56,011	\$	(40,770)	\$	(2)	\$	15,292
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$336	7,170,964		7		10,000		_		_		10,007
Warrants exercised	4,500		_		9		_		_		9
Stock-based compensation	_		_		408		_		_		408
Consolidated net loss	_		_				(10,112)		_		(10,112)
Cumulative translation adjustment									25		25
Balance, June 30, 2020	60,403,164	\$	60	\$	66,428	\$	(50,882)	\$	23	\$	15,629
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$135	1,301,126		2		1,778		_		_		1,780
Common stock issued upon vesting of restricted stock units (net of shares withheld for payment of tax liability)	59,935		_		(17)		_		_		(17)
Stock-based compensation	_		_		460		_		_		460
Consolidated net loss			_				(3,395)		_		(3,395)
Cumulative translation adjustment									10		10
Balance, September 30, 2020	61,764,225	\$	62	\$	68,649	\$	(54,277)	\$	33	\$	14,467

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019										
	Common Stoo		ock	Α	Additional	Accumulated		Accumulated Other Comprehensive		Sto	ockholders'
	Shares	_	Par Value Amount		Paid-In Capital		Deficit	In	come (Loss)		Equity
Balance, December 31, 2018	28,528,663	\$	29	\$	40,564	\$	(26,356)	\$	35	\$	14,272
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$617	5,250,000		5		3,221		_				3,226
Issued to Lincoln Park - sale of common stock	605,367		_		883		_		_		883
Stock options exercised	25,000		_		5						5
Stock-based compensation	_		_		348		_		_		348
Consolidated net loss	_		_		_		(4,041)		_		(4,041)
Cumulative translation adjustment	<u> </u>								(11)		(11)
Balance, March 31, 2019	34,409,030	\$	34	\$	45,021	\$	(30,397)	\$	24	\$	14,682
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$1,300	9,375,000		9		3,575		_		_		3,584
Warrants exercised	1,413,018		2		4,729		_		_		4,731
Stock-based compensation	_		_		318		_		_		318
Consolidated net loss	_		_		_		(1,221)		_		(1,221)
Cumulative translation adjustment	_		_		_		_		(2)		(2)
Balance, June 30, 2019	45,197,048	\$	45	\$	53,643	\$	(31,618)	\$	22	\$	22,092
Issued to Lincoln Park - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$59	100,674		_		52		_		_		52
Common stock issued for license rights	429,978		1		489		_				490
Stock-based compensation	_		_		489		_		_		489
Consolidated net loss	_		_		_		(4,145)		_		(4,145)
Cumulative translation adjustment	<u> </u>								(3)		(3)

Balance, September 30, 2019 45,727,700 \$ 46 \$ 54,673 \$ (35,763) \$ 19 \$ 18,975

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

6

**Table of Contents** 

### Moleculin Biotech, Inc. Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

#### 1. Nature of Business and Liquidity

The terms "MBI" or "the Company", "we", "our", and "us" are used herein to refer to Moleculin Biotech, Inc. MBI is a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company, organized as a Delaware corporation in July 2015, with its focus on the treatment of highly resistant cancers and viruses through the development of its drug candidates, all of which are based on license agreements with The University of Texas System on behalf of the MD Anderson Cancer Center, which we refer to as MD Anderson. MBI formed Moleculin Australia Pty. Ltd., (MAPL), a wholly owned subsidiary, to perform certain preclinical development in Australia. This enables the Company to enjoy the benefits of certain research and development tax credits in Australia. In February 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with Animal Life Sciences, LLC (ALI), where the Company has granted a sublicense to ALI to research, develop, make, have made, use, offer to sell, sell, export or import and commercialize certain licensed products for non-human use and share development data. ALI issued to the Company a 10% interest in ALI. ALI converted into a corporation and became Animal Life Sciences, Inc.

Core Technologies - MBI has three core technologies, two of which have multiple drug candidates, and all of which are based on discoveries made at MD Anderson. These core technologies are 1) Annamycin, 2) its STAT3 Immune/Transcription Modulators, or simply "Immune/Transcription Modulators" WP1066 portfolio and 3) its Antimetabolite (including Metabolism/Glycosylation Inhibitors) WP1122 portfolio of molecules. The Company's clinical stage drugs are Annamycin, an anthracycline which is currently in one Phase 1/2 study for the treatment of relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (AML), with one Phase 1 study in the United States of America (US) recently concluding, WP1066, an Immune/Transcription Modulator, which is in two Phase 1 clinical trials in the US for the treatment of brain tumors, and WP1220, a member of the WP1066 portfolio of drugs, which has completed a Phase 1 proof-of-concept clinical trial in Poland for the topical treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL), a form of skin cancer.

The Company refers to Annamycin as a "Next Generation Anthracycline" since it is designed to avoid the multidrug resistance mechanisms that typically defeat currently approved anthracyclines, as well as to be non-cardiotoxic, which is the dose limiting toxicity for all currently approved anthracyclines. Annamycin is currently in a Phase 1/2 clinical trial in Europe, having successfully completed a Phase 1 safety trial in the US in early 2020, and preliminary clinical data suggests that it may have the potential to become the first therapy suitable for the majority of relapsed AML patients regardless of gene mutations. These trials have so far demonstrated safety, including the absence of any cardiotoxicity, and have demonstrated some initial efficacy. Additionally, preclinical research in animal models at MD Anderson demonstrated that Annamycin is able to significantly improve survival in multiple tumors that have metastasized to the lungs. Coupled with research demonstrating that Annamycin is capable of accumulating in the lungs at high levels, this suggests that Annamycin may be well suited to become a treatment for lung-localized tumors and the Company is performing preclinical work to enable an IND or its equivalent to be filed by the end of this year.

WP1066 is one of several Immune/Transcription Modulators in the Company's pipeline that appear capable of stimulating immune response to tumors by inhibiting the errant activity of Regulatory T-Cells (TRegs) while also inhibiting key oncogenic transcription factors, including p-STAT3, c-Myc and HIF-1 alpha. These transcription factors are widely sought targets that may also play a role in the lack of efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in certain resistant tumors. The "proof-of-concept" Phase 1 trial in Poland for WP1220 demonstrated safety and efficacy and the Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner for the continued development of WP1220 as a topical therapy for CTCL.

The Company is also developing new prodrugs to exploit the potential uses of its WP1122 portfolio of antimetabolites, including inhibitors of glycolysis and glycosylation. Its lead Metabolism/Glycosylation Inhibitor compound, WP1122, provides an opportunity to cut off the fuel supply of tumors and viruses by taking advantage of their overdependence on glucose and glycolysis as compared with healthy cells. New research also points to the potential for the glucose decoy (2-DG) within WP1122 to be capable of enhancing the usefulness of checkpoint inhibitors and inhibiting glycosylation and glycolysis in virally infected cells. During 2020, the Company entered into agreements with several third party research centers to conduct research on WP1122 for antiviral properties against a range of viruses, including Coronavirus. Additional research with other molecules in this portfolio with independent contractors has also begun.

**Drug Candidates** - Within the Company's core technologies, it currently has five drug candidates representing three substantially different mechanisms of action. Annamycin is a chemotherapy designed to inhibit the replication of DNA of rapidly dividing cells and is the Company's most mature drug candidate. The Company has a trial open in Poland and one that recently completed in the US. The US Phase 1 portion of the Phase 1/2 trial reached key safety end points in early 2020. As a result of discussions with the FDA, the Company will utilize its trial in Europe to establish a recommended Phase 2 dose (RP2D) and to generate additional safety and efficacy data as requested by the FDA. The Phase 1/2 trial in Poland continues its dose escalation and is in its fifth cohort where patients are being treated at 240 mg/m2. The second patient in that cohort experienced a dose limiting toxicity (DLT), secondarily related to concomitant medication not being withheld. The DLT was resolved, and that cohort will be expanded to a total of six patients. If a second DLT in this cohort occurs, then we would enroll three subjects that would be treated at 210 mg/m2 to confirm the maximum tolerated dosage. If no additional DLT occurs in the current cohort, then we will progress to the sixth cohort at 300 mg/m2. We believe the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is slowing the pace of our patient recruitment in our Polish Annamycin clinical trial. We cannot assess when such an impact on our trial will be alleviated or if it will worsen. So far both trials have demonstrated that Annamycin, to date, is safe and is non-cardiotoxic. The trials have demonstrated initial efficacy as well.

In addition to Annamycin, the Company has other drug development projects, two of which are also in clinical trials:

- Two separate Phase 1 physician-sponsored clinical trials are under way to evaluate WP1066. One trial is at MD Anderson Cancer Center for the potential treatment of adult patients with brain tumors and the other is at Emory University for the potential treatment of pediatric brain tumors. Both have begun treating patients. In the Emory trial, one of the patients with DIPG (Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma), showed an apparent response to the treatment with both clinical improvement and radiologic reduction of tumor size. We caution that this is preliminary data and no conclusions should be drawn from this single event.
- The Company is also evaluating WP1066 for the potential treatment of AML, pancreatic and other cancers. MBI has begun preclinical work that it expects to generate sufficient data for an IND for an intravenous formulation of one of its STAT3 inhibitors, which filing is expected to be submitted in 2021.
- WP1220 is an analog of WP1066 for which Polish authorities approved the Company's Clinical Trial Application (CTA) in 2019 for a Phase 1 "proof-of-concept" clinical trial to study the topical treatment of CTCL. This trial was completed, and the Company believes it demonstrated sufficient efficacy to justify a Phase 2 trial. The Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner in 2021 for the further development of WP1220 for the treatment of CTCL.
- Several molecules in the WP1122 portfolio are being evaluated for their potential to address hard to treat cancers and viruses. This portfolio of antimetabolites includes WP1122 which inhibits glycolysis and glycosylation. The Company has begun preclinical work on WP1122 and other analogs in this portfolio to possibly position one or more of them as treatments for certain cancers and viruses, including the Coronavirus. The Company believes this work may support an IND or its equivalent for WP1122 and/or related compounds.

Clinical Trials - The Company has concluded the initial Phase 1 portion of its Phase 1/2 trial of Annamycin for the potential treatment of AML in the US due to the FDA's requirement to set the initial dose level relatively low in comparison with previous Annamycin clinical trials. Additionally, the Company believes that patient recruitment for its Annamycin AML clinical trial in Europe will continue to be more successful than in the US due to a comparatively lower number of competitive clinical trials and the protocol there being approved to start at a significantly higher dose than in the US with fewer enrollment screening limitations. This European AML trial is in its fifth cohort in the dose ranging Phase 1 portion of the trial. The Company has also announced plans to submit an IND or its equivalent for the use of Annamycin to potentially treat lung metastases, which it expects to submit before the end of 2020.

In September 2018, the physician-sponsored WP1066 Phase 1 clinical trial for the treatment of glioblastoma and melanoma metastasized to the brain, which opened for recruitment in July 2018, began treating patients. In April 2020, a second physician-sponsored Phase 1 trial for the potential treatment of pediatric brain tumors began recruitment and has begun treating patients. In August 2019, the Company completed its proof-of-concept Phase 1 clinical trial in Poland to study WP1220, a part of the WP1066 portfolio, for the treatment of CTCL. This trial demonstrated the safety of WP1220 and also demonstrated, the Company believes, initial efficacy sufficient to support beginning a Phase 2 clinical trial. The Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner in 2021 for the further development of WP1220 for the treatment of CTCL.

Moleculin has recently announced discoveries (both internally funded and independently developed) supporting the potential use of WP1122 for the treatment of COVID-19 and other viral diseases. The Company is deploying resources on the development of an IND or its equivalent for testing WP1122 in patients with COVID-19 and/or certain cancers, as such preclinical work may support both

viral and cancer indications. It expects to submit such an IND or its equivalent in the first half of 2021, as access to in vivo studies may necessitate such timing.

**Licenses** - The Company has been granted royalty-bearing, worldwide, exclusive licenses for the patent and technology rights related to all of MBI's drug technologies, as these intellectual property rights are owned in part or entirely by MD Anderson. The Annamycin drug substance is no longer covered by any existing patent protection, however, the Company filed new patent applications in July 2019 for formulation, synthetic process and reconstitution related to MBI's Annamycin drug product candidate, although there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining such patent protection. Most of this technology is also licensed from MD Anderson. The Company sponsors significant research at MD Anderson. New patents may result out of this research. From time to time, there are license issues that need to be discussed and handled with MD Anderson such as adding additional patents to existing license agreements and extension of milestones. The Company believes that such issues will be handled in the ordinary course of business.

Independently from potential patent protection, MBI has received Orphan Drug designation (ODD) from the FDA for Annamycin for the treatment of AML and for WP1066 for the treatment of glioblastoma. ODD may provide tax and other benefits during product development, and if either product is approved, may lead to a grant of seven-year market exclusivity. Under that exclusivity, which runs from the date of the approval of the New Drug Application (NDA) in the US, the FDA generally (there are important exceptions) could not approve another product containing the same drug for the designated indication. The Company also intends to apply for similar status in the European Union (EU) where market exclusivity could extend to 10 years from the date of Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) approval. Separately, the FDA may also grant market exclusivity of 5 years for newly approved new chemical entities (which the Company believes Annamycin would be one), which would preclude approval of any other annamycin product, but there can be no assurance that such exclusivity will be granted. In April 2019, FDA approved the Company's request for Fast Track Designation for Annamycin for the treatment of relapsed or refractory AML. Fast Track Designation, the purpose of which is to expedite drug development and approval, is granted to drugs intended to treat serious conditions and where data demonstrate the potential to address an unmet medical need.

**COVID 19** - In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the world. The spread of COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in US and international markets, including Poland, where the Company conducts some of its clinical trials and Italy, where its drug supply is produced. There has been limited interruption of the Company's drug supply, and some Polish clinics where the Company is conducting trials have limited access on monitoring activities. Additionally, the Company believes COVID-19 has materially slowed the progress of the Company's trials. This could worsen or be alleviated at any time. Furthermore, there is significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the US and international economies and, as such, the Company is unable to determine if it will have a material impact to its operations.

Nasdaq - On September 30, 2020, the Company received a letter from NASDAQ notifying the Company that for the last 30 consecutive business days the bid price for the Company's common stock had closed below the minimum \$1.00 per share requirement for continued inclusion on the Nasdaq Capital Market pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the "Bid Price Rule"). The deficiency letter does not result in the immediate delisting of the Company's common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market. In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until March 29, 2021, to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule. If, at any time before March 29, 2021, the bid price for the Company's common stock closes at \$1.00 or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, the Nasdaq Staff will provide written notification to the Company that it complies with the Bid Price Rule, unless the Staff exercises its discretion to extend this 10 day period pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(G). If the Company is not in compliance with the Bid Price Rule by March 29, 2021, the Company may be afforded a second 180 calendar day period to regain compliance. To qualify, the Company would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for the Nasdaq Capital Market, except for the minimum bid price requirement. In addition, the Company would be required to notify Nasdaq of its intent to cure the minimum bid price deficiency, which may include, if necessary, implementing a reverse stock split. If the Company does not regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule by March 29, 2021 and is not eligible for an additional compliance period at that time, the Nasdaq Staff will provide written notification to the Company that its common stock may be delisted. The Company would then be entitled to appeal the Nasdag Staff's determination to a NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel and request a hearing. There can be no assurance that, if the Company does appeal a delisting determination by the Nasdaq Staff to the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel, that such appeal would be successful. The Company intends to monitor the closing bid price of its common stock and may, if appropriate, consider available options to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule, which could include effecting a reverse stock split. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule.

#### 2. Basis of presentation, principles of consolidation and significant accounting policies

Basis of Presentation – Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Information - The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (U.S. GAAP) for financial information, and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) with respect to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements furnished reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments), which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of results for the interim periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year. These interim condensed unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and notes thereto contained in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 19, 2020.

**Principles of consolidation** - The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to U.S. GAAP. The company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment. All long-lived assets of the Company reside in the US.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management considers many factors in selecting appropriate financial accounting policies and controls, and in developing the estimates and assumptions that are used in the preparation of these financial statements. Management must apply significant judgment in this process. In addition, other factors may affect estimates, including expected business and operational changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumptions used in developing estimates, and whether historical trends are expected to be representative of future trends. The estimation process often may yield a range of potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes and management must select an amount that falls within that range of reasonable estimates. This process may result in actual results differing materially from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of financial statements. Estimates are used in the following areas, among others: fair value estimates on intangible assets, warrants, and stock-based compensation expense, as well as accrued expenses and taxes.

Going Concern - These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain necessary equity financing to continue operations and the attainment of profitable operations. As of September 30, 2020, the Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of \$54.3 million since inception and had not yet generated any revenue from operations. Additionally, management anticipates that its cash on hand as of September 30, 2020, is sufficient to fund its planned operations into but not beyond the near term. These factors raise substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company may seek additional funding through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding, commercialization, marketing and distribution arrangements, other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements and delay planned cash outlays or a combination thereof. Management cannot be certain that such events or a combination thereof can be achieved.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid accounts with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Periodically in the ordinary course of business, the Company may carry cash balances at financial institutions in excess of the Federally insured limits of \$250,000.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets - Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	Sept	December 31, 2019		
Vendor prepayments and deposits	\$	1,312	\$	1,857
Prepaid insurance		880		352
Other current assets		257		529
Related party receivables		5		10
Non-trade receivables	<u></u>	1		1
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets	\$	2,455	\$	2,749

Vendor prepayments at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, includes approximately \$1.1 million and \$1.5 million, respectively, for the expansion of Annamycin production commitments on a commercial scale currently expected to be delivered through the remainder of 2020 and into the first quarter of 2021 for use in clinical trials.

Intangible Assets - Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit. Acquired intangible assets identified as in-process research and development (IPR&D) assets, are considered indefinite lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. If the associated research and development effort is abandoned, the related IPR&D assets will be written-off and the Company will record a noncash impairment loss on its statements of operations. For those compounds that reach commercialization, the IPR&D assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets periodically and take into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate that impairment exists. No impairments of intangible assets have been identified during any of the periods presented. Intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach.

**Property and Equipment, net** - Leasehold improvements, furniture, equipment and software are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease term. Accumulated depreciation on property and equipment was \$0.4 million and \$0.3 million at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Asset - The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception or during modifications or renewal of an existing lease. Operating lease assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based upon the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The lease payments used to determine the Company's operating lease assets may include lease incentives, stated rent increases and escalation clauses linked to rates of inflation when determinable and are recognized in the Company's operating lease assets in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company has elected the practical expedient and does not separate lease components from nonlease components for its leases. The Company's operating leases are reflected in operating lease right-of-use asset

(ROU), accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and operating lease liability - long-term, net of current portion in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases, defined as leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date, are excluded from this treatment and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Refer to Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies - Lease Obligations Payable for additional information related to the Company's operating leases.

**Cost Method Investment** - The Company's cost method investment consists of an investment in a corporation in which it does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and financial activities. Management evaluates this investment for possible impairment quarterly.

**Fair Value of Financial Instruments** - The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of non-trade receivables, accounts payable, accounts payable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of such.

The Company has categorized its assets and liabilities that are valued at fair value on a recurring basis into a three-level fair value hierarchy in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheets at fair value are categorized based on a hierarchy of inputs as follows:

- Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets of identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.
  - Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company's financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis include the fair value of warrant liability discussed in Note 4.

The following table provides assets and liabilities reported at fair value and measured on a recurring basis at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

	Quoted Prices				Signi	ificant	Si	gnificant		
	Measured M		in A	Active	Ot	ther		Other		
			Markets for			rvable	Un	observable		
		at Fair		ntical	Inputs			Inputs		
Description	Value		Value		Assets (Level 1)		(Le	vel 2)	(	Level 3)
Fair value of warrant liability as of September 30, 2020:	\$	9,049	\$		\$		\$	9,049		
Fair value of warrant liability as of December 31, 2019:	\$	5,818	\$		\$		\$	5,818		

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of the beginning of the third quarter and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises that occurred during the third quarter of 2020 and adjusts for balances for changes in fair value that occurred during the current quarter. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Wa Liability Liabil Current T				Li	Warrant ability Total
Balance, June 30, 2020	\$	_	\$	11,792	\$	11,792
Exercise of warrants		_		_		_
Change in fair value - net		<u> </u>		(2,743)		(2,743)
Balance, September 30, 2020	\$		\$	9,049	\$	9,049

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of December 31, 2019 and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises, and changes in fair value that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Liability Current	Warrant bility Long- Term	L	Warrant iability Total
Balance, December 31, 2019	\$ _	\$ 5,818	\$	5,818

Issuances of warrants			4,724	4,724
Exercise of warrants		—	(4)	(4)
Change in fair value - net			 (1,489)	 (1,489)
Balance, September 30, 2020		\$	\$ 9,049	\$ 9,049
	11			

Loss Per Common Share - Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For purposes of this calculation, options to purchase common stock, restricted stock units subject to vesting and warrants to purchase common stock are considered to be common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. In periods when losses are reported, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents, because their inclusion would be antidilutive. For the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 22.9 million and approximately 14.7 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 20.8 million and approximately 11.3 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect.

Stock-based Compensation - Stock-based compensation expense includes the estimated fair value of equity awards vested or expected to vest during the reporting period. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic (ASC) 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (ASC 718). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock units, and modifications to existing stock options, to be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values. The grant date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the grant date fair value of restricted stock awards is determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant (or if the date of grant is not a business day, on the business day prior to the date of the grant). The awards are subject to service vesting conditions. Compensation expense related to awards to employees and directors with service-based vesting conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis based on the grant date fair value over the associated service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term, net of forfeitures which are recognized as they occur. Compensation expense related to awards to non-employees with service-based vesting conditions is recognized based on the then-current fair value at each financial reporting date prior to the measurement date over the associated service period of the award or the vesting event, applicable, which is generally the vesting term. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company began using the volatility of its own stock since it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price.

**Subsequent Events** - The Company's management reviewed all material events through the date these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued for subsequent events disclosure consideration, see other notes and specifically Note 8 - Subsequent Events.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) (ASU 2018-13). ASU 2018-13 modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, based on the concepts in the Concepts Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company's adoption of this pronouncement effective January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) (ASU 2019-12). ASU 2019-12 modifies the requirements for the timing of adoption of enacted change in tax law. The effects of changes on taxes currently payable or refundable for the current year must be reflected in the computation of annual effective tax rate in the first interim period that includes the enactment date of the new legislation, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted upon issuance of this ASU. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) (ASU 2020-06). ASU 2020-06 amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity's own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. The Board observed that the application of the derivatives scope exception guidance results in accounting for some contracts as derivatives while accounting for economically similar contracts as equity. The Board also decided to improve and amend the related EPS guidance. The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities that meet the definition of a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filer, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

The Company does not believe that any other recently issued effective pronouncements, or pronouncements issued but not yet effective, if adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.
12

#### 3. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following components (in thousands):

	September 30, 2020			ecember 31, 2019
Accrued chemistry manufacturing and control costs	\$	1,086	\$	49
Accrued clinical activities		311		93
Accrued payroll and bonuses		247		436
Operating lease liability - current		114		103
Related party payable		99		99
Accrued license fees and sponsored research agreements		95		201
Accrued legal, regulatory, and professional		87		272
Accrued other		56		164
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$	2,095	\$	1,417

#### 4. Warrants

At September 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, respectively, the Company has the following warrants outstanding:

	Number of Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at	Number of Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at		Weighted Average ercise Price at	Remaining Contractual Life at September 30, 2020
	September 30, 2020	December 31, 2019	September 30, 2020		(No. Years)
Liability Classified Warrants (1)					
Issued February 2017	404,002	404,002	\$	1.50	1.4
Issued February 2018	2,273,700	2,273,700		2.80	2.9
Issued June 2018 (2)	742,991	742,991		2.03	3.2
Issued March 2019	1,581,000	1,585,500		1.10	3.5
Issued April 2019	5,250,000	5,250,000		1.75	3.6
Issued February 2020	6,150,000	_		1.05	4.8
	16,401,693	10,256,193	\$	1.58	
<b>Equity Classified Warrants</b>					
Issued May 2016 - Bonwick	107,802	107,802	\$	7.50	0.6
Issued July 2017 - Consulting (3)	150,000	150,000		2.61	1.8
Issued April 2018 - Consulting	100,000	100,000		3.00	0.5
Issued August 2019 - Consulting	150,000	150,000		1.64	1.9
Issued April 2020 - Consulting	100,000			1.14	4.6
	607,802	507,802	\$	3.06	
Balance outstanding	17,009,495	10,763,995	\$	1.63	

<sup>(1)</sup> If the Company subdivides (by any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or otherwise) its outstanding shares of its common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately reduced and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately increased. Additionally, if the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock split or otherwise) its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately increased and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately decreased. Also, the Company may voluntarily reduce the warrant exercise price for its warrants issued in March 2019 and February 2017 and may voluntarily extend the contractual term of its warrants issued in February 2017.

	(2) Includes warrants to j	purchase 710,212	shares at an	exercise price	of \$2.02,	expiring	December 22,	2023,	and v	warrants 1	to
purcha	se 32,779 shares at an exerc	cise price of \$2.32	, expiring Ju	ne 21, 2023.							

(3) Includes warrants to purchase 100,000 shares at an exercise price of \$2.41 and warrants to purchase 50,000 shares at an exercise price of \$3.00.

#### **Liability Classified Warrants**

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model (BSM) to determine the fair value of its warrants at the date of issue and outstanding at each reporting date.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates on zero coupon US Treasury bonds linearly interpolated to obtain a maturity period commensurate with the term of the warrants.

Estimated volatility is a measure of the amount by which the Company's stock price is expected to fluctuate each year during the expected life of the warrants. Beginning in 2020, only the volatility of the Company's own stock is used in the BSM as it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price. In 2019, the Company used the volatility of its own stock blended with the volatility of peer entities due to the lack of sufficient historical data of its stock price.

The assumptions used in determining the fair value of the Company's outstanding liability classified warrants are as follows:

	September 30, 2020	December 31, 2019
Risk-free interest rate	0.1% to 0.3%	1.6% to 1.7%
Volatility	112.5% to	97.5% to
volatility	124.1%	107.5%
Expected life (years)	1.4 to 4.9	2.1 to 4.3
Dividend yield	<u>      %                              </u>	<u> </u> %

A summary of the Company's liability classified warrant activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and related information follows:

	Number of Range of V Shares Warrant Exercise				0		0			Weighted Average Remaining Contractual	
	Under Warrant	Price		Price per S		Price per Share			Exercise Price	Life (Years)	
Balance at January 1, 2020	10,256,193	\$	1.10	\$	2.80	\$	1.89	4.0			
Granted	6,150,000		1.05		1.05		1.05	4.8			
Exercised	(4,500)		1.10		1.10		1.10	_			
Expired							_	_			
Balance at September 30, 2020	16,401,693	\$	1.05	\$	2.80	\$	1.58	3.9			
Vested and Exercisable at September 30, 2020	16,401,693	\$	1.10	\$	2.80	\$	1.89	3.9			

In connection with the Company's stock offering that closed in February 2020, the Company issued warrants to purchase 5,625,000 shares of its common stock, that are exercisable six months from the date of issuance, at a price of \$1.05 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and expire five years from the date they are first exercisable, and issued Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. a warrant (Underwriter Warrant) to purchase up to 525,000 shares of its common stock with an exercise price of \$1.05 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, which expires in February 2025.

For a summary of the changes in fair value associated with our warrant liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, see Note 2 - Basis of presentation, principles of consolidation and significant accounting policies - Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

#### **Equity Classified Warrants**

In April 2020, equity warrants to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock were issued to a consultant, with vesting contingent on certain conditions focused on generating up to \$10 million of approved research and development expenditures on the Company's drug portfolio.

At September 30, 2020 the Company had 607,802 equity classified warrants outstanding and 512,802 warrants were exercisable. At December 31, 2019, the Company had 507,802 equity classified warrants outstanding and all were exercisable.

The Company recorded zero and \$92,000 in stock compensation expense for non-employee consulting agreements for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$5,000 and \$94,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At September 30, 2020, there was \$91,000 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to the Company's equity-classified warrants.

#### 5. Equity

#### July 2020 Stock Issuances

In July 2020, pursuant to the 2019 ATM Agreement, the Company issued 1,301,126 shares of common stock at an average price of \$1.47 per share through the ATM Prospectus Supplement. The Company received total proceeds of \$1.9 million, net of \$0.1 million in transaction expenses. Previously, in April 2020, pursuant to the 2019 ATM Agreement, the Company issued 7,170,964 shares of common stock at an average price of \$1.44 per share through the ATM Prospectus Supplement. The Company received total proceeds of \$10.3 million, net of \$0.3 million in transaction expenses.

#### February 2020 Stock Offering

In February 2020, the Company entered into subscription agreements with certain institutional investors for the sale by the Company of 7,500,000 shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase 5,625,000 shares of common stock at a combined public offering price of \$0.80 per share and related warrant. The Company received total proceeds of \$6.0 million, net of \$0.7 million in transaction expenses. See Note 4 - Warrants for equity classified warrants granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

#### **Stock-based Compensation and Outstanding Awards**

Under the terms of the Company's 2015 Stock Plan, as amended, and approved by its stockholders in June 2020, 10.5 million shares of the Company's common stock were available for grant to employees, non-employee directors and consultants. The 2015 Stock Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock awards, stock unit awards, or stock appreciation rights. As of September 30, 2020, there were 4,409,132 shares remaining to be issued under the 2015 Stock Plan.

Stock-based compensation for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Mon Septem		
		2020		2019	 2020	2019
General and administrative	\$	366	\$	430	\$ 1,029	\$ 1,003
Research and development		94		59	236	152
Total Stock-based Compensation Expense	\$	460	\$	489	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,155

Each of the Company's stock-based compensation arrangements are discussed below.

#### **Stock Options**

Stock option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company's stock at the date of grant. Stock option awards generally have a 10-year contractual term and vest over a 4-year period for employees and over a 1 to 3-year period for directors from the grant date on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The grant-date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Additionally, the Company's stock options provide for full vesting of unvested outstanding options, in the event of a change of control of the Company.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted below. The expected term of the stock option awards was computed using the "plain vanilla" method as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 because the Company does not have sufficient data regarding employee exercise behavior to estimate the expected term. Beginning in 2020, the Company used the volatility of its own stock in the

15

of grant.

BSM as it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price. Prior to 2020, the volatility was determined by referring to the average historical volatility of a peer group of public companies combined with its own due to the lack of sufficient historical data of its stock price. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time

The fair value of the option grants has been estimated, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Nine Months Ei 30	
Stock Option Assumptions:	2020	2019
Risk-free interest rate	0.2% to 0.5%	1.0% to 1.3%
Expected volatility of common stock	125.4% to 128.0%	85% to 100%
Expected life (years)	3.8 to 6.3	5.3 to 6.3
Expected dividend yield		

Stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 is as follows:

		Weighted Average Grant Date		Average		Average		Weighted Average	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual	Aggregate Intrinsic
	Number of Shares	F	air Value	Exercise Price	Term (in years)	Value				
Outstanding, December 31, 2019	3,836,000	\$	1.59	\$ 2.26	8.3	\$ _				
Granted	1,554,750	\$	0.83	\$ 0.95						
Exercised	_	\$		\$ _						
Forfeited	(20,000)	\$	0.89	\$ 1.06						
Outstanding, September 30, 2020	5,370,750	\$	1.37	\$ 1.88	8.1	\$ _				
Exercisable, September 30, 2020	1,978,917	\$	1.91	\$ 2.79	7.2	\$ _				

Options granted during 2020 have an aggregated fair value of \$1.3 million that was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. At September 30, 2020, total compensation cost not yet recognized was \$3.0 million and the weighted average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 2.65 years. The aggregate fair value of options vesting in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was \$1.2 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. In July 2020, the Company granted 1,349,750 employee stock options. In August 2020, the Company issued 100,000 options to Dr. Waldemar Priebe, one of the Company's founders and chair of our Scientific Advisory Board. In October 2020, the Company granted 40,000 stock options, with 3-year annual vesting upon appointment of Elizabeth Cermak to the Company's Board of Director's.

#### **Restricted Stock**

Restricted stock units are granted with a grant date fair value determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant date. Restricted stock units vest annually in four equal installments. Additionally, the Company's restricted stock unit agreements provide for full vesting of the restricted stock award in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Restricted stock unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 is as follows:

		1	Weighted Average Grant Date	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual
	Number of Shares		Fair Value	Term (in years)
Unvested Shares, December 31, 2019	316,907	\$	1.31	3.5
Granted	353,211	\$	0.93	
Vested	(79,227)	\$	1.31	
Unvested Shares, September 30, 2020	590,891	\$	1.08	3.3

As of September 30, 2020, total compensation cost not yet recognized was \$0.6 million and the weighted average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 3.3 years.

#### 6. Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company does not expect to pay any significant federal, state, or foreign income taxes in 2020 as a result of the losses recorded during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the additional losses expected for the remainder of 2020 and cumulative net operating loss carryforwards. Accounting standards require the consideration of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is "more likely than not" that some component or all of the benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a result, as of September 30, 2020, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance for all deferred tax assets.

The Company recorded an income tax provision of zero and \$229,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 is 0% and 5.2%, respectively. The effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 is 0% and 1.4%, respectively. The total income tax benefit for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was comprised of research and development tax credits recoverable, associated with Moleculin Australia Pty. Ltd, (MAPL), a wholly-owned subsidiary formed in June 2018, related to preclinical development in Australia. There were no research and development tax credits for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The income tax rates vary from the federal and state statutory rates primarily due to the change in fair value of the stock warrants and valuation allowances on the Company's deferred tax assets. The Company estimates its annual effective tax rate at the end of each quarterly period. Jurisdictions with a projected loss for the year where no tax benefit can be recognized due to the valuation allowance could result in a higher or lower effective tax rate during a particular quarter depending on the mix and timing of actual earnings versus annual projections.

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) to provide certain relief as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among other things, includes provisions relating to net operating loss carry back periods, alternative minimum tax credit refunds, and modification to the net interest deduction limitations. The CARES Act did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The Company continues to monitor any effects that may result from the CARES Act.

#### 7. Commitments and Contingencies

In addition to the commitments and contingencies described elsewhere in these notes, see below for a discussion of the Company's commitments and contingencies as of September 30, 2020.

#### Lease Obligations Payable

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company did not enter into any lease arrangements requiring any additional right-of-use assets or liabilities to be recorded.

The following summarizes quantitative information about the Company's operating leases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2020		2019		2020		2019
Lease cost:							
Operating lease cost	\$ 29	\$	15	\$	87	\$	31
Short-term lease cost	4		12		13		38
Variable lease cost	7		7		22		19
Total	\$ 40	\$	34	\$	122	\$	88

The Company recorded approximately \$10,000 and \$31,000 in sublease income from a related party for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Sublease income is recorded as other income, net on the Company's condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Other supplemental cash flow information for operating leases is as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	20	020		2019		2020		2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:								
Operating cash flows from operating leases	\$	34	\$	20	\$	100	\$	41
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:								
Operating leases	\$	_	\$	212	\$	_	\$	321

At September 30, 2020, future minimum liabilities under ASC 842 for the Company's operating leases were as follows (in thousands):

Maturity of lease liabilities	As of September 30, 2020		
2020 (remaining three months)	\$	34	
2021		138	
2022		105	
2023		56	
2024		10	
2025 and thereafter		<u> </u>	
Total lease payments		343	
Less: imputed interest		(39)	
Present value of operating lease liabilities	\$	304	

As of September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases is 2.7 years, and the weighted average discount rate is 9.6%. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable and as such, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on a peer analysis using information available at the commencement date, which represents an internally developed rate that would be incurred to borrow, on a collateralized basis, over a similar term, an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

#### Licenses

**MD** Anderson - Total expenses related to the Company's license agreements with MD Anderson were \$61,000 and \$60,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$183,000 and \$180,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

*HPI* - On March 16, 2020, the Company entered into two agreements with a related party, Houston Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (HPI). The first agreement, which has a term of two years, continues a prior consulting arrangement with HPI on the Company's licensed molecules and requires payments for \$43,500 per quarter to HPI. The second agreement, which can be cancelled with sixty days' notice by either party, allows the Company's employees access to laboratory equipment owned by HPI for a payment of \$15,000 per quarter to HPI. Total expenses related to the Company's agreements with HPI were \$59,000 and zero for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$226,000 and \$75,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

**Sponsored Research Agreements with MD Anderson** - MBI entered into a Sponsored Laboratory Study Agreement with MD Anderson expiring in October 2021. The expenses recognized under this MD Anderson agreement with regards to the Sponsored Laboratory Study Agreement were \$212,000 and \$177,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$537,000 and \$366,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

#### 8. Subsequent Events

In addition to the subsequent events discussed elsewhere in these notes, see below for a discussion of our subsequent events occurring after September 30, 2020.

**2020** ATM Agreement - As previously reported, in July 2020, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (Agreement) with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (2020 ATM Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the Company may sell from time to time through Oppenheimer shares of the Company's common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to \$15.0 million. In October 2020, the Company issued 700,339 shares of common stock at an average price of \$0.83 per share through the 2020 ATM Agreement, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of \$0.6 million. The Company paid a commission to Oppenheimer equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of its common stock under the 2020 ATM Agreement. The 2019 ATM Agreement expired at the end of the third quarter.

**2020 Lincoln Park Equity Line** - On November 11, 2020, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the "2020 Purchase Agreement") and a registration rights agreement (the "2020 Registration Rights Agreement") with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"). Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park has agreed to purchase from the Company up to

\$22.0 million of the Company's common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time during the term of the 2020 Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, the Company filed with the SEC a registration statement to register the shares that have been or may be issued to Lincoln Park under the 2020 Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, at the time the Company signed the 2020 Purchase Agreement and the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, the Company issued 760,194 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park as consideration for its commitment to purchase shares of our common stock under the 2020 Purchase Agreement and may issue an additional 304,077 shares pro-rata when and if Lincoln Park purchases (at the Company's discretion) the \$22.0 million aggregate commitment.

On November 12, 2020, the Company sold Lincoln Park at \$0.707 per share 2,829,214 shares of common stock for aggregate consideration of \$2.0 million, and issued 27,643 in additional commitment shares.

On November 11, 2020, the Company terminated its purchase agreement dated October 4, 2018 with Lincoln Park.

### ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Form 10-Q, including the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains certain forward-looking statements. Historical results may not indicate future performance. Our forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events, are based on assumptions and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by these statements.

Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

- The impact the recent Coronavirus outbreak will have on our ability to continue our operations including our clinical trials, preclinical activities and our ability to raise future financing;
- Our ability to continue our relationship with MD Anderson, including our ability to license future intellectual property resulting from our sponsored research agreements with MD Anderson;
- Our ability to obtain additional funding to commence or continue our clinical trials, fund operations and develop our product candidates;
- Our ability to satisfy any requirements imposed by the FDA (or its foreign equivalents) as a condition of our clinical trials proceeding or beginning as planned;
- The success, including the ability to recruit patients, of our clinical trials through all phases of clinical development;
- The need to obtain and retain regulatory approval of our drug candidates, both in the United States, in Poland, and in countries deemed necessary for future trials;
- Our ability to complete our clinical trials in a timely fashion and within our expected budget and resources;
- Compliance with obligations under intellectual property licenses with third parties;
- Any delays in regulatory review and approval of drug candidates in clinical development;
- Our ability to commercialize our drug candidates;
- Market acceptance of our drug candidates;
- Competition from existing therapies or new therapies that may emerge;
- Potential product liability claims;
- Our dependency on third-party manufacturers to successfully, and timely, supply or manufacture our drug candidates for our preclinical work and our clinical trials;
- Our ability to establish or maintain collaborations, licensing or other arrangements;
- The ability of our sublicense partners to successfully develop our product candidates in accordance with our sublicense agreements;
- The effects of future government shutdowns on our ability to raise financing;
- Our ability and third parties' abilities to protect intellectual property rights;
- Our ability to adequately support future growth; and
- Our ability to attract and retain key personnel to manage our business effectively.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, including any changes that might result from any facts, events, or circumstances after the date hereof that may bear upon forward-looking statements. Furthermore, we cannot guarantee future results, events, levels of activity, performance, or achievements.

#### Overview

Moleculin Biotech, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a clinical stage pharmaceutical company focused on the treatment of highly resistant cancers and viruses. We have three core technologies, all of which are based on discoveries made at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (MD Anderson). We have three drug candidates, representing two of the three core technologies, that have shown human activity in clinical trials.

In 2019, those three drug candidates were active in five clinical trials in the US and Europe. Of these five clinical trials, two are primarily externally funded. For two of our internally funded trials, we successfully concluded the Phase 1 portion recently and are conducting follow-up observations. We anticipate pursuing pre-clinical work in 2020 for two additional Phase 1 trials expected to begin

in 2021 sponsored by us and two to three other Phase 1 trials we expect to be externally sponsored. In 2020, one externally funded clinical trial began. Currently, we have three clinical trials active in the US and in Europe with only one internally funded.

By "internally funded" we mean that the primary costs of the preclinical activity and clinical trials are funded by us. "Externally funded" drug candidates include those for which preclinical work is performed by external collaborators and for which clinical trials are investigator-initiated. In such cases any grant funds that support such preclinical work or clinical trials and most of the associated expenses do not flow through our financial statements. We do provide drug product and other minor supporting activities for externally funded preclinical activities and clinical trials.

We recently announced collaborations with third parties to assist us in developing potential treatments for diseases like COVID-19. The preclinical work to evaluate the potential of molecules within the WP1122 portfolio of antimetabolites (which include inhibitors of glycolysis and glycosylation) against the viruses is mostly similar to the preclinical work we originally planned for 2020 to develop WP1122 for cancer indications. Accordingly, we believe the preclinical work under way for WP1122 will support an Investigational New Drug (IND) application or its equivalent for either cancer-related or virus-related clinical trials (or both) in the first half of 2021. This timing is mainly due to the limited access to in vivo testing. Additionally, we are primarily relying on such collaborations for testing other molecules in the WP1122 portfolio against other hard to treat viruses.

19

#### Table of Contents

Based on our positive pre-clinical and clinical activity thus far, we have further narrowed our internal development focus to our nearest term opportunities, especially where human activity has been shown in clinical trials. This focus is primarily on preclinical and clinical activities with Annamycin, preclinical activities associated with an intravenous version of WP1066 and IND-enabling studies of WP1122. We intend to rely on external funding, to the extent available, for other projects. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the associated opportunity has accelerated our development of the WP1122 portfolio with a combined effort of internally and externally funded preclinical work to support an IND application with the FDA or its international equivalent for the treatment of COVID-19 or a cancer indication or both. We believe our overall narrowing of focus will allow us to limit our cash needs to the essential opportunities until we reach a significant value inflection point, although we will continue to require additional external capital during this period. In addition, institutional support for our technologies has increased and we believe such support may provide external funding to help support future cash needs. Such expectations assume some form of government or strategic collaboration for WP1122 if it is successful in advancing from preclinical to clinical activity for the treatment of viruses. We have no commitments at this time for such funding, and we can provide no assurances that such funding can be obtained. At this time we do not intend to pursue clinical trials for WP1122 for the treatment of viruses until we are able to secure external funding for such trials.

Of our three clinical stage drug candidates, Annamycin is currently in a clinical trial for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in Poland. It is also being studied for the treatment of cancers metastasized to the lungs. WP1066, an Immune/Transcription Modulator (p-STAT3 inhibitor) is intended to target a wide range of tumors, including brain tumors such as glioblastoma (GBM) and pediatric brain tumors (like diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma, or DIPG, and medulloblastoma), as well as pancreatic cancer. It is currently in two investigator-initiated clinical trials, one for adult GBM and another for pediatric brain tumors (like DIPG and medulloblastoma). We began and completed a "proof-of-concept" Phase 1 clinical trial in 2019 in Poland for a third drug, WP1220 (a molecule similar to WP1066), for the topical treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL). We intend to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner in the near term for external funding for the continued development of WP1220 as a topical therapy for CTCL. We are also engaged in preclinical development of additional drug candidates, including additional Immune/Transcription Modulators, as well as antimetabolites, including Metabolism/Glycosylation Inhibitors.

We consider Annamycin to be a "next generation" anthracycline, unlike any currently approved anthracyclines, as it is designed to avoid multidrug resistance mechanisms with little to no cardiotoxicity (two problems common to all currently approved anthracyclines). We recently received an independent expert cardiology assessment confirming the absence of cardiotoxicity in the first 19 patients treated with Annamycin in both our US and European Phase 1 clinical trials, validating Annamycin's lack of cardiotoxicity. Annamycin is currently in one Phase 1/2 clinical trial in Europe with the Phase 1 portion of another Phase 1/2 AML trial having been recently concluded in the US, subject to continued patient observations. The US trial met its primary endpoint of safety. As a result of discussions with the FDA, the Company will focus on establishing a recommended Phase 2 dose (RP2D) in its trial in Europe and generating additional safety and efficacy data as requested by the FDA. The Poland trial is in its fifth cohort where patients are being treated at 240 mg/m2. The second patient in that cohort experienced a dose limiting toxicity (DLT), secondarily related to concomitant medication not being withheld. The DLT was resolved, and that cohort will be expanded to a total of six patients. If a second DLT in this cohort occurs, then we would enroll three subjects that would be treated at 210 mg/m2 to confirm the maximum tolerated dosage. If no additional DLT occurs in the current cohort, then we will progress to the sixth cohort at 300 mg/m2.

We believe the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is slowing the pace of our patient recruitment in our Polish Annamycin clinical trial. We cannot assess when such an impact on our trial will be alleviated or if it will worsen.

In 2019, preclinical work on Annamycin demonstrated activity against certain cancers metastasized to the lungs. With this new data, we held a Pre-IND Meeting with the FDA in the third quarter of 2020, and with that input we intend to file an IND or its equivalent for a clinical trial for the treatment of cancer metastasized to the lungs with Annamycin by the end of 2020, although no assurances can be given that such trial will begin.

WP1066 is one of several Immune/Transcription Modulators designed to stimulate the immune response to tumors by inhibiting the errant activity of Regulatory TCells (TRegs) while also inhibiting key oncogenic transcription factors, including p-STAT3, c-Myc and HIF-1á. These transcription factors are widely sought targets that may also play a role in the inability of immune checkpoint inhibitors to affect more resistant tumors. WP1066 is currently in two US physician-sponsored Phase 1 clinical trials, one at MD Anderson for the treatment of GBM in adults and another at Emory University for the treatment of pediatric brain tumors. The trial at MD Anderson has begun the fourth and final cohort in the dose escalation phase. The Emory trial has now successfully treated three patients in the first cohort and the first patient in the second cohort has begun treatment at the dose level of 6mg/kg. In that trial, one of the patients with DIPG showed an apparent response to the treatment with both clinical improvement and radiologic reduction of tumor size. We caution that this preliminary data and no conclusions should be drawn from this single event. Another physician-sponsored Phase 1 trial is being considered for the treatment of GBM with WP1066 in combination with radiation, although no assurances can be given that such trial will begin.

20

#### **Table of Contents**

Although WP1122 is a prodrug of 2-DG, the WP1122 Portfolio includes other antimetabolites comprising prodrugs of alternate sugar structures that may also prove useful as antiviral and/or anticancer therapies. The Company is currently evaluating some of these other antimetabolite molecules for potential translational development.

#### **Recent Business Developments**

Below are recent business developments.

#### Annamycin

Independent Study Validates Annamycin's Ability to Target Lung Localized Tumors

On October 21, 2020, we announced results from an independent laboratory validating internal animal studies showing the ability of Annamycin to target lung localized tumors. The relevance of targeting lung localized tumors is that it could provide a means to address a significant unmet need in cancer therapy. Specifically, there are limited treatment options for lung metastases resulting from a primary tumor, even though the primary tumor may have been treatable.

Successful Completion of Pre-IND Meeting with the FDA

On September 9, 2020, we announced that we successfully completed a Pre-IND Meeting with the FDA regarding the development plan for Annamycin, including the clinical study design and dosing strategy for the initial Phase 1b/2 protocol for soft tissue sarcomas with lung metastases. We submitted a proposed clinical protocol for FDA review entitled, "Phase 1b/2 Study of Liposomal Annamycin (Annamycin) in Subjects with Previously Treated Soft-Tissue Sarcomas with Pulmonary Metastases." The proposed study is an open-label, multicenter, single-arm, dose escalation and expansion study to evaluate single-agent Annamycin in up to 55 patients with soft tissue sarcoma (STS) with lung metastases for whom chemotherapy is considered appropriate. The primary objectives of the dose escalation phase are to evaluate the safety of Annamycin and identify the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) or the recommended Phase 2 dose (RP2D).

21

#### Table of Contents

#### WP1066

Positive Interim Results in Adult Glioblastoma Clinical Trial

On October 13, 2020, we announced additional preliminary data from the Phase 1 clinical trial of our immuno-stimulating STAT3 inhibitor, WP1066, in patients with GBM. This supports the progression of the trial to the fourth and final dose escalation cohort. Three patients have completed treatment in the third cohort at a dose level of 8 mg/kg with no adverse events related to WP1066 and the study will now proceed to the next higher dose of 16 mg/kg.

Positive Interim Results in Pediatric Brain Tumor Phase 1 Clinical Trial

On October 1, 2020, we announced preliminary first cohort data from the Emory University physician-sponsored clinical trial being conducted at the Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center at Children's Healthcare of Atlanta by Dr. Tobey MacDonald, Professor of Pediatrics and Director of the Pediatric Neuro-Oncology Program. He is studying the use of WP1066 (AflacST1901), a proprietary Moleculin drug candidate, as a potential treatment for childhood brain tumors. The first three patients in the trial received treatment at a dose level of 4 mg/kg with no adverse events related to WP1066 and the study will now proceed to the next higher dose of 6 mg/kg. One of these patients with DIPG, showed an apparent response to the treatment with both clinical improvement and radiologic reduction of tumor size. We caution that this is preliminary data and no conclusions should be drawn from this single event.

#### WP1122

Additional Collaboration on Drug Candidate Targeting COVID-19

On October 29, 2020, we announced we have entered into an agreement with the University of Campinas in São Paulo, Brazil to further enable collaboration into its research on the anti-viral capabilities of our drug candidate WP1122, specifically for the coronavirus. Recently the University of Campinas published independent research demonstrating that SARS-CoV-2 infection is supported by elevated glucose levels and that inhibition of glycolysis with 2-DG effectively eliminated viral load in vitro. WP1122 is a prodrug of 2-DG.

New Antiviral Drug Candidates Demonstrate In Vitro Activity Against HIV

On October 6, 2020, we announced preliminary new findings from our research collaboration with the Rega Institute in Leuven, Belgium, that demonstrates our drug candidates, WP1096 and WP1097, are showing significant in vitro activity in a range of infectious diseases. In addition to activity against SARS-CoV-2, antiviral activity has now been documented for HIV, Zika and Dengue Fever. WP1096 and its close analog, WP1097, are structurally slightly different agents within our WP1122 portfolio. While we are continuing our preclinical development work on WP1122, including in vivo testing for SARS-CoV-2, we have now expanded our infectious disease program to include these two molecules.

Significant In Vitro Activity Against COVID-19 Virus for New Antimetabolites

On September 29, 2020, we announced that our research team has discovered that a molecule within our portfolio of antimetabolites has displayed significant in vitro antiviral activity against SARS-CoV-2. Independent laboratory testing of the new drug candidate, called "WP1096," has now repeatedly demonstrated a therapeutic index of greater than 10, which is considered by our team to be an industry-standard commercialization threshold for in vitro performance of antiviral drugs.

In Vivo Testing Contracted for WP1122

On September 14, 2020, we announced that we have contracted with an independent laboratory to test the antiviral activity of our WP1122 portfolio in a COVID-19 animal model. We contracted with an independent laboratory for in vivo testing of our drug candidate, WP1122 and another candidate from the same portfolio development as a possible treatment for COVID-19. The testing will involve that laboratory's hamster model and SARS-COV-2. We have since postponed this testing to determine if a more preferred animal model can be obtained.

#### **Corporate**

Appointment of Elizabeth Cermak to Board of Directors

On October 5, 2020, we announced the appointment of Elizabeth (Liz) Cermak, an accomplished life sciences board director with deep pharmaceutical business development expertise, to our Board of Directors.

2020 Lincoln Park Equity Line

On November 11, 2020, we entered into a purchase agreement (the "2020 Purchase Agreement") and a registration rights agreement (the "2020 Registration Rights Agreement") with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"). Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park has agreed to purchase from us up to \$22.0 million of our common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time during the term of the 2020 Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, we filed with the SEC a registration statement to register the shares that have been or may be issued to Lincoln Park under the 2020 Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, at the time we signed the 2020 Purchase Agreement and the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, we issued 760,194 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park as consideration for its commitment to purchase shares of our common stock under the 2020 Purchase Agreement and may issue an additional 304,077 shares pro-rata when and if Lincoln Park purchases (at our discretion) the \$22.0 million aggregate commitment.

On November 12, 2020, we sold Lincoln Park at \$.707 per share 2,829,214 shares of common stock for aggregate consideration of \$2.0 million, and issued 27,643 in additional commitment shares.

On November 11, 2020, we terminated our purchase agreement dated October 4, 2018 with Lincoln Park.

22

#### Table of Contents

#### **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, data derived from our statement of operations (in thousands) and such changes in the periods are discussed below in approximate amounts:

## Moleculin Biotech, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

	 Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2020		2019		2020		2019
Revenues	\$ 	\$		\$		\$	_
Operating expenses:							
Research and development	4,435		2,785		10,971		7,816
General and administrative	1,659		1,672		5,122		4,748
Depreciation and amortization	57		51		154		147
Total operating expenses	6,151		4,508		16,247		12,711
Loss from operations	(6,151)		(4,508)		(16,247)		(12,711)
Other income (loss):							
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability	2,743		124		1,489		3,059
Other income, net	10		5		32		5
Interest income, net	3		5		10		10
Net loss before taxes	\$ (3,395)	\$	(4,374)	\$	(14,716)	\$	(9,637)

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2019

Research and Development Expense. Research and development (R&D) expense was \$4.4 million and \$2.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase of \$1.6 million is mainly related to increased clinical trial activity as described above, increased license fees and costs related to sponsored research agreements, costs related to manufacturing of additional drug product and two additional employees in R&D headcount.

**General and Administrative Expense.** General and administrative expense was \$1.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase in our directors' and officers' liability insurance was offset by a similar decrease in travel expenses.

Gain from Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. We recorded a net gain of \$2.7 million in the third quarter of 2020 as compared to a net gain of \$0.1 million in the third quarter of 2019, for the change in fair value on revaluation of our warrant liability associated with our warrants issued in conjunction with our stock offerings. We are required to revalue our liability-classified warrants at the time of each warrant exercise, if applicable, and at the end of each reporting period and reflect in the statement of operations a gain or loss from the change in fair value of the warrant in the period in which the change occurred. We calculated the fair value of the warrants outstanding using the Black-Scholes model. A gain results principally from a decline in our share price during the period and a loss results principally from an increase in our share price.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019

Research and Development Expense. R&D expense was \$11.0 million and \$7.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase of \$3.2 million is mainly related to increased clinical trial activity, increased license fees and costs related to sponsored research agreements, costs related to manufacturing of additional drug product and two additional employees in R&D headcount.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was \$5.1 million and \$4.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase of \$0.4 million was mainly attributable to increased payroll costs for an additional finance employee, increased stock-based compensation expense for annual employee stock, and increased costs for directors and officer's liability insurance being partially offset by reduced travel expenses.

Gain from Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. We recorded a net gain of \$1.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 as compared to a net gain of \$3.1 million in 2019, for the change in fair value on revaluation of our warrant liability associated with our warrants issued in conjunction with our stock offerings. We are required to revalue our liability-classified warrants at the time of each warrant exercise, if applicable, and at the end of each reporting period and reflect in the statement of operations a gain or loss from the change in fair value of the warrant in the period in which the change occurred. We calculated the fair value of the warrants outstanding using the Black-Scholes model. A gain results principally from a decline in our share price during the period and a loss results principally from an increase in our share price.

23

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

The following table sets forth our primary sources and uses of cash for the period indicated (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,					
		2020	2019			
Net cash used in operating activities	\$	(14,647) \$	(12,521)			
Net cash used in investing activities		(360)	(42)			
Net cash provided by financing activities		17,065	20,854			
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		2	(16)			
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	\$	2,060 \$	8,275			

As of September 30, 2020, there was \$0.3 million of cash on hand in Australia. We maintain a bank account in Australia and know of no related limitations impacting our liquidity in Australia.

#### Cash used in operating activities

Cash used in operations was \$14.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This \$2.1 million increase over the prior year period of \$12.5 million was primarily due to: 1) payments for developing, manufacturing and testing drug product as we prepared for clinical trials; 2) an increase in R&D employee and contractor headcount and associated payroll costs; 3) an increase in paid sponsored research and related expenses; and 4) an increase in license fees. These are all a reflection of the ongoing clinical and pre-clinical activity and the associated increase in general and administrative support for our three core drug technologies.

#### Cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was \$360,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to \$42,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase relates to mass spectrometer equipment purchased for the lab in 2020. The

equipment will be used to analyze uptake, metabolism, and tissue organ distribution of anti-cancer and anti-viral agents, which is critical for determination of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of the drugs.

Cash provided in financing activities

In July 2019, we entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (2019 ATM Agreement) with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (Oppenheimer). Pursuant to the terms of the 2019 ATM Agreement, we may offer and sell, from time to time, our common stock through Oppenheimer, acting as agent, through an "at the market offering" as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) (ATM Offering) promulgated under the Securities Act.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, pursuant to the 2019 ATM Agreement, we issued 8,472,090 shares of common stock at an average price of \$1.45 per share, resulting in net proceeds of \$11.9 million. We paid a commission to Oppenheimer equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of our common stock under the 2019 ATM Agreement. In the third quarter of 2020, the 2019 ATM Agreement expired and was terminated.

On November 11, 2020, we entered into a purchase agreement (the "2020 Purchase Agreement") and a registration rights agreement (the "2020 Registration Rights Agreement") with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"). Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park has agreed to purchase from us up to \$22.0 million of the Company's common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time during the term of the 2020 Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, we filed with the SEC a registration statement to register the shares that have been or may be issued to Lincoln Park under the 2020 Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, at the time we signed the 2020 Purchase Agreement and the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, we issued 760,194 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park as consideration for its commitment to purchase shares of our common stock under the 2020 Purchase Agreement and may issue an additional 304,077 shares pro-rata when and if Lincoln Park purchases (at our discretion) the \$22.0 million aggregate commitment.

On November 12, 2020, we sold Lincoln Park at \$.707 per share 2,829,214 shares of common stock for aggregate consideration of \$2.0 million, and issued 27,643 in additional commitment shares.

On November 11, 2020, we terminated our purchase agreement dated October 4, 2018 with Lincoln Park.

24

#### Table of Contents

In July 2020, we entered into a new At Market Issuance Sales Agreement with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (2020 ATM Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 ATM Agreement, the Company may sell from time to time through Oppenheimer shares of the Company's common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to \$15.0 million. Subsequent to the quarter ended September 30, 2020, we issued 700,339 shares of common stock at an average price of \$0.83 per share resulting in net proceeds of \$0.6 million in October 2020.

In February 2020, we entered into subscription agreements with institutional investors to purchase of 7,500,000 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 5,625,000 shares of common stock at a combined public offering price of \$0.80 per share and related warrant resulting in gross proceeds of \$6.0 million. Each warrant has an exercise price of \$1.05 per share and were exercisable six months from the date of issuance and will expire five years from the date they were first exercisable.

In April 2019, we completed subscription agreements with institutional investors to purchase an aggregate of 9,375,000 units at a public offering price of \$1.60 per unit in a registered direct offering. Each unit is comprised of one share of common stock and 0.5 of a warrant to purchase one share of common stock resulting in gross proceeds of \$15.0 million. Each warrant has an exercise price of \$1.75 per share and is exercisable immediately. The warrants will expire five years from the date of issuance.

Additionally, during the second quarter of 2019, 1,413,018 shares were issued due to the exercise of various warrants related to past public offerings. Gross proceeds received due to these exercises approximated \$1.6 million.

In March 2019, we completed an underwritten offering of 5,250,000 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 2,650,000 shares of common stock for gross proceeds of \$5.3 million. Additionally, we sold 605,367 shares of our common stock to Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC for \$0.9 million.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2020 plus the cash raised and committed subsequent to the quarter will be sufficient to fund our planned operations into the third quarter of 2021, without the issuance of additional equity for cash. Any such issuances should extend the funding of our planned operations beyond the third quarter of 2021. Such plans are subject to our stock price, market conditions, changes in planned expenses depending on clinical enrollment progress, the use of drug product or a combination thereof. Based on the Company's current assessment, the Company does not expect any material impact on its liquidity due to the worldwide spread of the COVID-19 virus.

We will not generate revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete development of, obtain regulatory approval for and begin to commercialize one or more of our product candidates, which we expect will take a number of years and is subject to significant uncertainty. Accordingly, we anticipate that we will need to raise additional capital to fund our future operations. Until such time that we can generate substantial revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operating activities through a combination of equity offerings and debt financings, and we may seek to raise additional capital through strategic collaborations. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such arrangements when needed on favorable terms, or at all, which would have a negative impact on our financial condition and could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our development programs or commercialization efforts or grant to others rights to develop or market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. Failure to receive additional funding could cause us to cease operations, in part or in full. Furthermore, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, which may cause dilution to our existing stockholders.

# Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

There have been no material changes to the Company's critical accounting policies and use of estimates from those disclosed in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. For a discussion of our critical accounting policies and use of estimates, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

# ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Not applicable to us, as we are a smaller reporting company.

25

Table of Contents

# ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

## **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that material information required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and that material information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Our CEO and CFO have evaluated these disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and have determined that such disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting discussed below.

In light of the material weakness described below, we performed additional procedures during the quarter and additional analysis and procedures post-closing to ensure our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, we believe that the condensed consolidated financial statements included in this report fairly present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

A material weakness is a control deficiency (within the meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard 1305) or combination of control deficiencies that result in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim condensed consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

During the last quarter of fiscal 2016, and as our operational activities increased, management determined that it does not have sufficient segregation of duties within its accounting functions, which is a basic internal control. Due to our size and nature, segregation of all conflicting duties may not always be possible and may not be economically feasible. However, to the extent possible, the initiation of transactions, the custody of assets and the recording of transactions should be performed by separate individuals. Management evaluated

the impact of our failure to maintain effective segregation of duties on our assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and has concluded that the control deficiency represents a material weakness.

# **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

With input and oversight from the Audit Committee, management is actively implementing a remediation plan to ensure that control deficiencies contributing to the material weakness are remediated such that these controls will operate effectively. We are taking, and expect to continue to take the following remediation actions which have facilitated the proper segregation of duties in the initiation of transactions, the recording of transactions, and the custody of assets:

- Implemented new information technology systems and policies and procedures;
- Management added additional accounting and IT personnel, including the use of qualified contractors;
- Developed formalized accounting procedures and clearly defined authorities;
- Engaged third party specialists to assess and document the design of our internal controls over financial reporting including the evaluation of proper segregation of duties, and to identify and evaluate any weaknesses in our information systems;
- Reported regularly to the audit committee on the progress and results of the remediation plan, including the identification, status and resolution of internal control deficiencies:

We believe that these actions, and the improvements we expect to achieve as a result, will effectively remediate the material weakness previously identified. However, the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting will not be considered remediated until the remediated controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of this material weakness will be completed in 2020.

We continuously seek to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our internal controls. There have been no changes, except for items described above, in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Our employees are working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic, but we do not believe that our adjustments to how we work have materially impacted our internal controls over financial reporting. We continue to monitor and assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our internal controls and strive to minimize the impact on our internal control design and operating effectiveness.

26

Table of Contents

# PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

## ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

# ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

For information regarding factors that could affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, refer to the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. Except as updated below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 as filed with the SEC.

Interim or preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

We have in the past, and intend in the future, to publicly disclose preliminary data from our clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a full analyses of all data related to the particular trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the preliminary results that we report may differ from future results of the same trials, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. We may also disclose interim

data from our clinical trials. Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects. Further, disclosure of preliminary or interim data by us could result in volatility in the price of shares of our common stock.

In addition, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the approvability of the particular drug candidate and our business in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular drug candidate or our business. If the interim data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to obtain approval for and commercialize our current or any our future drug candidate, our business, operating results, prospects or financial condition may be materially harmed.

The COVID-19 outbreak has delayed recruitment in our clinical trials and may continue or worsen, may affect the business of the FDA, EMA or other health authorities, which could result in delays in meetings related to our planned clinical trials and ultimately of reviews and approvals of our product candidates.

The COVID-19 outbreak has delayed recruitment in clinical trials and may continue or worsen. Additionally, it may delay the approvals of our product candidates due to its effect on the business of the FDA, EMA or other health authorities, which could result in delays in meetings related to planned clinical trials. The spread of COVID-19 may also slow potential enrollment of clinical trials and reduce the number of eligible patients for our clinical trials. The COVID-19 outbreak and mitigation measures also have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on global economic conditions which could have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition, including impairing our ability to raise capital when needed. The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak impacts our business and operations will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the virus and the actions to contain its impact. We have relationships with contract research organizations to conduct certain pre-clinical programs and testing and other services in Europe and those business operations are subject to potential business interruptions arising from protective measures that may be taken by the governmental or other agencies or governing bodies. In addition, certain of our collaborative relationships with research facilities and academic research institutions in the United States, Europe and in Australia may be materially and adversely impacted by protective measures taken by those institutions or federal and state agencies and governing bodies to restrict access to, or suspend operations at, such facilities. Such protective measures, including quarantines, travel restrictions and business shutdowns, may also have a material negative affect on our core operations.

If we breach any of the agreements under which we license patent rights or if we fail to meet certain development deadlines, pay certain fees including extension fees or exercise certain rights to technology, we could lose or fail to obtain license rights that are important to our business.

We license all of our technology from MD Anderson, and we must meet various payment and other obligations under our license agreements with MD Anderson. Our license agreements generally require that we meet various milestones by certain dates, each of which generally requires the payment of additional fees, including extension fees. To date, we have been able meet such milestones, pay certain fees or have been able to enter into extensions with MD Anderson related to such milestones. However, our failure to meet any financial or other obligations under our license agreements in a timely manner could result in the loss of our rights to our core technologies.

27

# **Table of Contents**

We are a party to a number of license agreements with MD Anderson under which we are granted rights to intellectual property that are critical to our business and we expect that we will need to enter into additional license agreements in the future with MD Anderson based on development work we are pursuing under a sponsored research agreement. With respect to inventions arising from our sponsored research agreement, MD Anderson has provided us with an option to negotiate a royalty-bearing, exclusive license to any invention or discovery that is conceived or reduced to practice. However, regardless of such option to negotiate, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified time frame or under terms that are acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to other parties, potentially blocking our ability to pursue a program based on that technology.

# ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

#### ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

## ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

## ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

On November 11, 2020, Moleculin Biotech, Inc. (the "Company") entered into a purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"), pursuant to which Lincoln Park has committed to purchase up to \$22.0 million of shares (the "Purchase Shares") of the Company's common stock, \$0.001 par value per share (the "Common Stock"). Concurrently with entering into the Purchase Agreement, the Company also entered into a registration rights agreement with Lincoln Park, pursuant to which it agreed to provide Lincoln Park with certain registration rights related to the shares issued under the Purchase Agreement (the "Registration Rights Agreement"). On the Commencement Date (as defined below), the Company sold Lincoln Park 2,829,214.00 shares of Common Stock for aggregate consideration of \$2,000,000.

Beginning on the Commencement Date (as defined below) and thereafter, the Company has the right, in its sole discretion, to present Lincoln Park with a purchase notice (a "Regular Purchase Notice"), directing Lincoln Park to purchase up to 500,000 Purchase Shares (the "Regular Purchase Amount") (a "Regular Purchase"). The Regular Purchase Amount may be increased to up to 750,000 shares if the closing sale price of the Common Stock is not below \$1.00 per share, and to up to 1,000,000 shares if the closing sale price of the Common Stock is not below \$1.50 per share. The Company and Lincoln Park may mutually agree to increase the Regular Purchase Amount.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase price per Purchase Share for each Regular Purchase (the "Purchase Price") equal to the lesser of:

- the lowest sale price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the purchase date of such shares; and
- the average of the three lowest closing sale prices for the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market during the ten consecutive business days ending on the business day immediately preceding the purchase date of such shares.

In addition, on any date on which the Company submits a Regular Purchase Notice for the maximum amount allowed for such a Regular Purchase to Lincoln Park, it also has the right, in its sole discretion, to present Lincoln Park with an accelerated purchase notice (an "Accelerated Purchase Notice"), directing Lincoln Park to purchase an amount of Purchase Shares (an "Accelerated Purchase"), which number of Purchase Shares will not exceed the lesser of (i) 300% of the number of shares purchased pursuant to such Regular Purchase and (ii) 30% of the total number of shares of the Common Stock traded on Nasdaq during all or a specified period on the applicable Accelerated Purchase date as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The purchase price per Purchase Share for each such Accelerated Purchase will be equal to 97% of the lesser of:

- the volume-weighted average price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market during the applicable measurement period on the applicable Accelerated Purchase date; and
  - the closing sale price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the applicable Accelerated Purchase date.

The Company may also direct Lincoln Park, on any business day on which an Accelerated Purchase has been completed and all of the shares to be purchased thereunder have been properly delivered to Lincoln Park in accordance with the Purchase Agreement, to make purchases of an additional amount of our Common Stock upon the same terms as an Accelerated Purchase, (an "Additional Accelerated Purchase").

The purchase price of Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases and the minimum closing sale price for a Regular Purchase will be adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction occurring during the business days used to compute the purchase price. The aggregate number of shares that the Company can sell to Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement may in no case exceed 12,486,666 shares (subject to adjustment as described above) of the Common Stock (which is equal to approximately 19.99% of the shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the execution of the Purchase Agreement) (the "Exchange Cap"), unless (i) stockholder approval is obtained to issue Purchase Shares above the Exchange Cap, in which case the Exchange Cap will no longer apply, or (ii) the average

price of all applicable sales of our Common Stock to Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement equals or exceeds the lower of (A) the official closing price of our Common Stock on Nasdaq on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the Purchase Agreement and (B) the average official closing price of our Common Stock on Nasdaq for the five consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the Purchase Agreement, adjusted such that the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement are exempt from the Exchange Cap limitation under applicable Nasdaq rules); provided that at no time may Lincoln Park (together with its affiliates) beneficially own more than 9.99% of the Company's issued and outstanding Common Stock. The Company issued 760,194 shares of Common Stock to Lincoln Park as a commitment fee in connection with entering into the Purchase Agreement and may issue an additional 304,077 shares pro-rata when and if Lincoln Park purchases (at the Company's discretion) the \$22,000,000 aggregate commitment (the "Commitment Shares" and together with the Purchase Shares, the "Shares").

28

# **Table of Contents**

The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants, closing conditions and indemnification and termination provisions. Sales under the Purchase Agreement may commence only after certain conditions have been satisfied (the date on which all requisite conditions have been satisfied, the "Commencement Date"), which conditions include the delivery to Lincoln Park of a prospectus supplement covering the shares of Common Stock issued or sold by the Company to Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement, the filing with The Nasdaq Stock Market of a Listing of Additional Shares notification with respect to the Shares and Nasdaq having raised no objection to the consummation of transactions contemplated under the Purchase Agreement, and the receipt by Lincoln Park of a customary opinion of counsel and other certificates and closing documents. We anticipate that such conditions will be satisfied on or around November 12, 2020.

The Purchase Agreement may be terminated by the Company at any time, at its sole discretion, without any cost or penalty, by giving one business day notice to Lincoln Park to terminate the Purchase Agreement. Lincoln Park has covenanted not to cause or engage in any manner whatsoever, any direct or indirect short selling or hedging of the Common Stock. Although the Company has agreed to reimburse Lincoln Park for a limited portion of the fees it incurred in connection with the Purchase Agreement, the Company did not pay any additional amounts to reimburse or otherwise compensate Lincoln Park in connection with the transaction, other than the issuance of the Commitment Shares.

There are no limitations on use of proceeds, financial or business covenants, restrictions on future financings (other than restrictions on the Company's ability to enter into variable rate transactions described in the Purchase Agreement), rights of first refusal, participation rights, penalties or liquidated damages in the Purchase Agreement. The Company may deliver Purchase Notices under the Purchase Agreement, subject to market conditions, and in light of its capital needs from time to time and under the limitations contained in the Purchase Agreement. Any proceeds that the Company receives under the Purchase Agreement are expected to be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.

On November 11, 2020, the Company terminated its purchase agreement dated October 4, 2018 with Lincoln Park.

# **ITEM 6. EXHIBITS**

Exhibit No.	Description
10.1	At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated July 17, 2020, by and among the Company and Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 1.1 of the Company's Form 8-K filed July 17, 2020)
10.2	Purchase Agreement (LPC-Moleculin Biotech, Inc.)
10.3	Registration Rights Agreement (LPC-Moleculin Biotech, Inc.)
31.1*	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*	Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2*	Certification of Principal Accounting and Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS*	Inline XBRL Instance Document (the Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
101.SCH*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
* Filed herewith.	

29

# Table of Contents

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

# MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.

/s/ Walter V. Klemp Date: November 12, 2020

Walter V. Klemp,

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November12, 2020 By: /s/ Jonathan P. Foster

Jonathan P. Foster,

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

#### PURCHASE AGREEMENT

**PURCHASE AGREEMENT** (the "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of November 11, 2020, by and between **MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.**, a Delaware corporation, (the "<u>Company</u>"), **LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC**, an Illinois limited liability company (the "<u>Investor</u>").

#### WHEREAS:

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company wishes to sell to the Investor, and the Investor wishes to buy from the Company, up to Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000) of the Company's common stock, \$0.001 par value per share (the "Common Stock"). The shares of Common Stock to be purchased hereunder (including, without limitation, the Initial Purchase Shares (as defined herein)) are referred to herein as the "Purchase Shares."

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Investor hereby agree as follows:

## 1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS.

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- (a) "Accelerated Purchase Date" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to <u>Section 2(b)</u> hereof, the Business Day immediately following the applicable Regular Purchase Date with respect to the corresponding Regular Purchase referred to in clause (i) of the second sentence of <u>Section 2(b)</u> hereof.
- (b) "Accelerated Purchase Minimum Price Threshold" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, the minimum per share price threshold set forth by the Company (if any) in the applicable Accelerated Purchase Notice.
- (c) "Accelerated Purchase Notice" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Investor directing the Investor to purchase the number of Purchase Shares specified by the Company therein as the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount to be purchased by the Investor (such specified Accelerated Purchase Share Amount subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 2(b) hereof as necessary to give effect to the Purchase Share amount limitations applicable to such Accelerated Purchase Share Amount as set forth in this Agreement) at the applicable Accelerated Purchase Price on the applicable Accelerated Purchase Date for such Accelerated Purchase.
- (d) "Accelerated Purchase Price" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, ninety-seven percent (97%) of the lower of (i) the VWAP for the period beginning at 9:30:01 a.m., Eastern time, on the applicable Accelerated Purchase Date, or such other time publicly announced by the Principal Market as the official open (or commencement) of trading on the Principal Market on such applicable Accelerated Purchase Date (the "Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time"), and ending at the earliest of (A) 4:00:00 p.m., Eastern time, on such applicable Accelerated Purchase Date, or such other time publicly announced by the Principal Market as the official close of trading on the Principal Market on such applicable Accelerated Purchase Date, (B) such time, from and after the Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time for such Accelerated Purchase, that the total number (or volume) of shares of Common Stock traded on the Principal Market has exceeded the applicable Accelerated Purchase Share Volume Maximum, and (C) such time, from and after the Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time for such Accelerated Purchase, that the Sale Price has fallen below the applicable Accelerated Purchase Minimum Price Threshold (if any) (such earliest of (i)(A), (i)(B) and (i)(C) above, the "Accelerated Purchase Termination Time"), and (ii) the Closing Sale Price of the Common Stock on such applicable Accelerated Purchase Date (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).

- (e) "Accelerated Purchase Share Amount" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, the number of Purchase Shares directed by the Company to be purchased by the Investor in an applicable Accelerated Purchase Notice, which number of Purchase Shares shall not exceed the lesser of (i) 300% of the number of Purchase Shares directed by the Company to be purchased by the Investor pursuant to the corresponding Regular Purchase Notice for the corresponding Regular Purchase referred to in clause (i)(A) of the second sentence of Section 2(b) hereof (such corresponding Regular Purchase being subject to the applicable Regular Purchase Share Limit) and (ii) an amount equal to (A) the Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage multiplied by (B) the total number (or volume) of shares of Common Stock traded on the Principal Market during the period on the applicable Accelerated Purchase Date beginning at the Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time for such Accelerated Purchase and ending at the Accelerated Purchase Termination Time for such Accelerated Purchase; provided, however, that that the parties may mutually agree to increase the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount applicable to any Accelerated Purchase.
- (f) "Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, thirty percent (30%).
- (g) "Accelerated Purchase Share Volume Maximum" means, with respect to an Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the number of Purchase Shares specified by the Company in the applicable Accelerated Purchase Notice as the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount to be purchased by the Investor in such Accelerated Purchase, divided by (ii) the Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage (to be appropriately adjusted for any applicable reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).
- (h) "Additional Accelerated Purchase Date" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, the Business Day (i) that is the Accelerated Purchase Date with respect to the corresponding Accelerated Purchase referred to in clause (i) of the proviso in the second sentence of Section 2(c) hereof and (ii) on which the Investor receives, prior to 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, on such Business Day, a valid Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice for such Additional Accelerated Purchase in accordance with this Agreement.
- (i) "<u>Additional Accelerated Purchase Minimum Price Threshold</u>" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to <u>Section 2(c)</u> hereof, the minimum per share price threshold (if any) set forth by the Company in the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice.
- (j) "Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Investor directing the Investor to purchase the number of Purchase Shares specified by the Company therein as the Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount to be purchased by the Investor (such specified Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 2(c) hereof as necessary to give effect to the Purchase Share amount limitations applicable to such Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount as set forth in this Agreement) at the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Price on the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Date for such Additional Accelerated Purchase.

- "Additional Accelerated Purchase Price" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, ninety-seven percent (97%) of the lower of (i) the VWAP for the period on the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, beginning at the latest of (A) the applicable Accelerated Purchase Termination Time with respect to the corresponding Accelerated Purchase referred to in clause (i) of the proviso in the second sentence of Section 2(c) hereof on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, (B) the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Termination Time with respect to the most recently completed prior Additional Accelerated Purchase on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, as applicable, and (C) the time at which all Purchase Shares subject to all prior Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases (as applicable), including, without limitation, those that have been effected on the same Business Day as the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Date with respect to which the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase relates, have theretofore been received by the Investor as DWAC Shares in accordance with this Agreement (such latest of (i)(A), (i)(B) and (i)(C) above, the "Additional Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time"), and ending at the earliest of (X) 4:00 p.m., Eastern time, on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, or such other time publicly announced by the Principal Market as the official close of trading on the Principal Market on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, (Y) such time, from and after the Additional Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time for such Additional Accelerated Purchase, that total number (or volume) of shares of Common Stock traded on the Principal Market has exceeded the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Volume Maximum, and (Z) such time, from and after the Additional Accelerated Purchase Commencement Time for such Additional Accelerated Purchase, that the Sale Price has fallen below the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Minimum Price Threshold (if any) (such earliest of (i)(X), (i)(Y) and (i)(Z) above, the "Additional Accelerated Purchase Termination Time"), and (ii) the Closing Sale Price of the Common Stock on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).
- (1) "Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, the number of Purchase Shares directed by the Company to be purchased by the Investor on an Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, which number of Purchase Shares shall not exceed the lesser of (i) 300% of the number of Purchase Shares directed by the Company to be purchased by the Investor pursuant to the corresponding Regular Purchase Notice for the corresponding Regular Purchase referred to in clause (i)(A) of the second sentence of Section 2(b) hereof (such corresponding Regular Purchase being subject to the applicable Regular Purchase Share Limit) and (ii) an amount equal to (A) the Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage multiplied by (B) the total number (or volume) of shares of Common Stock traded on the Principal Market during the period on the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Date beginning at the Additional Accelerated Purchase Termination Time for such Additional Accelerated Purchase; provided, however, that that the parties may mutually agree to increase the Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount applicable to any Additional Accelerated Purchase.
- (m) "Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, thirty percent (30%).
- (n) "Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Volume Maximum" means, with respect to an Additional Accelerated Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(c) hereof, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the number of Purchase Shares specified by the Company in the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice as the Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount to be purchased by the Investor in such Additional Accelerated Purchase, divided by (ii) the Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Percentage (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction).

- (o) "Alternate Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit" means, with respect to a Regular Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the maximum number of Purchase Shares which, taking into account the applicable per share Regular Purchase Price therefor calculated in accordance with this Agreement, would enable the Company to deliver to the Investor, on the applicable Regular Purchase Date for such Regular Purchase, a Regular Purchase Notice for a Purchase Amount equal to, or as closely approximating without exceeding, Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000).
- (p) "Available Amount" means, initially, Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000) in the aggregate, which amount shall be reduced by the Purchase Amount each time the Investor purchases Purchase Shares pursuant to Section 2 hereof.
- (q) "Average Price" means a price per Purchase Share (rounded to the nearest tenth of a cent) equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the aggregate gross purchase price paid by the Investor for all Purchase Shares purchased pursuant to this Agreement, by (ii) the aggregate number of Purchase Shares issued pursuant to this Agreement.
  - (r) "Bankruptey Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code, or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors.
- (s) "Base Price" means a price per Purchase Share equal to the sum of (i) the Signing Market Price and (ii) \$0.0661 (subject to adjustment for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction that occurs on or after the date of this Agreement).
  - (t) "Base Prospectus" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.
- (u) "Business Day" means any day on which the Principal Market is open for trading, including any day on which the Principal Market is open for trading for a period of time less than the customary time.
- (v) "Closing Sale Price" means, for any security as of any date, the last closing sale price for such security on the Principal Market as reported by the Principal Market.
- (w) "Confidential Information" means any information disclosed by either party to the other party, either directly or indirectly, in writing, orally or by inspection of tangible objects (including, without limitation, documents, prototypes, samples, plant and equipment), which is designated as "Confidential," "Proprietary" or some similar designation. Information communicated orally shall be considered Confidential Information if such information is confirmed in writing as being Confidential Information within ten (10) Business Days after the initial disclosure. Confidential Information may also include information disclosed to a disclosing party by third parties. Confidential Information shall not, however, include any information which (i) was publicly known and made generally available in the public domain prior to the time of disclosure by the disclosing party; (ii) becomes publicly known and made generally available after disclosure by the disclosing party to the receiving party through no action or inaction of the receiving party; (iii) is already in the possession of the receiving party without confidential restriction at the time of disclosure by the disclosing party as shown by the receiving party's files and records immediately prior to the time of disclosure; (iv) is obtained by the receiving party from a third party without a breach of such third party's obligations of confidentiality; (v) is independently developed by the receiving party without use of or reference to the disclosing party's Confidential Information, as shown by documents and other competent evidence in the receiving party's possession; or (vi) is required by law to be disclosed by the receiving party, provided that the receiving party gives the disclosing party prompt written notice of such requirement prior to such disclosure and assistance in obtaining an order protecting the information from public disclosure.

- (x) "Custodian" means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.
- (y) "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, or any successor performing substantially the same function for the Company.
- (z) "<u>DWAC Shares</u>" means shares of Common Stock that are (i) issued in electronic form, (ii) freely tradable and transferable and without restriction on resale and (iii) timely credited by the Company to the Investor's or its designee's specified Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian (DWAC) account with DTC under its Fast Automated Securities Transfer (FAST) Program, or any similar program hereafter adopted by DTC performing substantially the same function.
- (aa) "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (bb) "Fully Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit" means, with respect to any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction from and after the date of this Agreement, the Regular Purchase Share Limit (as defined in Section 2(a) hereof) in effect on the applicable date of determination, after giving effect to the full proportionate adjustment thereto made pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof for or in respect of such reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction.
  - (cc) "Initial Prospectus Supplement" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.
- (dd) "<u>Initial Purchase Price</u>" means, with respect to the Initial Purchase made pursuant to <u>Section 2(d)</u> hereof, the lower of: (i) the lowest Sale Price on the Business Day immediately preceding the Commencement Date and (ii) the arithmetic average of the Closing Sale Prices for the Common Stock during the ten (10) consecutive Business Days ending on the Business Day immediately preceding the Commencement Date (in each case, to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction that occurs on or after the date of this Agreement).
- (ee) "<u>Initial Purchase Shares</u>" means, with respect to the Initial Purchase made pursuant to <u>Section 2(d)</u> hereof, 2,829,214 Purchase Shares, representing the number of Purchase Shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) \$2,000,000 by (ii) the Initial Purchase Price (to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction that occurs on or after the date of this Agreement).

- (ii) the results of operations, assets, business or financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, other than any material adverse effect that resulted exclusively from (A) any change in the United States or foreign economies or securities or financial markets in general that does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (B) any change that generally affects the industry in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate that does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (C) any change arising in connection with earthquakes, hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions or any escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions existing as of the date hereof, (D) any action taken by the Investor, its affiliates or its or their successors and assigns with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (E) the effect of any change in applicable laws or accounting rules that does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (F) any change resulting from compliance with terms of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (iii) the Company's ability to perform in any material respect on a timely basis its obligations under any Transaction Document to be performed as of the date of determination.
- (gg) "<u>Maturity Date</u>" means the first day of the month immediately following the thirty-six (36) month anniversary of the Commencement Date.
- (hh) "Person" means an individual or entity including but not limited to any limited liability company, a partnership, a joint venture, a corporation, a trust, an unincorporated organization and a government or any department or agency thereof.
- (ii) "Principal Market" means The NASDAQ Capital Market (or any nationally recognized successor thereto); provided however, that in the event the Company's Common Stock is ever listed or traded on The NASDAQ Global Market, The NASDAQ Global Select Market, the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE American, the NYSE Arca or the OTC Bulletin Board (it being understood that as used herein "OTC Bulletin Board" shall also mean any successor or comparable market quotation system or exchange to the OTC Bulletin Board such as the OTCQX and OTCQB operated by the OTC Markets Group, Inc.), then the "Principal Market" shall mean such other market or exchange on which the Company's Common Stock is then listed or traded or any successor thereto.
  - (jj) "Prospectus" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.
  - (kk) "Prospectus Supplement" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.
- (ll) "<u>Purchase Amount</u>" means, with respect to the Initial Purchase, a Regular Purchase, an Accelerated Purchase or an Additional Accelerated Purchase made hereunder, as applicable, the portion of the Available Amount to be purchased by the Investor pursuant to <u>Section 2</u> hereof.
  - (mm) "Registration Statement" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Registration Rights Agreement.
- (nn) "Regular Purchase Date" means, with respect to a Regular Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the Business Day on which the Investor receives, after 4:00 p.m., Eastern time, but prior to 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, on such Business Day, a valid Regular Purchase Notice for such Regular Purchase in accordance with this Agreement.
- (oo) "Regular Purchase Notice" means, with respect to a Regular Purchase pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, an irrevocable written notice from the Company to the Investor directing the Investor to buy a specified number of Purchase Shares (subject to the Purchase Share limitations contained in Section 2(a) hereof) at the applicable Regular Purchase Price for such Regular Purchase in accordance with this Agreement.

- (pp) "Regular Purchase Price" means, with respect to a Regular Purchase made pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the lower of: (i) the lowest Sale Price on the applicable Regular Purchase Date for such Regular Purchase and (ii) the arithmetic average of the three (3) lowest Closing Sale Prices for the Common Stock during the ten (10) consecutive Business Days ending on the Business Day immediately preceding such Regular Purchase Date for such Regular Purchase (in each case, to be appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction that occurs on or after the date of this Agreement).
- "Regular Purchase Share Limit" means, with respect to a Regular Purchase pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, Five (qq) Hundred Thousand (500,000) Purchase Shares, subject to adjustment as set forth below; provided, however, that (i) the Regular Purchase Share Limit shall be increased to Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand (750,000) Purchase Shares, if the Closing Sale Price of the Common Stock on the applicable Regular Purchase Date is not below \$1.00, and (ii) the Regular Purchase Share Limit shall be increased to One Million (1,000,000) Purchase Shares, if the Closing Sale Price of the Common Stock on the applicable Regular Purchase Date is not below \$1.50 (all of which share and dollar amounts shall be appropriately proportionately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction; provided that if, after giving effect to the full proportionate adjustment to the Regular Purchase Share Limit therefor, the Fully Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit then in effect would preclude the Company from delivering to the Investor, on a Regular Purchase Date for a Regular Purchase hereunder, a Regular Purchase Notice for a Purchase Amount equal to or greater than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000) (which shall be determined by multiplying (X) the Fully Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit then in effect on such Regular Purchase Date, by (Y) the applicable Regular Purchase Price per Purchase Share for such Regular Purchase calculated in accordance with this Agreement), the Regular Purchase Share Limit shall equal the applicable Alternate Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit); provided, further, however, that the Investor's committed obligation under any single Regular Purchase, other than any Regular Purchase with respect to which an Alternate Adjusted Regular Purchase Share Limit shall apply, shall not exceed Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$2,500,000); provided that the parties may mutually agree to increase the Regular Purchase Share Limit applicable to any Regular Purchase on any Purchase Date above the forgoing amounts that the Investor is committed to purchase.
- (rr) "Sale Price" means any trade price for the shares of Common Stock on the Principal Market as reported by the Principal Market.
  - (ss) "SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
  - (tt) "Securities" means, collectively, the Purchase Shares and the Commitment Shares.
  - (uu) "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (vv) "Signing Market Price" means \$0.71, representing the average official closing price of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market (as reflected on Nasdaq.com) for the five (5) consecutive trading days ending on the date of this Agreement.
- (ww) "<u>Subsidiary</u>" means any Person the Company wholly-owns or controls, or in which the Company, directly or indirectly, owns a majority of the voting stock or similar voting interest, in each case that would be disclosable pursuant to Item 601(b)(21) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act.

- (xx) "<u>Transaction Documents</u>" means, collectively, this Agreement and the schedules and exhibits hereto, the Registration Rights Agreement and the schedules and exhibits thereto, and each of the other agreements, documents, certificates and instruments entered into or furnished by the parties hereto in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
- (yy) "<u>Transfer Agent</u>" means vStock Transfer, LLC, or such other Person who is then serving as the transfer agent for the Company in respect of the Common Stock.
- (zz) "<u>VWAP</u>" means in respect of an Accelerated Purchase Date and an Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, as applicable, the volume weighted average price of the Common Stock on the Principal Market, as reported on the Principal Market.

## 2. PURCHASE OF COMMON STOCK.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company has the right to sell to the Investor, and the Investor has the obligation to purchase from the Company, Purchase Shares as follows:

- (a) <u>Commencement of Regular Sales of Common Stock</u>. Upon the satisfaction of all of the conditions set forth in <u>Sections 7</u> and <u>8</u> hereof (the "<u>Commencement</u>" and the date of satisfaction of such conditions the "<u>Commencement Date</u>"), and thereafter, the Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to direct the Investor, by its delivery to the Investor of a Regular Purchase Notice from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, to purchase up to the Regular Purchase Share Limit at the applicable Regular Purchase Price on the applicable Regular Purchase Date (each such purchase a "<u>Regular Purchase</u>"). The Company may deliver a Regular Purchase Notice to the Investor as often as every Business Day, so long as all Purchase Shares subject to all prior Regular Purchases have theretofore been received by the Investor as DWAC Shares in accordance with this Agreement.
- (b) Accelerated Purchases. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, from and after the Commencement Date, in addition to purchases of Purchase Shares as described in Section 2(a) above, the Company shall also have the right, but not the obligation, to direct the Investor, by its delivery to the Investor of an Accelerated Purchase Notice from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, to purchase the applicable Accelerated Purchase Share Amount at the Accelerated Purchase Price on the Accelerated Purchase Date therefor in accordance with this Agreement (each such purchase, an "Accelerated Purchase"). The Company may deliver an Accelerated Purchase Notice to the Investor only (i) on a Regular Purchase Date on which the Company also properly submitted a Regular Purchase Notice for a Regular Purchase of not less than the Regular Purchase Share Limit then in effect, and (ii) if all Purchase Shares subject to all Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases prior to the Regular Purchase Date referred to in clause (i) hereof (as applicable) have theretofore been received by the Investor as DWAC Shares in accordance with this Agreement. Within one (1) Business Day after completion of each Accelerated Purchase Date for an Accelerated Purchase, the Investor will provide to the Company a written confirmation of such Accelerated Purchase setting forth the applicable Accelerated Purchase Share Amount and Accelerated Purchase Price for such Accelerated Purchase (each, an "Accelerated Purchase Confirmation").

- Additional Accelerated Purchases. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, from and after the Commencement Date, in addition to purchase of Purchase Shares as described in Section 2(a) and Section 2(b) above, the Company shall also have the right, but not the obligation, to direct the Investor, by its timely delivery to the Investor of an Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice on an Additional Accelerated Purchase Date in accordance with this Agreement, to purchase the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount at the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Price therefor in accordance with this Agreement (each such purchase, an "Additional Accelerated Purchase"). The Company may deliver multiple Additional Accelerated Purchase Notices to the Investor on an Additional Accelerated Purchase Date only (i) on a Business Day that is also the Accelerated Purchase Date for an Accelerated Purchase with respect to which each of the conditions set forth in the second sentence of Section 2(b) have been satisfied, and (ii) if all Purchase Shares subject to all prior Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases, including, without limitation, those that have been effected on the same Business Day as the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Date with respect to which the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase relates, have theretofore been received by the Investor as DWAC Shares in accordance with this Agreement. The Investor will provide to the Company a written confirmation of each Additional Accelerated Purchase on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date setting forth the applicable Additional Accelerated Purchase Share Amount and Additional Accelerated Purchase Price for each such Additional Accelerated Purchase on such Additional Accelerated Purchase Date in the Accelerated Purchase Confirmation for the related Accelerated Purchase as provided in the last sentence of Section 2(b).
- (d) <u>Initial Purchase</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, on the Commencement Date, in addition to purchases of Purchase Shares as described in <u>Section 2(a)</u>, <u>Section 2(b)</u> and <u>Section 2(c)</u> above, the Company shall issue and sell to the Investor and the Investor shall purchase from the Company the Initial Purchase Shares at the Initial Purchase Price per Purchase Share, for aggregate consideration of Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) (such one-time purchase, the "<u>Initial Purchase</u>").
- Excess Share Limitations. If the Company delivers any Regular Purchase Notice for a Purchase Amount in excess of the Regular Purchase Share Limit, such Regular Purchase Notice shall be void ab initio to the extent of the amount by which the number of Purchase Shares set forth in such Regular Purchase Notice exceeds the number of Purchase Shares which the Company is permitted to include in such Regular Purchase Notice in accordance herewith, and the Investor shall have no obligation to purchase such excess Purchase Shares in respect of such Regular Purchase Notice; provided, however, that the Investor shall remain obligated to purchase the number of Purchase Shares which the Company is permitted to include in such Regular Purchase Notice. If the Company delivers any Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice directing the Investor to purchase an amount of Purchase Shares that exceeds the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount or Additional Accelerated Purchase Amount, as applicable, that the Company is then permitted to include in such Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, respectively, such Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, as applicable, shall be void ab initio to the extent of the amount by which the number of Purchase Shares set forth in such Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, as applicable, exceeds the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount or Additional Accelerated Purchase Amount, respectively, that the Company is then permitted to include in such Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, respectively (which shall be confirmed in an Accelerated Purchase Confirmation), and the Investor shall have no obligation to purchase such excess Purchase Shares; provided, however, that the Investor shall remain obligated to purchase the Accelerated Purchase Share Amount or Additional Accelerated Purchase Amount, as applicable, which the Company is permitted to include in such Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, respectively.

Payment for Purchase Shares. For the Initial Purchase and for each Regular Purchase, the Investor shall pay to the Company an amount equal to the Purchase Amount with respect to such Regular Purchase as full payment for such Purchase Shares via wire transfer of immediately available funds on the same Business Day that the Investor receives such Purchase Shares, if such Purchase Shares are received by the Investor before 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, or, if such Purchase Shares are received by the Investor after 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, the next Business Day. For each Accelerated Purchase and each Additional Accelerated Purchase, the Investor shall pay to the Company an amount equal to the Purchase Amount with respect to such Accelerated Purchase and Additional Accelerated Purchase, respectively, as full payment for such Purchase Shares via wire transfer of immediately available funds on the second (2nd) Business Day following the date that the Investor receives such Purchase Shares. If the Company or the Transfer Agent shall fail for any reason or for no reason to electronically transfer any Purchase Shares as DWAC Shares in respect of the Initial Purchase, a Regular Purchase, an Accelerated Purchase or an Additional Accelerated Purchase (as applicable) within two (2) Business Days following the receipt by the Company of the aggregate Initial Purchase Price, Regular Purchase Price, Accelerated Purchase Price or Additional Accelerated Purchase Price (as applicable) therefor in compliance with this Section 2(f), and if on or after such Business Day the Investor purchases (in an open market transaction or otherwise) shares of Common Stock to deliver in satisfaction of a sale by the Investor of such Purchase Shares that the Investor anticipated receiving from the Company in respect of such Initial Purchase, Regular Purchase, Accelerated Purchase or Additional Accelerated Purchase, then the Company shall, within two (2) Business Days after the Investor's request, either (i) pay cash to the Investor in an amount equal to the Investor's total purchase price (including brokerage commissions, if any) for the shares of Common Stock so purchased (the "Cover Price"), at which point the Company's obligation to deliver such Purchase Shares as DWAC Shares shall terminate, or (ii) promptly honor its obligation to deliver to the Investor such Purchase Shares as DWAC Shares and pay cash to the Investor in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of the Cover Price over the total Purchase Amount paid by the Investor pursuant to this Agreement for all of the Purchase Shares to be purchased by the Investor in connection with such Initial Purchase, Regular Purchase, Accelerated Purchase or Additional Accelerated Purchase (as applicable). The Company shall not issue any fraction of a share of Common Stock upon the Initial Purchase, any Regular Purchase, any Accelerated Purchase or any Additional Accelerated Purchase. If the issuance would result in the issuance of a fraction of a share of Common Stock, the Company shall round such fraction of a share of Common Stock up or down to the nearest whole share. All payments made under this Agreement shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America or wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as the Company may from time to time designate by written notice in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Whenever any amount expressed to be due by the terms of this Agreement is due on any day that is not a Business Day, the same shall instead be due on the next succeeding day that is a Business Day.

# (g) Compliance with Rules of Principal Market.

(i) Exchange Cap. Subject to Section 2(g)(ii) below, the Company shall not issue or sell any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, and the Investor shall not purchase or acquire any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, to the extent that after giving effect thereto, the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that would be issued pursuant to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby would exceed 12,489,666 (representing 19.99% of the shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement), which number of shares shall be (i) reduced, on a share-for-share basis, by the number of shares of Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to any transaction or series of transactions that may be aggregated with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market and (ii) appropriately adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction that occurs after the date of this Agreement (such maximum number of shares, the "Exchange Cap"), unless and until the Company elects to solicit stockholder approval of the issuance of Common Stock as contemplated by this Agreement, and the stockholders of the Company have in fact approved the issuance of Common Stock as contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company may, but shall be under no obligation to, request its stockholders to approve the issuance of Common Stock as contemplated by this Agreement; provided, that if stockholder approval is not obtained in accordance with this Section 2(g)(i), the Exchange Cap shall be applicable for all purposes of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby at all times during the term of this Agreement (except as set forth in Section 2(g)(ii) below).

- (ii) At-Market Transaction. Notwithstanding Section 2(g)(i) above, the Exchange Cap shall not be applicable for any purposes of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, solely to the extent that (and only for so long as) the Average Price shall equal or exceed the Base Price (it being hereby acknowledged and agreed that the Exchange Cap shall be applicable for all purposes of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby at all other times during the term of this Agreement, unless the stockholder approval referred to in Section 2(g)(i) is obtained). The parties acknowledge and agree that the Signing Market Price used to determine the Base Price hereunder represents the lower of (i) the official closing price of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market (as reflected on Nasdaq.com) on the date of this Agreement and (ii) the average official closing price of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market (as reflected on Nasdaq.com) for the five (5) consecutive trading days ending on the date of this Agreement.
- (iii) <u>General</u>. The Company shall not issue any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if such issuance would reasonably be expected to result in (A) a violation of the Securities Act or (B) a breach of the rules and regulations of The Nasdaq Stock Market. The provisions of this <u>Section 2(g)</u> shall be implemented in a manner otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms hereof only if necessary to ensure compliance with the Securities Act and the rules and regulations of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
- Beneficial Ownership Limitation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company shall not issue or sell, and the Investor shall not purchase or acquire, any shares of Common Stock under this Agreement which, when aggregated with all other shares of Common Stock then beneficially owned by the Investor and its affiliates (as calculated pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13d-3 promulgated thereunder), would result in the beneficial ownership by the Investor of more than 9.99% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock (the "Beneficial Ownership Limitation"). Upon the written or oral request of the Investor, the Company shall promptly (but not later than 24 hours) confirm orally or in writing to the Investor the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding. The Investor, upon written notice to the Company, may increase or decrease the Beneficial Ownership Limitation provisions of this Section 2(g), provided that the Beneficial Ownership Limitation in no event exceeds 9.99% of the number of shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement and the provisions of this Section 2(g) shall continue to apply. Any increase in the Beneficial Ownership Limitation will not be effective until the 61st day after such written notice is delivered to the Company. The provisions of this paragraph shall be construed and implemented in a manner otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of this Section 2(g) to correct this paragraph (or any portion hereof) which may be defective or inconsistent with the intended Beneficial Ownership Limitation herein contained or to make changes or supplements necessary or desirable to properly give effect to such limitation. The Investor and the Company shall each cooperate in good faith in the determinations required hereby and the application hereof. The Investor's written certification to the Company of the applicability of the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, and the resulting effect thereof hereunder at any time, shall be conclusive with respect to the applicability thereof and such result absent manifest error.

# 3. INVESTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

The Investor represents and warrants to the Company that as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date:

- (a) <u>Organization, Authority</u>. Investor is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, with the requisite power and authority to enter into and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder.
- (b) <u>Accredited Investor Status</u>. The Investor is an "accredited investor" as that term is defined in Rule 501(a)(3) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act.
- (c) Information. The Investor understands that its investment in the Securities involves a high degree of risk. The Investor (i) is able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Securities including a total loss thereof, (ii) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the proposed investment in the Securities and (iii) has had an opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the officers of the Company concerning the financial condition and business of the Company and others matters related to an investment in the Securities. Neither such inquiries nor any other due diligence investigations conducted by the Investor or its representatives shall modify, amend or affect the Investor's right to rely on the Company's representations and warranties contained in Section 4 below. The Investor has sought such accounting, legal and tax advice from its own independent advisors as it has considered necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to its acquisition of the Securities and is not relying on any accounting, legal, tax or other advice from the Company or its officers, employees, representatives or advisors. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that the Company neither makes nor has made any representations or warranties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby other than those specifically set forth in Section 4 hereof.
- (e) <u>No Governmental Review</u>. The Investor understands that no U.S. federal or state agency or any other government or governmental agency has passed on or made any recommendation or endorsement of the Securities or the fairness or suitability of an investment in the Securities nor have such authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of the Securities.
- (f) <u>Validity; Enforcement</u>. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered on behalf of the Investor and is a valid and binding agreement of the Investor enforceable against the Investor in accordance with its terms, subject as to enforceability to general principles of equity and to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation and other similar laws relating to, or affecting generally, the enforcement of applicable creditors' rights and remedies.
  - (g) <u>Residency</u>. The Investor is a resident of the State of Illinois.
- (h) No Short Selling. The Investor represents and warrants to the Company that at no time prior to the date of this Agreement has any of the Investor, its agents, representatives or affiliates engaged in or effected, in any manner whatsoever, directly or indirectly, any (i) "short sale" (as such term is defined in Rule 200 of Regulation SHO of the Exchange Act) of the Common Stock or (ii) hedging transaction, which establishes a net short position with respect to the Common Stock.

# 4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY.

The Company represents and warrants to the Investor that as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date:

- (a) Organization and Qualification. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries is an entity duly incorporated or otherwise organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, with the requisite corporate power and authority to own and use its properties and assets and to carry on its business as currently conducted. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation or default of any of the provisions of its respective certificate or articles of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or charter documents. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified to conduct business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or other entity in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or property owned by it makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing, as the case may be, could not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect and no proceeding has been instituted in any such jurisdiction revoking, limiting or curtailing or seeking to revoke, limit or curtail such power and authority or qualification. The Company has no Subsidiaries except Moleculin Australia Pty. Ltd., which was formed in June 2018.
- Authorization; Enforcement; Validity. (i) The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents, and to issue the Securities in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof, (ii) the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the Company and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including without limitation, the issuance of the Commitment Shares (as defined below in Section 5(e)) and the reservation for issuance and the issuance of the Purchase Shares issuable under this Agreement, have been duly authorized by the Company's Board of Directors and no further consent or authorization is required by the Company, its Board of Directors or its stockholders (except as provided in this Agreement), (iii) each of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement has been, and each other Transaction Document shall be on the Commencement Date, duly executed and delivered by the Company and (iv) each of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement constitutes, and each other Transaction Document upon its execution on behalf of the Company. shall constitute, the valid and binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by general principles of equity or applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation or similar laws relating to, or affecting generally, the enforcement of creditors' rights and remedies. The Board of Directors of the Company has approved the resolutions (the "Signing Resolutions") substantially in the form as set forth as **Exhibit B** attached hereto to authorize this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Signing Resolutions are valid, in full force and effect and have not been modified or supplemented in any respect. The Company has delivered to the Investor a true and correct copy of minutes of a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company at which the Signing Resolutions were duly adopted by the Board of Directors or a unanimous written consent adopting the Signing Resolutions executed by all of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company. Except as set forth in this Agreement, no other approvals or consents of the Company's Board of Directors, any authorized committee thereof, or stockholders (except as provided in this Agreement) is necessary under applicable laws and the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws to authorize the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents or any of the transactions contemplated thereby, including, but not limited to, the issuance of the Commitment Shares and the issuance of the Purchase Shares.

- Capitalization. As of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company is set forth in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents (as defined below), (i) no shares of the Company's capital stock are subject to preemptive rights or any other similar rights or any liens or encumbrances suffered or permitted by the Company, (ii) there are no outstanding debt securities, (iii) there are no outstanding options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities or rights convertible into, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may become bound to issue additional shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or options, warrants, scrip, rights to subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities or rights convertible into, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iv) there are no agreements or arrangements under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is obligated to register the sale of any of their securities under the Securities Act (except the Registration Rights Agreement), (v) there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which contain any redemption or similar provisions, and there are no contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may become bound to redeem a security of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (vi) there are no securities or instruments containing anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Securities as described in this Agreement and (vii) the Company does not have any stock appreciation rights or "phantom stock" plans or agreements or any similar plan or agreement. The Company has furnished to the Investor true and correct copies of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and as in effect on the date hereof (the "Certificate of Incorporation"), and the Company's Bylaws, as amended and as in effect on the date hereof (the "Bylaws"), and summaries of the material terms of all securities convertible into or exercisable for Common Stock, if any, and copies of any documents containing the material rights of the holders thereof in respect thereto that are not disclosed in the SEC Documents.
- (d) <u>Issuance of Securities</u>. Upon issuance and payment therefor in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Purchase Shares shall be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free from all taxes, liens, charges, restrictions, rights of first refusal and preemptive rights with respect to the issue thereof, with the holders being entitled to all rights accorded to a holder of Common Stock. Upon issuance in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Commitment Shares (as defined below in <u>Section 5(e)</u>) shall be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free from all taxes, liens, charges, restrictions, rights of first refusal and preemptive rights with respect to the issue thereof, with the holders being entitled to all rights accorded to a holder of Common Stock. 11,422,395 shares of Common Stock (subject to equitable adjustment for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction) have been duly authorized and reserved for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction) have been duly authorized and reserved for issuance as Additional Commitment Shares in accordance with this Agreement.

- No Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including, without limitation, the reservation for issuance and issuance of the Purchase Shares and the Commitment Shares) will not (i) result in a violation of the Certificate of Incorporation, any Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of any outstanding series of preferred stock of the Company or the Bylaws or (ii) conflict with, or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, any agreement, indenture or instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or result in a violation of any law, rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree (including federal and state securities laws and regulations and the rules and regulations of the Principal Market applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or by which any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or affected, except in the case of conflicts, defaults, terminations, amendments, accelerations, cancellations and violations under clause (ii), which could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries is in violation of any term of or in default under its Certificate of Incorporation, any Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of any outstanding series of preferred stock of the Company or Bylaws or their organizational charter or bylaws, respectively. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any term of or is in default under any material contract, agreement, mortgage, indebtedness, indenture, instrument, judgment, decree or order or any statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Company or its Subsidiaries, except for possible conflicts, defaults, terminations or amendments that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The business of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not being conducted, and shall not be conducted, in violation of any law, ordinance or regulation of any governmental entity, except for possible violations, the sanctions for which either individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as specifically contemplated by this Agreement and as required under the Securities Act or applicable state securities laws and the rules and regulations of the Principal Market, the Company is not required to obtain any consent, authorization or order of, or make any filing or registration with, any court or governmental agency or any regulatory or self-regulatory agency in order for it to execute, deliver or perform any of its obligations under or contemplated by the Transaction Documents in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof. Except as set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, all consents, authorizations, orders, filings and registrations which the Company is required to obtain pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be obtained or effected on or prior to the Commencement Date. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, since one year prior to the date hereof, the Company has not received nor delivered any notices or correspondence from or to the Principal Market, other than notices with respect to listing of additional shares of Common Stock and other routine correspondence. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, the Principal Market has not commenced any delisting proceedings against the Company.
- SEC Documents; Financial Statements. The Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof, for the twelve months preceding the date hereof (or such shorter period as the Company was required by law or regulation to file such material) (the foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by reference therein, being collectively referred to herein as the "SEC Documents") on a timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time of filing and has filed any such SEC Documents prior to the expiration of any such extension. As of their respective dates, the SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable. None of the SEC Documents, when filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The financial statements of the Company included in the SEC Documents comply in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as in effect at the time of filing. Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved ("GAAP"), except as may be otherwise specified in such financial statements or the notes thereto and except that unaudited financial statements may not contain all footnotes required by GAAP, and fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of and for the dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended, subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal, immaterial, year-end audit adjustments. Except as set forth in the SEC Documents, other than SEC comment letters relating to the Company's filings (of which not comments are "open"), the Company has received no notices or correspondence from the SEC for the one year preceding the date hereof. The SEC has not commenced any enforcement proceedings against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

- Absence of Certain Changes. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, since December 31, 2019, (i) there has been no material adverse change in the business, properties, operations, financial condition or results of operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries, (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries, considered as one entity, have not incurred any material liability or obligation, indirect, direct or contingent, including without limitation any losses or interference with its business from fire, explosion, flood, earthquakes, accident or other calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any strike, labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or decree, that are material, individually or in the aggregate, to the Company and its Subsidiaries, considered as one entity, or has entered into any transactions not in the ordinary course of business; (iii) there has not been any material disruption, material delay or other material adverse change in (A) the development of any of the Company's product candidates, (B) the anticipated timeline of pre-clinical or clinical trials to support the development of any of the Company's product candidates, or (C) the recruitment of candidates for clinical trials to support the development of any of the Company's product candidates, in each case as a result of the recent outbreak of COVID-19, or as a result of any measures intended to contain the outbreak of COVID-19 imposed by any federal, state, local or foreign government or government agency in any country or region in which the Company, or any of its agents, consultants, advisors or vendors, has assets or properties or conducts business, including, without limitation, any limitations, curtailments, suspensions or closures of businesses, business offices or establishments, schools, properties and other public areas due to quarantines, curfews, travel restrictions, workplace controls, "stay at home" orders, social distancing requirements or guidelines or other public gathering restrictions or limitations; and (iv) there has not been any material decrease in the capital stock or any material increase in any short-term or long-term indebtedness of the Company or its Subsidiaries and there has been no dividend or distribution of any kind declared, paid or made by the Company or, except for dividends paid to the Company or other Subsidiaries, by any of the Company's Subsidiaries on any class of capital stock, or any repurchase or redemption by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any class of capital stock. The Company has not taken any steps, and does not currently expect to take any steps, to seek protection pursuant to any Bankruptcy Law nor does the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have any knowledge or reason to believe that its creditors intend to initiate involuntary bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. The Company is financially solvent and is generally able to pay its debts as they become due.
- (h) <u>Absence of Litigation</u>. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, threatened against or affecting the Company, the Common Stock or any of the Company's or its Subsidiaries' officers or directors in their capacities as such, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (i) Acknowledgment Regarding Investor's Status. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Investor is acting solely in the capacity of arm's length purchaser with respect to the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The Company further acknowledges that the Investor is not acting as a financial advisor or fiduciary of the Company (or in any similar capacity) with respect to the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and any advice given by the Investor or any of its representatives or agents in connection with the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby is merely incidental to the Investor's purchase of the Securities. The Company further represents to the Investor that the Company's decision to enter into the Transaction Documents has been based solely on the independent evaluation by the Company and its representatives and advisors.

- (j) No Integrated Offering. Neither the Company, nor any of its affiliates, nor any Person acting on its or their behalf has, directly or indirectly, made any offers or sales of any security or solicited any offers to buy any security, under circumstances that would cause this offering of the Securities to be integrated with prior offerings by the Company in a manner that would require stockholder approval pursuant to the rules of the Principal Market on which any of the securities of the Company are listed or designated. The issuance and sale of the Securities hereunder does not contravene the rules and regulations of the Principal Market.
- (k) Intellectual Property Rights. The Company and its Subsidiaries own or possess adequate rights or licenses to use all material trademarks, trade names, service marks, service mark registrations, service names, patents, patent rights, copyrights, inventions, licenses, approvals, governmental authorizations, trade secrets and rights necessary to conduct their respective businesses as now conducted. Except as set forth in the SEC Documents, none of the Company's material trademarks, trade names, service marks, service mark registrations, service names, patents, patent rights, copyrights, inventions, licenses, approvals, government authorizations, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights have expired or terminated, or, by the terms and conditions thereof, could expire or terminate within two years from the date of this Agreement. The Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any knowledge of any infringement by the Company or its Subsidiaries of any material trademark, trade name rights, patents, patent rights, copyrights, inventions, licenses, service names, service marks, service mark registrations, trade secret or other similar rights of others, or of any such development of similar or identical trade secrets or technical information by others, and there is no claim, action or proceeding being made or brought against, or to the Company's knowledge, being threatened against, the Company or its Subsidiaries regarding trademark, trade name, patents, patent rights, invention, copyright, license, service names, service marks, service mark registrations, trade secret or other infringement, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (l) Environmental Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries (i) are in compliance with any and all applicable foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and safety, the environment or hazardous or toxic substances or wastes, pollutants or contaminants ("Environmental Laws"), (ii) have received all permits, licenses or other approvals required of them under applicable Environmental Laws to conduct their respective businesses and (iii) are in compliance with all terms and conditions of any such permit, license or approval, except where, in each of the three foregoing clauses, the failure to so comply could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
- (m) <u>Title</u>. Except as set forth in the SEC Documents, the Company and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property owned by them and good and marketable title in all personal property owned by them that is material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case free and clear of all liens, encumbrances and defects ("<u>Liens</u>") and, except for Liens as do not materially affect the value of such property and do not materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Company and its Subsidiaries and Liens for the payment of federal, state or other taxes, the payment of which is neither delinquent nor subject to penalties. Any real property and facilities held under lease by the Company and its Subsidiaries are held by them under valid, subsisting and enforceable leases with which the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with such exceptions as are not material and do not interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property and buildings by the Company and its Subsidiaries.
- (n) <u>Insurance</u>. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are insured by insurers of recognized financial responsibility against such losses and risks and in such amounts as management of the Company believes to be prudent and customary in the businesses in which the Company and its Subsidiaries are engaged. Neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary has been refused any insurance coverage sought or applied for and neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary has any reason to believe that it will not be able to renew its existing insurance coverage as and when such coverage expires or to obtain similar coverage from similar insurers as may be necessary to continue its business at a cost that would not materially and adversely affect the condition, financial or otherwise, or the earnings, business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

- (o) <u>Regulatory Permits</u>. The Company and its Subsidiaries possess all material certificates, authorizations and permits issued by the appropriate federal, state or foreign regulatory authorities necessary to conduct their respective businesses, and neither the Company nor any such Subsidiary has received any notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any such certificate, authorization or permit.
- (p) Tax Status. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has made or filed all federal and state income and all other material tax returns, reports and declarations required by any jurisdiction to which it is subject (unless and only to the extent that the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has set aside on its books provisions reasonably adequate for the payment of all unpaid and unreported taxes) and has paid all taxes and other governmental assessments and charges that are material in amount, shown or determined to be due on such returns, reports and declarations, except those being contested in good faith and has set aside on its books provision reasonably adequate for the payment of all taxes for periods subsequent to the periods to which such returns, reports or declarations apply. There are no unpaid taxes in any material amount claimed to be due by the taxing authority of any jurisdiction, and the officers of the Company know of no basis for any such claim.
- (q) Transactions With Affiliates. Except as set forth in the SEC Documents, none of the officers or directors of the Company and, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the employees of the Company is presently a party to any transaction with the Company or any Subsidiary (other than for services as employees, officers and directors), including any contract, agreement or other arrangement providing for the furnishing of services to or by, providing for rental of real or personal property to or from, or otherwise requiring payments to or from any officer, director or such employee or, to the knowledge of the Company, any entity in which any officer, director, or any such employee has a substantial interest or is an officer, director, trustee or partner, in each case in excess of \$120,000 other than for (i) payment of salary or consulting fees for services rendered, (ii) reimbursement for expenses incurred on behalf of the Company and (iii) other employee benefits, including stock option agreements under any stock option plan of the Company.
- (r) Application of Takeover Protections. The Company and its board of directors have taken or will take prior to the Commencement Date all necessary action, if any, in order to render inapplicable any control share acquisition, business combination, poison pill (including any distribution under a rights agreement) or other similar anti-takeover provision under the Certificate of Incorporation or the laws of the state of its incorporation which is or could become applicable to the Investor as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without limitation, the Company's issuance of the Securities and the Investor's ownership of the Securities.
- (s) <u>Disclosure</u>. Except with respect to the material terms and conditions of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents that will be timely publicly disclosed by the Company, the Company confirms that neither it nor any other Person acting on its behalf has provided the Investor or its agents or counsel with any information that it believes constitutes or might constitute material, non-public information which is not otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement or the SEC Documents. The Company understands and confirms that the Investor will rely on the foregoing representation in effecting purchases and sales of securities of the Company. All of the disclosure furnished by or on behalf of the Company to the Investor regarding the Company, its business and the transactions contemplated hereby is true and correct and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The press releases disseminated by the Company during the twelve months preceding the date of this Agreement taken as a whole do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made and when made, not misleading. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Investor neither makes nor has made any representations or warranties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby other than those specifically set forth in <u>Section 3</u> hereof.

- (t) Foreign Corrupt Practices. Neither the Company, nor to the knowledge of the Company, any agent or other Person acting on behalf of the Company, has (i) directly or indirectly, used any funds for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses related to foreign or domestic political activity, (ii) made any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees or to any foreign or domestic political parties or campaigns from corporate funds, (iii) failed to disclose fully any contribution made by the Company (or made by any Person acting on its behalf of which the Company is aware) which is in violation of law, or (iv) violated in any material respect any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.
- Registration Statement. The Company has prepared and filed the Registration Statement with the SEC in accordance with the Securities Act. The Registration Statement was declared effective by order of the SEC on April 9, 2020. The Registration Statement is effective pursuant to the Securities Act and available for the issuance of the Securities thereunder, and the Company has not received any written notice that the SEC has issued or intends to issue a stop order or other similar order with respect to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or that the SEC otherwise has (i) suspended or withdrawn the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or (ii) issued any order preventing or suspending the use of the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, in either case, either temporarily or permanently or intends or has threatened in writing to do so. The "Plan of Distribution" section of the Prospectus permits the issuance of the Securities under the terms of this Agreement. At the time the Registration Statement and any amendments thereto became effective, at the date of this Agreement and at each deemed effective date thereof pursuant to Rule 430B(f)(2) of the Securities Act, the Registration Statement and any amendments thereto complied and will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and the Base Prospectus and any Prospectus Supplement thereto, at the time such Base Prospectus or such Prospectus Supplement thereto was issued and on the Commencement Date, complied and will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and did not and will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that this representation and warranty does not apply to statements in or omissions from any Prospectus Supplement made in reliance upon and in conformity with information relating to the Investor furnished to the Company in writing by or on behalf of the Investor expressly for use therein. The Company meets all of the requirements for the use of a registration statement on Form S-3 pursuant to the Securities Act for the offering and sale of the Securities contemplated by this Agreement in reliance on General Instruction I.B.1. of Form S-3, and the SEC has not notified the Company of any objection to the use of the form of the Registration Statement pursuant to Rule 401(g)(1) of the Securities Act. The Company hereby confirms that the issuance of the Securities to the Investor pursuant to this Agreement would not result in non-compliance with the Securities Act or any of the General Instructions to Form S-3. The Registration Statement, as of its effective date, meets the requirements set forth in Rule 415(a)(1)(x) pursuant to the Securities Act. At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) of the Securities Act) relating to any of the Securities, the Company was not, and as of the date of this Agreement the Company is not, an Ineligible Issuer (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act). The Company has not distributed any offering material in connection with the offering and sale of any of the Securities, and, until the Investor does not hold any of the Securities, shall not distribute any offering material in connection with the offering and sale of any of the Securities, to or by the Investor, in each case, other than the Registration Statement or any amendment thereto, the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement required pursuant to applicable law or the Transaction Documents. The Company has not made and shall not make an offer relating to the Securities that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

- (v) <u>DTC Eligibility</u>. The Company, through the Transfer Agent, currently participates in the DTC Fast Automated Securities Transfer (FAST) Program and the Common Stock can be transferred electronically to third parties via the DTC Fast Automated Securities Transfer (FAST) Program.
- (w) <u>Sarbanes-Oxley</u>. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with all provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, which are applicable to it as of the date hereof.
- (x) <u>Certain Fees</u>. No brokerage or finder's fees or commissions are or will be payable by the Company to any broker, financial advisor or consultant, finder, placement agent, investment banker, bank or other Person with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents. The Investor shall have no obligation with respect to any fees or with respect to any claims made by or on behalf of other Persons for fees of a type contemplated in this  $\underline{\text{Section 4}(x)}$  that may be due in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.
- (y) <u>Investment Company</u>. The Company is not, and immediately after receipt of payment for the Securities will not be, an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- (z) <u>Listing and Maintenance Requirements</u>. The Common Stock is registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and the Company has taken no action designed to, or which to its knowledge is likely to have the effect of, terminating the registration of the Common Stock pursuant to the Exchange Act nor has the Company received any notification that the SEC is currently contemplating terminating such registration. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, the Company has not, in the twelve (12) months preceding the date hereof, received any notice from any Person to the effect that the Company is not in compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements of the Principal Market. Except as disclosed in the SEC Documents, the Company is in compliance with all such listing and maintenance requirements.
- (aa) <u>Accountants</u>. The Company's accountants are set forth in the SEC Documents and, to the knowledge of the Company, such accountants are an independent registered public accounting firm as required by the Securities Act.
- (bb) No Market Manipulation. The Company has not, and to its knowledge no Person acting on its behalf has, (i) taken, directly or indirectly, any action designed to cause or to result in the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of any of the Securities, (ii) sold, bid for, purchased, or, paid any compensation for soliciting purchases of, any of the Securities, or (iii) paid or agreed to pay to any Person any compensation for soliciting another to purchase any other securities of the Company.
- (cc) <u>Bank Holding Company Act.</u> Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates is subject to the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the "<u>BHCA</u>") and to regulation by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "<u>Federal Reserve</u>"). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates owns or controls, directly or indirectly, five percent (5%) or more of the outstanding shares of any class of voting securities or twenty-five percent or more of the total equity of a bank or any entity that is subject to the BHCA and to regulation by the Federal Reserve. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of a bank or any entity that is subject to the BHCA and to regulation by the Federal Reserve.

- (dd) Money Laundering. The operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial record-keeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, applicable money laundering statutes and applicable rules and regulations thereunder (collectively, the "Money Laundering Laws"), and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to the Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any Subsidiary, threatened.
- (ee) Information Technology. The Company's and the Subsidiaries' information technology assets and equipment, computers, systems, networks, hardware, software, websites, applications, and databases (collectively, "IT Systems") operate and perform in all material respects as required in connection with the operation of the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries as currently conducted. The Company, and the Subsidiaries maintain commercially reasonable controls, policies, procedures, and safeguards to maintain and protect their material confidential information and the integrity, continuous operation, redundancy and security of all IT Systems and all personal, personally identifiable, sensitive, confidential or regulated data ("Personal Data") processed and stored thereon, and to the knowledge of the Company, there have been no breaches, incidents, violations, outages, compromises or unauthorized uses of or accesses to same, except for those that have been remedied without material cost or liability or the duty to notify any other person, nor any incidents under internal review or investigations relating to the same. The Company and the Subsidiaries are presently in compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws or statutes and all applicable judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, internal policies and contractual obligations relating to the privacy and security of IT Systems and Personal Data and to the protection of such IT Systems and Personal Data from unauthorized use, access, misappropriation or modification, except for any such noncompliance that would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (ff) Shell Company Status. The Company is not currently, and has never been, an issuer identified in Rule 144(i)(1) under the Securities Act.

## 5. COVENANTS.

(a) Filing of Quarterly Report and Initial Prospectus Supplement. The Company agrees that it shall, on the Business Day immediately following the date of this Agreement, file with the SEC a quarterly report on Form 10-Q, which shall include a description of the material terms and conditions of the Transaction Documents (the "Quarterly Report"). The Company further agrees that it shall, on the date hereof, file with the SEC the Initial Prospectus Supplement pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, in the form agreed upon by the Investor prior to such filing, specifically relating to the transactions contemplated by, and describing the material terms and conditions of, the Transaction Documents, containing information previously omitted at the time of effectiveness of the Registration Statement in reliance on Rule 430B under the Securities Act, and disclosing all information relating to the transactions contemplated hereby required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as of the date of the Initial Prospectus Supplement, including, without limitation, information required to be disclosed in the section captioned "Plan of Distribution" in the Prospectus, pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement.

- (b) <u>Blue Sky</u>. The Company shall take all such action, if any, as is reasonably necessary in order to obtain an exemption for or to register or qualify (i) the issuance of the Commitment Shares and the issuance and sale of the Purchase Shares to the Investor under this Agreement and (ii) any subsequent resale of the Securities by the Investor, in each case, under applicable securities or "Blue Sky" laws of the states of the United States in such states as is reasonably requested by the Investor from time to time, and shall provide evidence of any such action so taken to the Investor.
- (c) <u>Listing/DTC</u>. The Company shall promptly secure the listing of all of the Purchase Shares and Commitment Shares to be issued to the Investor hereunder on the Principal Market (subject to official notice of issuance) and upon each other national securities exchange or automated quotation system, if any, upon which the Common Stock is then listed, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain, so long as any shares of Common Stock shall be so listed, such listing of all such Securities from time to time issuable hereunder. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the listing of the Common Stock on the Principal Market and shall comply in all respects with the Company's reporting, filing and other obligations under the bylaws or rules and regulations of the Principal Market. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall take any action that would reasonably be expected to result in the delisting or suspension of the Common Stock on the Principal Market. The Company shall promptly, and in no event later than the following Business Day, provide to the Investor copies of any notices it receives from any Person regarding the continued eligibility of the Common Stock for listing on the Principal Market; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to provide the Investor copies of any such notice that the Company reasonably believes constitutes material non-public information and the Company would not be required to publicly disclose such notice in any report or statement filed with the SEC and under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. The Company shall pay all fees and expenses in connection with satisfying its obligations under this Section 5(c). The Company shall take all action necessary to ensure that its Common Stock can be transferred electronically as DWAC Shares.
- (d) Prohibition of Short Sales and Hedging Transactions. The Investor agrees that beginning on the date of this Agreement and ending on the date of termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 11, the Investor and its agents, representatives and affiliates shall not in any manner whatsoever enter into or effect, directly or indirectly, any (i) "short sale" (as such term is defined in Rule 200 of Regulation SHO of the Exchange Act) of the Common Stock or (ii) hedging transaction, which establishes a net short position with respect to the Common Stock.
- (e) <u>Issuance of Commitment Shares</u>. In consideration for the Investor's execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company shall cause to be issued to the Investor a total of 760,194 shares of Common Stock (the "<u>Initial Commitment Shares</u>") immediately upon the execution of this Agreement and shall deliver to the Transfer Agent the Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions with respect to the issuance of such Initial Commitment Shares. The Company shall cause to be issued to the Investor up to 304,077 shares of Common Stock (the "<u>Additional Commitment Shares</u>" and, collectively with the Initial Commitment Shares, the "<u>Commitment Shares</u>"), as follows: in connection with each purchase of Purchase Shares hereunder, the Company shall issue to the Investor a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) 304,077 and (y) the Purchase Amount Fraction. The "<u>Purchase Amount Fraction</u>" shall mean a fraction, the numerator of which is the Purchase Amount purchased by the Investor with respect to such purchase of Purchase Shares and the denominator of which is Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000). The Additional Commitment Shares shall be equitably adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, (1) all of the Initial Commitment Shares shall be fully earned as of the date of their issuance pursuant to this Agreement and (2) the Additional Commitment Shares shall be fully earned as of the date of their issuance pursuant to this Agreement, whether or not any additional Purchase Shares are purchased thereafter by the Investor under this Agreement and irrespective of any subsequent termination of this Agreement.

- (f) Due Diligence; Non-Public Information. The Investor shall have the right, from time to time as the Investor may reasonably deem appropriate and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, to perform reasonable due diligence on the Company during normal business hours. The Company and its officers and employees shall provide information and reasonably cooperate with the Investor in connection with any reasonable request by the Investor related to the Investor's due diligence of the Company. Each party hereto agrees not to disclose any Confidential Information of the other party to any third party and shall not use the Confidential Information for any purpose other than in connection with, or in furtherance of, the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party hereto acknowledges that the Confidential Information shall remain the property of the disclosing party and agrees that it shall take all reasonable measures to protect the secrecy of any Confidential Information disclosed by the other party. The Company confirms that neither it nor any other Person acting on its behalf shall provide the Investor or its agents or counsel with any information that constitutes or might constitute material, non-public information, unless a simultaneous public announcement thereof is made by the Company in the manner contemplated by Regulation FD. In the event of a breach of the foregoing covenant by the Company or any Person acting on its behalf (as determined in the reasonable good faith judgment of the Investor), in addition to any other remedy provided herein or in the other Transaction Documents, if the Investor is holding any Securities at the time of the disclosure of material, non-public information, the Investor shall have the right to make a public disclosure, in the form of a press release, public advertisement or otherwise, of such material, non-public information without the prior approval by the Company; provided the Investor shall have first provided notice to the Company that it believes it has received information that constitutes material, nonpublic information, the Company shall have at least two (2) Business Days to publicly disclose such material, non-public information prior to any such disclosure by the Investor, the Company shall have failed to demonstrate to the Investor in writing within such time period that such information does not constitute material, non-public information, and the Company shall have failed to publicly disclose such material, non-public information within such time period. The Investor shall not have any liability to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders or agents, for any such disclosure. The Company understands and confirms that the Investor shall be relying on the foregoing covenants in effecting transactions in securities of the Company.
- (g) <u>Purchase Records</u>. The Investor and the Company shall each maintain records showing the remaining Available Amount at any given time and the dates and Purchase Amounts for the Initial Purchase and each Regular Purchase, Accelerated Purchase and Additional Accelerated Purchase or shall use such other method, reasonably satisfactory to the Investor and the Company.
- (h) <u>Taxes.</u> The Company shall pay any and all transfer, stamp or similar taxes that may be payable with respect to the issuance and delivery of any shares of Common Stock to the Investor made under this Agreement.
  - (i) <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The Company will use the net proceeds from the offering as described in the Prospectus.
- (j) Other Transactions. The Company shall not enter into, announce or recommend to its stockholders any agreement, plan, arrangement or transaction in or of which the terms thereof would restrict, materially delay, conflict with or impair the ability or right of the Company to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents, including, without limitation, the obligation of the Company to deliver the Securities to the Investor in accordance with the terms of the Transaction Documents.

- (k) No Aggregation. From and after the date of this Agreement, neither the Company, nor or any of its affiliates will, and the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that no Person acting on their behalf will, directly or indirectly, make any offers or sales of any security or solicit any offers to buy any security, under circumstances that would reasonably be expected to cause this offering of the Securities by the Company to the Investor to be aggregated with other offerings by the Company in a manner that would require stockholder approval pursuant to the rules of the Principal Market on which any of the securities of the Company are listed or designated unless stockholder approval is obtained before the closing of such subsequent transaction in accordance with the rules of such Principal Market.
- (1) Limitation on Variable Rate Transactions. From and after the date of this Agreement until the earlier of: (i) the nine (9) month anniversary of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 11 hereof and (ii) the later of (A) the 36-month anniversary of the date of this Agreement and (B) the 36-month anniversary of the Commencement Date (if the Commencement has occurred), the Company shall be prohibited from effecting or entering into an agreement to effect any issuance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (or a combination of units thereof) involving a Variable Rate Transaction, other than in connection with an Exempt Issuance. The Investor shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief against the Company and its Subsidiaries to preclude any such issuance, which remedy shall be in addition to any right to collect damages, without the necessity of showing economic loss and without any bond or other security being required. "Common Stock Equivalents" means any securities of the Company or its Subsidiaries which entitle the holder thereof to acquire at any time Common Stock, including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, rights, options, warrants or other instrument that is at any time convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive, Common Stock. "Variable Rate Transaction" means a transaction in which the Company (i) issues or sells any equity or debt securities that are convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or include the right to receive additional shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents either (A) at a conversion price, exercise price, exchange rate or other price that is based upon and/or varies with the trading prices of or quotations for the Common Stock at any time after the initial issuance of such equity or debt securities, or (B) with a conversion, exercise or exchange price that is subject to being reset at some future date after the initial issuance of such equity or debt security or upon the occurrence of specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock (including, without limitation, any "full ratchet" or "weighted average" anti-dilution provisions, but not including any standard anti-dilution protection for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction), (ii) issues or sells any equity or debt securities, including without limitation, Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents, either (A) at a price that is subject to being reset at some future date after the initial issuance of such debt or equity security or upon the occurrence of specified or contingent events directly or indirectly related to the business of the Company or the market for the Common Stock (other than standard anti-dilution protection for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split or other similar transaction), or (B) that are subject to or contain any put, call, redemption, buy-back, price-reset or other similar provision or mechanism (including, without limitation, a "Black-Scholes" put or call right, other than in connection with a "fundamental transaction") that provides for the issuance of additional equity securities of the Company or the payment of cash by the Company, or (iii) enters into any agreement, including, but not limited to, an "equity line of credit" or other continuous offering or similar offering of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents, whereby the Company may sell Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents at a future determined price. "Exempt Issuance" means the issuance of (a) Common Stock, options or other equity incentive awards to employees, officers, directors or vendors of the Company pursuant to any equity incentive plan duly adopted for such purpose, by the Board of Directors or a majority of the members of a committee of directors established for such purpose, (b) (1) any Securities issued to the Investor pursuant to this Agreement, (2) any securities issued upon the exercise or exchange of or conversion of any shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents held by the Investor at any time, or (3) any securities issued upon the exercise or exchange of or conversion of any Common Stock Equivalents issued and outstanding on the date of this Agreement, provided that such securities referred to in this clause (3) have not been amended since the date of this Agreement to increase the number of such securities or to decrease the exercise price, exchange price or conversion price of such securities, (c) securities issued pursuant to acquisitions, divestitures, licenses, partnerships, collaborations or strategic transactions approved by the Board of Directors or a majority of the members of a committee of directors established for such purpose, which acquisitions, divestitures, licenses, partnerships, collaborations or strategic transactions can have a Variable Rate Transaction component, provided that any such issuance shall only be to a Person (or to the equity holders of a Person) which is, itself or through its subsidiaries, an operating company or an asset in a business synergistic with the business of the Company and shall provide to the Company additional benefits in addition to the investment of funds, but shall not include a transaction in which the Company is issuing securities primarily for the purpose of raising capital or to an entity whose primary business is investing in securities, or (d) Common Stock issued pursuant to an "at-the-market offering" by the Company exclusively through one or more registered broker-dealers acting as agents of the Company pursuant to a written agreement between the Company and such registered broker-dealer(s).

# 6. TRANSFER AGENT INSTRUCTIONS.

On the date of this Agreement, the Company shall issue to the Transfer Agent (and any subsequent transfer agent) irrevocable instructions, in the form substantially similar to those used by the Investor in substantially similar transactions, to issue the Purchase Shares (including the Initial Purchase Shares), the Initial Commitment Shares and the Additional Commitment Shares in accordance with the terms of this Agreement (the "Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions"). All Securities to be issued to or for the benefit of the Investor pursuant to this Agreement shall be issued as DWAC Shares. The Company represents and warrants to the Investor that no instruction other than the Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions referred to in this Section 6 will be given by the Company to the Transfer Agent with respect to the Securities, and the Securities shall otherwise be freely transferable on the books and records of the Company. If the Investor effects a sale, assignment or transfer of the Purchase Shares or the Commitment Shares, the Company shall permit the transfer and shall promptly instruct the Transfer Agent (and any subsequent transfer agent) to issue DWAC Shares in such name and in such denominations as specified by the Investor to effect such sale, transfer or assignment. The Company shall take all actions to carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Section 6, including, without limitation, delivering or causing to be delivered all such legal opinions, consents, certificates, resolutions and instructions to the Transfer Agent, and any successor transfer agent of the Company, as may be requested from time to time by the Investor or necessary or desirable to carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Section 6, and all fees and costs associated therewith shall be borne by the Company.

# 7. CONDITIONS TO THE COMPANY'S RIGHT TO COMMENCE SALES OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK.

The right of the Company hereunder to commence sales of the Purchase Shares on the Commencement Date is subject to the satisfaction or, where legally permissible, the waiver of each of the following conditions:

(a) The Investor shall have executed each of the Transaction Documents and delivered the same to the Company;

- (b) No stop order with respect to the Registration Statement shall be pending or threatened by the SEC; and
- (c) The representations and warranties of the Investor shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date as though made at that time.

## 8. CONDITIONS TO THE INVESTOR'S OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK.

The obligation of the Investor to buy Purchase Shares under this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or, where legally permissible, the waiver of each of the following conditions on or prior to the Commencement Date and, once such conditions have been initially satisfied, there shall not be any ongoing obligation to satisfy such conditions after the Commencement has occurred:

- (a) The Company shall have executed each of the Transaction Documents and delivered the same to the Investor;
- (b) The Common Stock shall be listed or quoted on the Principal Market, trading in the Common Stock shall not have been within the last 365 days suspended by the SEC or the Principal Market, and all Securities to be issued by the Company to the Investor pursuant to this Agreement shall have been approved for listing or quotation on the Principal Market in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations of the Principal Market, subject only to official notice of issuance;
- (c) The Investor shall have received the opinions and negative assurances of the Company's legal counsel dated as of the Commencement Date substantially in the form heretofore agreed by the parties hereto;
- (d) The representations and warranties of the Company shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent that any of such representations and warranties is already qualified as to materiality in <u>Section 4</u> above, in which case, the portion of such representations and warranties so qualified shall be true and correct without further qualification) as of the date hereof and as of the Commencement Date as though made at that time (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a specific date, which shall be true and correct as of such date) and the Company shall have performed, satisfied and complied with the covenants, agreements and conditions required by the Transaction Documents to be performed, satisfied or complied with by the Company at or prior to the Commencement Date. The Investor shall have received a certificate, executed by the CEO, President or CFO of the Company, dated as of the Commencement Date, to the foregoing effect in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit A**;
- (e) The Board of Directors of the Company shall have adopted resolutions substantially in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit B**, which shall be in full force and effect without any amendment or supplement thereto as of the Commencement Date;
- (f) As of the Commencement Date, the Company shall have reserved out of its authorized and unissued Common Stock, (i) solely for the purpose of effecting purchases of Purchase Shares (including the Initial Purchase Shares) hereunder, 11,422,395 shares of Common Stock, and (ii) solely for the purpose of effecting the issuance of Additional Commitment Shares hereunder, 304,077 shares of Common Stock:

- (g) The Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions shall have been delivered to and acknowledged in writing by the Company and the Company's Transfer Agent, and (i) the Initial Commitment Shares required to have been issued on the Commencement Date in accordance with Section 5(e) hereof and (ii) the Initial Purchase Shares required to have been issued on the Commencement Date in accordance with Section 2(d) hereof, in each case shall have been issued directly to the Investor electronically as DWAC Shares;
- (h) The Company shall have delivered to the Investor a certificate evidencing the incorporation and good standing of the Company in the State of Delaware issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as of a date within ten (10) Business Days of the Commencement Date;
- (i) The Company shall have delivered to the Investor a certified copy of the Certificate of Incorporation as certified by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware within ten (10) Business Days of the Commencement Date;
- (j) The Company shall have delivered to the Investor a secretary's certificate executed by the Secretary of the Company, dated as of the Commencement Date, in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit C**;
- (k) The Registration Statement shall continue to be effective and no stop order with respect to the Registration Statement shall be pending or threatened by the SEC. The Company shall have a maximum dollar amount certain of Common Stock registered under the Registration Statement which is sufficient to issue to the Investor not less than (i) the full Available Amount worth of Purchase Shares (including the Initial Purchase Shares) plus (ii) all of the Commitment Shares. The Quarterly Report and the Initial Prospectus Supplement each shall have been filed with the SEC, as required pursuant to Section 5(a) and in compliance with Registration Rights Agreement, and copies of the Prospectus shall have been delivered to the Investor in accordance with Registration Rights Agreement. The Prospectus shall be current and available for issuances and sales of all of the Securities by the Company to the Investor, and for the resale of all of the Securities by the Investor. Any other Prospectus Supplements required to have been filed by the Company with the SEC under the Securities Act at or prior to the Commencement Date shall have been filed with the SEC within the applicable time periods prescribed for such filings under the Securities Act. All reports, schedules, registrations, forms, statements, information and other documents required to have been filed by the Company with the SEC at or prior to the Commencement Date pursuant to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act shall have been filed with the SEC within the applicable time periods prescribed for such filings under the Exchange Act;
- (l) No Event of Default has occurred, or any event which, after notice and/or lapse of time, would become an Event of Default has occurred;
- (m) All federal, state and local governmental laws, rules and regulations applicable to the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and necessary for the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby in accordance with the terms thereof shall have been complied with, and all consents, authorizations and orders of, and all filings and registrations with, all federal, state and local courts or governmental agencies and all federal, state and local regulatory or self-regulatory agencies necessary for the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby in accordance with the terms thereof shall have been obtained or made, including, without limitation, in each case those required under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, applicable state securities or "Blue Sky" laws or applicable rules and regulations of the Principal Market, or otherwise required by the SEC, the Principal Market or any state securities regulators;

- (n) No statute, regulation, order, decree, writ, ruling or injunction shall have been enacted, entered, promulgated, threatened or endorsed by any federal, state, local or foreign court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction which prohibits the consummation of or which would materially modify or delay any of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents; and
- (o) No action, suit or proceeding before any federal, state, local or foreign arbitrator or any court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have been commenced or threatened, and no inquiry or investigation by any federal, state, local or foreign governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have been commenced or threatened, against the Company, or any of the officers, directors or affiliates of the Company, seeking to restrain, prevent or change the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, or seeking material damages in connection with such transactions.

## 9. INDEMNIFICATION.

In consideration of the Investor's execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and acquiring the Securities hereunder and in addition to all of the Company's other obligations under the Transaction Documents, the Company shall defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless the Investor and all of its affiliates, stockholders, members, officers, directors, employees and direct or indirect investors and any of the foregoing Person's agents or other representatives (including, without limitation, those retained in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) (collectively, the "Indemnitees") from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits, claims, losses, costs, penalties, fees, liabilities and damages, and expenses in connection therewith (irrespective of whether any such Indemnitee is a party to the action for which indemnification hereunder is sought), and including reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements (the "Indemnified Liabilities"), incurred by any Indemnitee as a result of, or arising out of, or relating to (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company in the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument or document contemplated hereby or thereby, (b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation of the Company contained in the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument or document contemplated hereby or thereby, or (c) any cause of action, suit or claim brought or made against such Indemnitee and arising out of or resulting from the execution, delivery, performance or enforcement of the Transaction Documents or any other certificate, instrument or document contemplated hereby or thereby, other than, in the case of clause (c), with respect to Indemnified Liabilities which directly and primarily result from the fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnitee. The indemnity in this Section 9 shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any claim if such settlement is effected without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. To the extent that the foregoing undertaking by the Company may be unenforceable for any reason, the Company shall make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of each of the Indemnified Liabilities which is permissible under applicable law. Payment under this indemnification shall be made within thirty (30) days from the date the Indemnitee makes written request for it; provided, however, that the Indemnitee must undertake to repay any amounts paid to it hereunder if it is ultimately determined, by a final and non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction, that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified against such Indemnified Liabilities by the Company pursuant to this Agreement. A certificate containing reasonable detail as to the amount of such indemnification submitted to the Company by Investor shall be conclusive evidence, absent manifest error, of the amount due from the Company to Investor. If any action shall be brought against any Indemnitee in respect of which indemnity may be sought pursuant to this Agreement, such Indemnitee shall promptly notify the Company in writing, and the Company shall have the right to assume the defense thereof with counsel of its own choosing reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitee. Any Indemnitee shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnitee, except to the extent that (i) the employment thereof has been specifically authorized by the Company in writing, (ii) the Company has failed after a reasonable period of time to assume such defense and to employ counsel or (iii) in such action there is, in the reasonable opinion of such separate counsel, a material conflict on any material issue between the position of the Company and the position of such Indemnitee, in which case the Company shall be responsible for the reasonable fees and expenses of no more than one such separate counsel.

## 10. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

An "Event of Default" shall be deemed to have occurred at any time as any of the following events occurs:

- (a) the effectiveness of the Registration Statement registering the Securities lapses for any reason (including, without limitation, the issuance of a stop order or similar order), the Registration Statement or the Prospectus is unavailable for the sale by the Company to the Investor (or the resale by the Investor) of any or all of the Securities to be issued to the Investor under the Transaction Documents (including, without limitation, as a result of any failure of the Company to satisfy all of the requirements for the use of a registration statement on Form S-3 pursuant to the Securities Act for the offering and sale of the Securities contemplated by this Agreement), and any such lapse or unavailability continues for a period of ten (10) consecutive Business Days or for more than an aggregate of thirty (30) Business Days in any 365-day period;
- (b) the suspension of the Common Stock from trading or the failure of the Common Stock to be listed on the Principal Market for a period of one (1) Business Day, provided that the Company may not direct the Investor to purchase any shares of Common Stock during any such suspension;
- (c) the delisting of the Common Stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market, provided, however, that the Common Stock is not immediately thereafter trading on the New York Stock Exchange, The Nasdaq Global Market, The Nasdaq Global Select Market, the NYSE American, the NYSE Arca, the OTC Bulletin Board or OTC Markets (or nationally recognized successor to any of the foregoing);
- (d) the failure for any reason by the Transfer Agent to issue (i) the Initial Purchase Shares and the Initial Commitment Shares to the Investor within two (2) Business Days after the Commencement Date, (ii) the Additional Commitment Shares to the Investor within two (2) Business Days after the date on which the Investor is entitled to receive such Additional Commitment Shares pursuant to Section 5(e) hereof, or (iii) Purchase Shares (other than the Initial Purchase Shares) to the Investor within two (2) Business Days after the Regular Purchase Date, Accelerated Purchase Date or Additional Accelerated Purchase Date, as applicable, on which the Investor is entitled to receive such Purchase Shares:
- (e) the Company breaches any representation, warranty, covenant or other term or condition under any Transaction Document if such breach would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect and except, in the case of a breach of a covenant which is reasonably curable, only if such breach continues for a period of at least five (5) Business Days;
- (f) if any Person commences a proceeding against the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law;
- (g) if the Company, pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, (i) commences a voluntary case, (ii) consents to the entry of an order for relief against it in an involuntary case, (iii) consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property, or (iv) makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or is generally unable to pay its debts as the same become due:

- (h) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that (i) is for relief against the Company in an involuntary case, (ii) appoints a Custodian of the Company or for all or substantially all of its property, or (iii) orders the liquidation of the Company or any Subsidiary;
  - (i) if, at any time, the Company is not eligible to transfer its Common Stock electronically as DWAC Shares; or
- (j) if, at any time after the Commencement Date, the Exchange Cap is reached (to the extent such Exchange Cap is applicable pursuant to Section 2(g) hereof), and the stockholder approval referred to in Section 2(g)(i) has not been obtained in accordance with the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market.

In addition to any other rights and remedies under applicable law and this Agreement, so long as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, or if any event which, after notice and/or lapse of time, would reasonably be expected to become an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Company shall not deliver to the Investor any Regular Purchase Notice, Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice.

## 11. TERMINATION

This Agreement may be terminated only as follows:

- (a) If pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, the Company commences a voluntary case or any Person commences a proceeding against the Company, a Custodian is appointed for the Company or for all or substantially all of its property, or the Company makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors (any of which would be an Event of Default as described in Sections 10(f), 10(g) and 10(h) hereof), this Agreement shall automatically terminate without any liability or payment to the Company (except as set forth below) without further action or notice by any Person.
- (b) In the event that the Commencement shall not have occurred on or before November 30, 2020, due to the failure to satisfy the conditions set forth in Sections 7 and 8 above with respect to the Commencement, either the Company or the Investor shall have the option to terminate this Agreement at the close of business on such date or thereafter without liability of any party to any other party (except as set forth below); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 11(b) shall not be available to any party if such party is then in breach of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any representation or warranty of such party contained in this Agreement fails to be true and correct such that the conditions set forth in Section 7(c) or Section 8(d), as applicable, could not then be satisfied.
- (c) At any time after the Commencement Date, the Company shall have the option to terminate this Agreement for any reason or for no reason by delivering notice (a "Company Termination Notice") to the Investor electing to terminate this Agreement without any liability whatsoever of any party to any other party under this Agreement (except as set forth below). The Company Termination Notice shall not be effective until one (1) Business Day after it has been received by the Investor.
- (d) This Agreement shall automatically terminate on the date that the Company sells and the Investor purchases the full Available Amount as provided herein, without any action or notice on the part of any party and without any liability whatsoever of any party to any other party under this Agreement (except as set forth below).

(e) If, for any reason or for no reason, the full Available Amount has not been purchased in accordance with <u>Section 2</u> of this Agreement by the Maturity Date, this Agreement shall automatically terminate on the Maturity Date, without any action or notice on the part of any party and without any liability whatsoever of any party to any other party under this Agreement (except as set forth below).

Except as set forth in Sections 11(a) (in respect of an Event of Default under Sections 10(f), 10(g) and 10(h)), 11(d) and 11(e), any termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 11 shall be effected by written notice from the Company to the Investor, or the Investor to the Company, as the case may be, setting forth the basis for the termination hereof. The representations and warranties of the Company and the Investor contained in Sections 3 and 4 hereof, the indemnification provisions set forth in Section 9 hereof and the agreements and covenants set forth in Sections 5, 6, 10, 11 and 12 shall survive the Commencement and any termination of this Agreement. No termination of this Agreement shall (i) affect the Company's or the Investor's rights or obligations under (A) this Agreement with respect to pending Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases and the Company and the Investor shall complete their respective obligations with respect to any pending Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases under this Agreement and (B) the Registration Rights Agreement, which shall survive any such termination in accordance with its terms, or (ii) be deemed to release the Company or the Investor from any liability for intentional misrepresentation or willful breach of any of the Transaction Documents.

#### 12. MISCELLANEOUS.

- Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Jury Trial. The corporate laws of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues concerning the relative rights of the Company and its stockholders. All other questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and the other Transaction Documents shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Illinois, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Illinois or any other jurisdictions) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdictions other than the State of Illinois. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting in the State of Illinois, County of Cook, for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or under the other Transaction Documents or in connection herewith or therewith, or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof to such party at the address for such notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- (b) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more identical counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party; provided that a facsimile signature or signature delivered by e-mail in a ".pdf" format data file, including any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com, www.echosign.adobe.com, etc., shall be considered due execution and shall be binding upon the signatory thereto with the same force and effect as if the signature were an original signature.

- (c) <u>Headings</u>. The headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference and shall not form part of, or affect the interpretation of, this Agreement.
- (d) <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction.
- (e) Entire Agreement. The Transaction Documents supersede all other prior oral or written agreements between the Investor, the Company, their affiliates and Persons acting on their behalf with respect to the subject matter thereof, and this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and the instruments referenced herein contain the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the matters covered herein and therein and, except as specifically set forth herein or therein, neither the Company nor the Investor makes any representation, warranty, covenant or undertaking with respect to such matters. The Company acknowledges and agrees that is has not relied on, in any manner whatsoever, any representations or statements, written or oral, other than as expressly set forth in the Transaction Documents.
- (f) Notices. Any notices, consents or other communications required or permitted to be given under the terms of this Agreement must be in writing and will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) upon receipt when delivered personally; (ii) upon receipt when sent by facsimile or email (provided confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party); or (iii) one Business Day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, in each case properly addressed to the party to receive the same. The addresses for such communications shall be:

#### If to the Company:

Moleculin Biotech, Inc.

5300 Memorial Drive, Suite 950

Houston, Texas 77007

Telephone: 713-300-5160

E-mail: jfoster@moleculin.com Attention: Jonathan P. Foster, CFO

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice or service of process):

Schiff Hardin LLP

100 N. 18th, Suite 300

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (202) 724-6847

Facsimile: (202) 778-6460

E-mail: cpavri@schiffhardin.com

Attention: Cavas S. Pavri, Esq.

#### If to the Investor:

Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC

440 North Wells, Suite 410

Chicago, IL 60654

Telephone: (312) 822-9300 Facsimile: (312) 822-9301

E-mail: jscheinfeld@lpcfunds.com/jcope@lpcfunds.com

Attention: Josh Scheinfeld/Jonathan Cope

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice or service of process):

Dorsey & Whitney LLP 51 West 52<sup>nd</sup> Street New York, NY 10019

Telephone: (212) 415-9214 Facsimile: (212) 953-7201

E-mail: marsico.anthony@dorsey.com Attention: Anthony J. Marsico, Esq.

If to the Transfer Agent:

vStock Transfer, LLC 18 Lafayette Place Woodmere, NY 11598

Telephone: (212) 828-8436 Facsimile: (646) 536-3179 Attention: Patricia Sumoza

or at such other address, email address and/or facsimile number and/or to the attention of such other Person as the recipient party has specified by written notice given to each other party three (3) Business Days prior to the effectiveness of such change. Written confirmation of receipt (A) given by the recipient of such notice, consent or other communication, (B) mechanically or electronically generated by the sender's facsimile machine or email account containing the time, date, and recipient facsimile number or email address, as applicable, and an image of the first page of such transmission or (C) provided by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, shall be rebuttable evidence of personal service, receipt by facsimile or receipt from a nationally recognized overnight delivery service in accordance with clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, respectively.

- (g) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and any permitted successors and assigns of the Company. The Company shall not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Investor, including by merger or consolidation. The Investor may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement.
- (h) No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and any permitted successors and assigns of the Company and, except as set forth in Section 9, is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other Person.
- (i) <u>Publicity</u>. The Company shall afford the Investor and its counsel with the opportunity to review and comment upon, shall consult with the Investor and its counsel on the form and substance of, and shall give due consideration to all such comments from the Investor or its counsel on, any press release, SEC filing or any other public disclosure by or on behalf of the Company relating to the Investor, its purchases hereunder or any aspect of the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, not less than 24 hours prior to the issuance, filing or public disclosure thereof. The Investor must be provided with a final version of any such press release, SEC filing or other public disclosure at least 24 hours prior to any release, filing or use by the Company thereof. The Company agrees and acknowledges that its failure to fully comply with this provision constitutes a Material Adverse Effect.

- (j) <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each party shall do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, all such further acts and things, and shall execute and deliver all such other agreements, certificates, instruments and documents, as the other party may reasonably request in order to consummate and make effective, as soon as reasonably possible, the Commencement, and to carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (k) No Financial Advisor, Placement Agent, Broker or Finder. The Company represents and warrants to the Investor that it has not engaged any financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The Investor represents and warrants to the Company that it has not engaged any financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company shall be responsible for the payment of any fees or commissions, if any, of any financial advisor, placement agent, broker or finder relating to or arising out of the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company shall pay, and hold the Investor harmless against, any liability, loss or expense (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and out of pocket expenses) arising in connection with any such claim.
- (l) No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.
- (m) Remedies, Other Obligations, Breaches and Injunctive Relief. The Investor's remedies provided in this Agreement, including, without limitation, the Investor's remedies provided in Section 9, shall be cumulative and in addition to all other remedies available to the Investor under this Agreement, at law or in equity (including a decree of specific performance and/or other injunctive relief), no remedy of the Investor contained herein shall be deemed a waiver of compliance with the provisions giving rise to such remedy and nothing herein shall limit the Investor's right to pursue actual damages for any failure by the Company to comply with the terms of this Agreement. The Company acknowledges that a breach by it of its obligations hereunder will cause irreparable harm to the Investor and that the remedy at law for any such breach may be inadequate. The Company therefore agrees that, in the event of any such breach or threatened breach, the Investor shall be entitled, in addition to all other available remedies, to an injunction restraining any breach, without the necessity of showing economic loss and without any bond or other security being required.
- (n) Enforcement Costs. If: (i) this Agreement is placed by the Investor in the hands of an attorney for enforcement or is enforced by the Investor through any legal proceeding; (ii) an attorney is retained to represent the Investor in any bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or other proceedings affecting creditors' rights and involving a claim under this Agreement; or (iii) an attorney is retained to represent the Investor in any other proceedings whatsoever in connection with this Agreement, then the Company shall pay to the Investor, as incurred by the Investor, all reasonable costs and expenses including reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in connection therewith, in addition to all other amounts due hereunder.
- (o) Amendment; Waiver; Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver. No provision of this Agreement may be amended other than by a written instrument signed by both parties hereto. No provision of this Agreement may be waived other than in a written instrument signed by the party against whom enforcement of such waiver is sought. No failure or delay in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power or privilege.

\*\* Signature Page Follows \*\*

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF,** the Investor and the Company have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

#### **THE COMPANY:**

## MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.

By:/s/ Jonathan P. Foster

Name: Jonathan P. Foster Title: Chief Financial Officer

#### **INVESTOR:**

LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC BY: LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL, LLC BY: ROCKLEDGE CAPITAL CORPORATION

By:/s/ Josh Scheinfeld

Name: Josh Scheinfeld

Title: President

-35-

# **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A	Form of Officer's Certificate
Exhibit B	Form of Resolutions of Board of Directors of the Company
Exhibit C	Form of Secretary's Certificate

## **EXHIBIT A**

## FORM OF OFFICER'S CERTIFICATE

This Officer's Certificate ("Certificate") is being delivered pursuant to Section 8(d) of that certain Purchase Agreement dated as of November 11, 2020, ("Purchase Agreement"), by and between MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC (the "Investor"). Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Purchase Agreement.

shall have t	the meanings as	scribed to them in	n the Purchase Agre	eement.				
in his indiv	The undersign idual capacity,		_,	_ of the Comp	oany, hereby o	certifies, on be	half of the Compar	ny and not
	1. I ar	n the	of the Compa	any and make t	he statements	contained in t	his Certificate;	
4 qu qu rej	except to the ext of the Purchase presentation) as opresentations as	ent that any of su Agreement, in w of the date when	s and warranties of uch representations which case, such rep made and as of the at speak as of a spea e);	and warranties resentations are Commencement	s is already quad warranties and the contractions is already and the contractions is already and the contractions are already and the contractions are already as the contractions are already as the contractions are already quantities.	nalified as to mare true and corough made at t	ateriality in Section rect without further that time (except for	n er or
_	reements and c	onditions require	performed, satisfied by the Transaction	on Documents		-		
or	otection pursua reason to beli	nt to any Bankrueve that its cred	not taken any ste uptcy Law nor does litors intend to init ad is generally able	s the Company tiate involunta	or any of its ry bankrupte;	Subsidiaries h y or insolvenc	ave any knowledg	e
IN	WITNESS W	HEREOF, I have	hereunder signed i	my name on th	is day of	·		
				Name: Title:				
Th	is the duly o		of <b>MOLECULIN</b> d, qualified and act					
				Secretary				

#### **EXHIBIT B**

# FORM OF COMPANY RESOLUTIONS FOR SIGNING PURCHASE AGREEMENT

RESOLVED, that the terms and conditions of, and the transactions contemplated by, the form of Purchase Agreement
(the "Purchase Agreement") by and between the Corporation and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"), providing for
the purchase by Lincoln Park of up to Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000) of the Corporation's common stock, \$0.001 par
value per share (the "Common Stock") are hereby authorized and approved in all respects, and that each of the []
and [] of the Corporation (collectively, the "Authorized Officers") is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the
Purchase Agreement, and any other agreements or documents contemplated thereby including, without limitation, a registration rights
agreement (the "Registration Rights Agreement") providing for the registration of the shares of the Corporation's Common Stock
issuable in respect of the Purchase Agreement on behalf of the Corporation, with such amendments, changes, additions and deletions
as any of the Authorized Officers determines to be appropriate, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the signature of
any Authorized Officer thereon; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the terms and provisions of, and the transactions contemplated by, the Registration Rights Agreement by and among the Corporation and Lincoln Park are hereby authorized and approved in all respects, and that each of the Authorized Officers is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Registration Rights Agreement (pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement), with such amendments, changes, additions and deletions as any of the Authorized Officer determines to be appropriate, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the signature of any Authorized Officer thereon; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the terms and provisions of, and the transactions described in, the forms of Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions and Notice of Effectiveness of Registration Statement (collectively, the "Instructions", and together with the Purchase Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and any other agreements, instruments or other documents contemplated by any of the foregoing, the "Transaction Documents") are hereby authorized and approved in all respects and each of the Authorized Officers is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Instructions on behalf of the Corporation in accordance with the Purchase Agreement, with such amendments, changes, additions and deletions as any of the Authorized Officers determines to be appropriate, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the signature of an Authorized Officer thereon; and be it further

RESOLVED, that each of the Transaction Documents, the execution and delivery thereof by any of the Authorized Officers for and on behalf of the Corporation, the performance by the Corporation of its obligations thereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby are hereby authorized and approved in all respects (including for all purposes of Section 141 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended); and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation is hereby authorized to issue to Lincoln Park the Initial Purchase Shares (as defined in the Purchase Agreement, for aggregate consideration of \$2,000,000, and that upon issuance of the Initial Purchase Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Initial Purchase Shares shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable with no personal liability attaching to the ownership thereof; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation is hereby authorized to issue to Lincoln Park 760,194 shares of Common Stock as an initial commitment fee as set forth in the Purchase Agreement (the "<u>Initial Commitment Shares</u>"), and that, upon issuance of the Initial Commitment Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Initial Commitment Shares shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable with no personal liability attaching to the ownership thereof; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation is hereby authorized to issue to Lincoln Park up to 304,077 shares of Common Stock as an additional commitment fee as set forth in the Purchase Agreement (the "Additional Commitment Shares"), and that, upon issuance of the Additional Commitment Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Additional Commitment Shares shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable with no personal liability attaching to the ownership thereof; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation shall reserve 304,077 shares of Common Stock for issuance as Additional Commitment Shares under the Purchase Agreement; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation is hereby authorized to issue shares of Common Stock upon the purchase of Purchase Shares (other than the Initial Purchase Shares) up to the Available Amount under the Purchase Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement and that, upon issuance of the Purchase Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Purchase Shares will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable with no personal liability attaching to the ownership thereof; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Corporation shall initially reserve 11,422,395 shares of Common Stock for issuance as Purchase Shares (including the Initial Purchase Shares) under the Purchase Agreement; and be it further

RESOLVED, that, without limiting the foregoing, the Authorized Officers are, and each of them hereby is, authorized and directed to proceed on behalf of the Corporation and to take all such steps as deemed necessary or appropriate, with the advice and assistance of counsel, to cause the Corporation to consummate the agreements referred to herein and to perform its obligations under such agreements; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Authorized Officers be, and each of them with full authority to act without the others hereby is, authorized and directed for and on behalf of the Corporation to take or cause to be taken any and all actions, to execute and deliver any and all agreements, certificates, instructions, requests or other instruments (including any amendments or supplements to any of the documents contemplated by these resolutions), and to do any and all things which, in any such officer's judgment, may be necessary or desirable to effect each of the foregoing resolutions and to carry out the purposes thereof, the taking of any such actions, the execution and delivery of any such certificates, instructions, requests, or instruments, or the doing of any such things to be conclusive evidence of their necessity or desirability; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Authorized Officers be, and each of them hereby is, authorized and directed to work with counsel to prepare and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") one or more prospectus supplements (in preliminary and/or final form, as required by applicable securities laws) in connection with the issuance of the Initial Purchase Shares, the Initial Commitment Shares, the Purchase Shares (other than the Initial Purchase Shares) and the Additional Commitment Shares (collectively, the "Securities") (each, a "Prospectus Supplement") to the shelf registration statement (File No. 333-235686), declared effective by the Commission on April 9, 2020 (together with any Prospectus Supplement(s) in connection with the issuance of Securities, the "Registration Statement"); and be it further

RESOLVED, that the issuance by the Company of the Securities as contemplated by the Prospectus Supplement is hereby authorized and approved in all respects and if and when any such Securities consisting of the Company's common stock are so issued, such Securities will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Authorized Officers be, and each of them hereby is, authorized, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, to retain any legal counsel, accounting firm, investment banking firm, financing advisors or other such consultants, advisors and agents as such officers shall deem necessary, desirable or advisable to perform such services and render such opinions as may be necessary, desirable or advisable in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Purchas Agreement, and to enter into such contracts providing for the retention, compensation, reimbursement of expenses and indemnification of such legal counsel, accounting firm, investment banking firm or other such consultants that the Authorized Officers, individually and with full authority to act without the others, may deem necessary, advisable or proper.

# EXHIBIT C

## FORM OF SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

This Secretary's Certificate (" <u>Certificate</u> ") is being delivered pursuant to <u>Section 8(j)</u> of that certain Purchase Agreement dated as of November 11, 2020 (" <u>Purchase Agreement</u> "), by and between <b>MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.</b> , a Delaware corporation (the " <u>Company</u> ") and <b>LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC</b> (the " <u>Investor</u> "), pursuant to which the Company may sell to the Investor up to Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000) of the Company's Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share (the " <u>Common Stock</u> "). Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Purchase Agreement.
The undersigned,, Secretary of the Company, hereby certifies, on behalf of the Company and not in his individual capacity, as follows:
1. I am the Secretary of the Company and make the statements contained in this Secretary's Certificate.
2. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> and <u>Exhibit B</u> are true, correct and complete copies of the Company's bylaws (" <u>Bylaws</u> ") and Certificate of Incorporation (" <u>Charter</u> "), in each case, as amended through the date hereof, and no action has been taken by the Company, its directors, officers or stockholders, in contemplation of the filing of any further amendment relating to or affecting the Bylaws or Charter.
3. Attached hereto as Exhibit C are true, correct and complete copies of the resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company on, at which a quorum was present and acting throughout. Such resolutions have not been amended, modified or rescinded and remain in full force and effect and such resolutions are the only resolutions adopted by the Company's Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, or the stockholders of the Company relating to or affecting (i) the entering into and performance of the Purchase Agreement, or the issuance, offering and sale of the Securities and (ii) and the performance of the Company of its obligation under the Transaction Documents as contemplated therein.

4. As of <u>Exhibit D</u> hereto.	the date hereof, the authorized, issued and reserved capital stock of the Company is as set forth on
IN WITNESS WI	<b>IEREOF</b> , I have hereunder signed my name on this day of
	Secretary
	of MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC., a Delaware corporation, hereby certifies thated, qualified and acting Secretary of MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC., and that the signature appearing are.
	[TITLE]

#### REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

**REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT** (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of November 11, 2020, by and between **MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.**, a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), and **LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC**, an Illinois limited liability company (together with its permitted assigns, the "<u>Investor</u>"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement by and between the parties hereto, dated as of the date hereof (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "<u>Purchase Agreement</u>").

#### WHEREAS:

- A. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Purchase Agreement, (i) the Company has agreed to issue to the Investor, and the Investor has agreed to purchase, up to Twenty-Two Million Dollars (\$22,000,000) of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (such shares, the "Purchase Shares"), (ii) the Company has agreed to issue to the Investor upon the execution of the Purchase Agreement such number of shares of Common Stock as set forth in Section 5(e) of the Purchase Agreement (the "Initial Commitment Shares"), and (iii) the Company has agreed to issue to the Investor upon purchases of Purchase Shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement up to such number of additional shares of Common Stock as set forth in Section 5(e) of the Purchase Agreement (the "Additional Commitment Shares" and, together with the Initial Commitment Shares, the "Commitment Shares"); and
- B. To induce the Investor to enter into the Purchase Agreement, the Company has agreed to provide certain registration rights under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, or any similar successor statute (collectively, the "Securities Act"), and applicable state securities laws.

**NOW, THEREFORE,** in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Investor hereby agree as follows:

#### 1. DEFINITIONS.

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- (a) "Base Prospectus" means the Company's final base prospectus, dated April 9, 2020, a preliminary form of which is included in the Registration Statement (defined below), including the documents and information incorporated by reference therein.
- (b) "<u>Initial Prospectus Supplement</u>" means the prospectus supplement of the Company dated November 12, 2020 relating to the Securities, including the accompanying Base Prospectus, to be prepared and filed by the Company with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act and in accordance herewith, together with all documents and information incorporated therein by reference.
- (c) "<u>Prospectus</u>" means the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by any Prospectus Supplement (including the Initial Prospectus Supplement), including the documents and information incorporated by reference therein.

- (d) "<u>Prospectus Supplement</u>" means any prospectus supplement to the Base Prospectus (including the Initial Prospectus Supplement) filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the documents and information incorporated by reference therein.
- (e) "Register," "Registered," and "Registration" refer to a registration effected by preparing and filing one or more registration statements of the Company in compliance with the Securities Act and pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act or any successor rule providing for offering securities on a continuous basis ("Rule 415"), and the declaration or ordering of effectiveness of such registration statement(s) by the SEC.
- (f) "Registrable Securities" means the Purchase Shares that may from time to time be issued or issuable to the Investor upon purchases of the Available Amount under the Purchase Agreement (without regard to any limitation or restriction on purchases), the Commitment Shares issued or issuable to the Investor, and any shares of capital stock issued or issuable with respect to the Purchase Shares, the Commitment Shares or the Purchase Agreement as a result of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, exchange or similar event, without regard to any limitation on purchases under the Purchase Agreement.
- (g) "Registration Statement" means the effective registration statement on Form S-3 (Commission File No. 333-235686) filed by the Company with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act for the registration of shares of its Common Stock, including the Securities, and certain other securities of the Company, as such Registration Statement has been or may be amended and supplemented from time to time, including the financial statements, exhibits and schedules thereto, and all other documents filed as part thereof or incorporated by reference therein, and including all information deemed to be a part thereof at the time of effectiveness pursuant to Rule 430B of the Securities Act, including (i) any registration statement filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and (ii) any comparable successor registration statement filed by the Company with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act for the registration of shares of its Common Stock, including the Securities.

#### 2. REGISTRATION.

Initial Prospectus Supplement. The Company agrees that it shall, on the date hereof, file with the SEC the Initial Prospectus Supplement pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, in the form agreed upon by the Investor prior to such filing, specifically relating to the transactions contemplated by, and describing the material terms and conditions of, the Transaction Documents, containing information previously omitted at the time of effectiveness of the Registration Statement in reliance on Rule 430B under the Securities Act, and disclosing all information relating to the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as of the date of the Initial Prospectus Supplement, including, without limitation, information required to be disclosed in the section captioned "Plan of Distribution" in the Prospectus. The Investor acknowledges that it will be identified in the Initial Prospectus Supplement as an underwriter within the meaning of Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act. The Company shall permit the Investor and its counsel to review and comment upon a substantially complete pre-filing draft of the Initial Prospectus Supplement at least one (1) Business Day prior to the date of its filing with the SEC, the Company shall give due consideration to all such comments, and the Company shall not file the Initial Prospectus Supplement with the SEC in a form to which the Investor reasonably objects. The Investor shall use its reasonable best efforts to comment upon such substantially complete pre-filing draft of the Initial Prospectus Supplement within one (1) Business Day from the date the Investor receives such substantially complete pre-filing draft thereof from the Company. The Investor shall furnish to the Company such information regarding itself, the Securities held by it and the intended method of distribution thereof, including any arrangement between the Investor and any other Person relating to the sale or distribution of the Securities, as shall be reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing of the Initial Prospectus Supplement, and shall otherwise cooperate with the Company as reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing of the Initial Prospectus Supplement with the SEC.

Effective Registration Statement; Current Prospectus; Securities Law Compliance. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to keep the Registration Statement effective pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act, and to keep the Registration Statement and the Prospectus current and available for issuances and sales of all of the Securities by the Company to the Investor, and for the resale by the Investor, at all times until the earliest of (i) the date on which the Investor shall have sold all the Securities and no Available Amount remains under the Purchase Agreement, (ii) thirty (30) days following the Maturity Date and (iii) ninety (90) days following the termination of the Purchase Agreement in accordance with Section 11 of the Purchase Agreement (the "Registration Period"). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the Registration Period, the Company shall (a) take all action necessary to continue to be required to file reports with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, shall comply with its reporting and filing obligations under the Exchange Act, and shall not take any action or file any document (whether or not permitted by the Exchange Act) to terminate or suspend its reporting and filing obligations under the Exchange Act and (b) prepare and file with the SEC, at the Company's expense, such amendments (including, without limitation, post-effective amendments) to the Registration Statement and such Prospectus Supplements pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, in each case, as may be necessary to keep the Registration Statement effective pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act, and to keep the Registration Statement and the Prospectus current and available for issuances and sales of all of the Securities by the Company to the Investor, and for the resale of all of the Securities by the Investor, at all times during the Registration Period (it being hereby acknowledged and agreed that the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC, at the Company's expense, immediately prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the initial effective date of the Registration Statement (the "Renewal Date"), a new Registration Statement relating to the Securities, in a form satisfactory to the Investor and its counsel, and the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to be declared effective within 180 days after the Renewal Date). The Investor shall furnish to the Company such information regarding itself, the Securities held by it and the intended method of distribution thereof as shall be reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing of any such amendment to the Registration Statement (or new Registration Statement) or any such Prospectus Supplement, and shall otherwise cooperate with the Company as reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing of any such amendment to the Registration Statement (or new Registration Statement) or any such Prospectus Supplement. The Company shall comply with all applicable federal, state and foreign securities laws in connection with the offer, issuance and sale of the Securities contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

#### 3. **RELATED OBLIGATIONS.**

With respect to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to effect the registration of the Registrable Securities in accordance with the intended method of disposition thereof and, pursuant thereto, the Company shall have the following obligations:

Stop Orders. The Company shall advise the Investor promptly (but in no event later than 24 hours) and shall confirm such advice in writing: (i) of the Company's receipt of notice of any request by the SEC for amendment of or a supplement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any Prospectus Supplement or for any additional information; (ii) of the Company's receipt of notice of the issuance by the SEC of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or prohibiting or suspending the use of the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, or of the Company's receipt of any notification of the suspension of qualification of the Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or contemplated initiation of any proceeding for such purpose; and (iii) of the Company becoming aware of the happening of any event, which makes any statement of a material fact made in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement untrue or which requires the making of any additions to or changes to the statements then made in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement in order to state a material fact required by the Securities Act to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements then made therein (in the case of the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, or of the necessity to amend the Registration Statement or supplement the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement to comply with the Securities Act or any other applicable laws. The Company shall not be required to disclose to the Investor the substance or specific reasons of any of the events set forth in clauses (i) through (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence, but rather, shall only be required to disclose that the event has occurred. The Company shall not deliver to the Investor any Regular Purchase Notice, Accelerated Purchase Notice or Additional Accelerated Purchase Notice, and the Investor shall not be obligated to purchase any shares of Common Stock under the Purchase Agreement, during the continuation or pendency of any of the foregoing events; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not affect the Company's or the Investor's rights or obligations under the Purchase Agreement with respect to any then pending Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases, and the Company and the Investor shall complete their respective obligations with respect to any such pending Regular Purchases, Accelerated Purchases and Additional Accelerated Purchases under the Purchase Agreement. If at any time the SEC shall issue any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or prohibiting or suspending the use of the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the withdrawal of such order at the earliest possible time. The Company shall furnish to the Investor, without charge, a copy of any correspondence from the SEC or the staff of the SEC to the Company or its representatives relating to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as the case may be.

Investor Review. Except as provided in this Agreement and other than periodic and current reports required to be filed pursuant to the Exchange Act, the Company shall not file with the SEC any amendment to the Registration Statement or any supplement to the Prospectus that refers to the Investor, the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby (including, without limitation, any Prospectus Supplement filed in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents), in each case with respect to which (a) the Investor shall not previously have been advised and afforded the opportunity to review and comment thereon at least one (1) Business Day prior to filing with the SEC, as the case may be, (b) the Company shall not have given due consideration to any comments thereon received from the Investor or its counsel, or (c) the Investor shall reasonably object, unless the Company reasonably has determined that it is necessary to amend the Registration Statement or make any supplement to the Prospectus to comply with the Securities Act or any other applicable law or regulation, in which case the Company shall promptly (but in no event later than 24 hours) so inform the Investor, the Investor shall be provided with a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon any disclosure referring to the Investor, the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, as applicable, and the Company shall expeditiously furnish to the Investor a copy thereof. In addition, for so long as, in the reasonable opinion of counsel for the Investor, the Prospectus is required to be delivered in connection with any acquisition or sale of Securities by the Investor, the Company shall not file any Prospectus Supplement with respect to the Securities without furnishing to the Investor as many copies of such Prospectus Supplement, together with the Prospectus, as the Investor may reasonably request.

- Prospectus Delivery. The Company consents to the use of the Prospectus (and of each Prospectus Supplement thereto) in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act and with the securities or "blue sky" laws of the jurisdictions in which the Securities may be sold by the Investor, in connection with the offering and sale of the Securities and for such period of time thereafter as the Prospectus is required by the Securities Act to be delivered in connection with sales of the Securities. The Company will make available to the Investor upon request, and thereafter from time to time will furnish to the Investor, as many copies of the Prospectus (and each Prospectus Supplement thereto) as the Investor may reasonably request for the purposes contemplated by the Securities Act within the time during which the Prospectus is required by the Securities Act to be delivered in connection with sales of the Securities. If during such period of time any event shall occur that in the reasonable judgment of the Company and its counsel, or in the reasonable judgment of the Investor and its counsel, is required to be set forth in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement or should be set forth therein in order to make the statements made therein (in the case of the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, or if in the reasonable judgment of the Company and its counsel, or in the reasonable judgment of the Investor and its counsel, it is otherwise necessary to amend the Registration Statement or supplement the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement to comply with the Securities Act or any other applicable law or regulation, the Company shall forthwith prepare and, subject to Section 3(b) above, file with the SEC an appropriate amendment to the Registration Statement or an appropriate Prospectus Supplement and in each case shall expeditiously furnish to the Investor, at the Company's expense, such amendment to the Registration Statement or such Prospectus Supplement, as applicable, as may be necessary to reflect any such change or to effect such compliance. The Company shall have no obligation to separately advise the Investor of, or deliver copies to the Investor of, the SEC Documents, all of which the Investor shall be deemed to have notice of.
- (i) <u>Delivery of Shares</u>. The Company shall cooperate with the Investor to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of DWAC Shares (not bearing any restrictive legend) representing the Registrable Securities to be offered pursuant to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and enable such DWAC Shares to be in such denominations or amounts as the Investor may reasonably request and registered in such names as the Investor may request
- (j) <u>Transfer Agent</u>. The Company shall at all times maintain the services of the Transfer Agent with respect to its Common Stock.
- (k) <u>Approvals.</u> The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Registrable Securities covered by any Registration Statement to be Registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities in the United States as may be necessary to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities.
- (l) <u>Confirmation of Effectiveness</u>. If reasonably requested in writing by the Investor at any time, the Company shall deliver to the Investor a written confirmation of whether or not the effectiveness of such Registration Statement has lapsed at any time for any reason (including, without limitation, the issuance of a stop order) and whether or not the Registration Statement is currently effective and available to the Company for sale of all of the Registrable Securities..
- (m) <u>Further Assurances</u>. The Company agrees to take all other reasonable actions as necessary and reasonably requested in writing by the Investor to expedite and facilitate disposition by the Investor of Registrable Securities pursuant to any Registration Statement.

(n) <u>Transfer Agent Instructions</u>. On or before the date the Initial Prospectus Supplement is filed with the SEC, the Company shall issue to the Transfer Agent the Irrevocable Transfer Agent Instructions in the form agreed to prior to the date hereof, and on the date any Registration Statement which includes the Registrable Securities is ordered effective by the SEC, the Company shall deliver, and shall cause legal counsel for the Company to deliver, to the Transfer Agent for such Registrable Securities (with copies to the Investor) confirmation that such Registration Statement has been declared effective by the SEC. Thereafter, if requested by the Investor at any time, the Company shall deliver to the Investor a written confirmation of whether or not the effectiveness of such Registration Statement has lapsed at any time for any reason (including, without limitation, the issuance of a stop order) and whether or not the Registration Statement is current and available to the Investor for sale of all of the Registrable Securities.

#### 4. OBLIGATIONS OF THE INVESTOR.

- (a) Investor Information. The Investor has furnished to the Company in Exhibit A hereto such information regarding itself, the Registrable Securities held by it, the Registrable Securities held by it and the intended method of disposition thereof, including any arrangement between the Investor and any other Person relating to the sale or distribution of the Securities, as required to effect the registration of such Registrable Securities and shall execute such documents in connection with such registration as the Company may reasonably request. The Company shall notify the Investor in writing of any other information the Company reasonably requires from the Investor in connection with any Registration Statement hereunder. The Investor will as promptly as practicable notify the Company of any material change in the information set forth in Exhibit A, other than changes in its ownership of Common Stock.
- (b) <u>Suspension of Sales</u>. The Investor agrees that, upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the existence of any suspension or stop order as set forth in Section 3(a), the Investor will immediately discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to any Registration Statement covering such Registrable Securities until the Investor's receipt of the copies of a notice regarding the resolution or withdrawal of the suspension or stop order as contemplated by Section 3(a). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Company shall cause its transfer agent to promptly deliver to the Investor DWAC Shares without any restrictive legend in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement in connection with any sale of Registrable Securities with respect to which the Investor has entered into a contract for sale prior to the Investor's receipt of a notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 3(a) and for which the Investor has not yet settled.
- (c) <u>Investor Cooperation</u>. The Investor agrees to cooperate with the Company as reasonably requested by the Company in connection with the preparation and filing of any amendments and supplements to any Registration Statement or the Prospectus hereunder.

#### 5. <u>EXPENSES OF REGISTRATION</u>.

All reasonable expenses of the Company, other than sales or brokerage commissions and fees and disbursements of counsel for, and other expenses of, the Investor, incurred in connection with registrations, filings or qualifications pursuant to Sections 2 and 3, including, without limitation, all registration, listing and qualifications fees, printers and accounting fees, and fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company, shall be paid by the Company.

#### 6. INDEMNIFICATION.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company will, and hereby does, indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Investor, each Person, if any, who controls the Investor, the members, the directors, officers, partners, employees, agents, representatives of the Investor and each Person, if any, who controls the Investor within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (each, an "Indemnified Person"), against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, fines, penalties, charges, costs, attorneys' fees, amounts paid in settlement or expenses, joint or several, (collectively, "Claims") incurred in investigating, preparing or defending any action, claim, suit, inquiry, proceeding, investigation or appeal taken from the foregoing by or before any court or governmental, administrative or other regulatory agency, body or the SEC, whether pending or threatened, whether or not an indemnified party is or may be a party thereto ("Indemnified Damages"), to which any of them may become subject insofar as such Claims (or actions or proceedings, whether commenced or threatened, in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon: (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained, or incorporated by reference, in the Registration Statement or any amendment thereto or any omission or alleged omission to state therein, or in any document incorporated by reference therein, a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, (ii) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained, or incorporated by reference, in the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, or any omission or alleged omission to state therein, or in any document incorporated by reference therein, a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or (iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, affiliates, officers, directors or employees, of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, state securities or "Blue Sky" laws, or the rules and regulations of the Principal Market relating to the offer or sale of the Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus (the matters in the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii) being, collectively, "Violations"). The Company shall reimburse each Indemnified Person promptly as such expenses are incurred and are due and payable, for any reasonable out-of-pocket legal fees or other reasonable expenses incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such Claim. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the indemnification agreement contained in this Section 6(a): (A) shall not apply to a Claim by an Indemnified Person to the extent, but only to the extent, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by or on behalf of the Investor expressly for use in any Prospectus Supplement (it being hereby acknowledged and agreed that the written information set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto, as the same may be updated from time to time in writing by the Investor, is the only written information furnished to the Company by or on behalf of the Investor expressly for use in any Prospectus Supplement), if the Prospectus was timely made available by the Company to the Investor pursuant to Section 3(c); (B) shall not be available to the extent such Claim is based on a failure of the Investor to deliver, or to cause to be delivered, the Prospectus made available by the Company, if such Prospectus was theretofore made available by the Company pursuant to Section 3(c), and if delivery of the Prospectus would have cured the defect giving rise to such Claim; and (C) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any Claim if such settlement is effected without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Indemnified Person and shall survive the transfer of the Registrable Securities by the Investor pursuant to Section 8.

- In connection with any Prospectus Supplement, the Investor agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend, to the same extent and in the same manner as is set forth in Section 6(a), the Company, each of its directors, each of its officers who signed the Registration Statement, and each Person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (collectively and together with an Indemnified Person, an "Indemnified Party"), against any Claim or Indemnified Damages to which any of them may become subject, under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, insofar as such Claim or Indemnified Damages arise out of or are based upon any Violation, in each case to the extent, and only to the extent, that such Violation occurs in reliance upon and in conformity with written information about the Investor set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto (as the same may be updated from time to time in writing by the Investor) and furnished to the Company by the Investor expressly for inclusion any Prospectus Supplement; and, subject to Section 6(d), the Investor will reimburse any reasonable out-of-pocket legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such Claim; provided, however, that the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 6(b) and the agreement with respect to contribution contained in Section 7 shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any Claim if such settlement is effected without the prior written consent of the Investor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned; and provided, further, that the Investor shall be liable under this Section 6(b) for only that amount of a Claim or Indemnified Damages as does not exceed the net proceeds to the Investor as a result of the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of such Indemnified Party and shall survive the transfer of the Registrable Securities by the Investor pursuant to Section 8.
- Promptly after receipt by an Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party under this Section 6 of notice of the commencement of any action or proceeding (including any governmental action or proceeding) involving a Claim, such Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party shall, if a Claim in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Section 6, deliver to the indemnifying party a written notice of the commencement thereof, and the indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in, and, to the extent the indemnifying party so desires, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly noticed, to assume control of the defense thereof with counsel mutually satisfactory to the indemnifying party and the Indemnified Person or the Indemnified Party, as the case may be; provided, however, that an Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party shall have the right to retain its own counsel with the fees and expenses to be paid by the indemnifying party, if, in the reasonable opinion of counsel retained by the indemnifying party, the representation by such counsel of the Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party and the indemnifying party would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between such Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party and any other party represented by such counsel in such proceeding. The Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person shall cooperate with the indemnifying party in connection with any negotiation or defense of any such action or claim by the indemnifying party and shall furnish to the indemnifying party all information reasonably available to the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person which relates to such action or claim. The indemnifying party shall keep the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person fully apprised as to the status of the defense or any settlement negotiations with respect thereto. No indemnifying party shall be liable for any settlement of any action, claim or proceeding effected without its written consent, provided, however, that the indemnifying party shall not unreasonably withhold, delay or condition its consent. No indemnifying party shall, without the consent of the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person, consent to entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement or other compromise which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation. Following indemnification as provided for hereunder, the indemnifying party shall be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person with respect to all third parties, firms or corporations relating to the matter for which indemnification has been made. The failure to deliver written notice to the indemnifying party within a reasonable time of the commencement of any such action shall not relieve such indemnifying party of any liability to the Indemnified Person or Indemnified Party under this Section 6, except to the extent that the indemnifying party is prejudiced in its ability to defend such action.
- (d) The indemnification required by this Section 6 shall be made by periodic payments of the amount thereof during the course of the investigation or defense, as and when bills are received or Indemnified Damages are incurred. Any Person receiving a payment pursuant to this Section 6 which person is later determined to not be entitled to such payment shall return such payment to the person making it.

(e) The indemnity agreements contained herein shall be in addition to (i) any cause of action or similar right of the Indemnified Party or Indemnified Person against the indemnifying party or others, and (ii) any liabilities the indemnifying party may be subject to pursuant to the law.

#### 7. CONTRIBUTION.

To the extent any indemnification by an indemnifying party is prohibited or limited by law, the indemnifying party agrees to make the maximum contribution with respect to any amounts for which it would otherwise be liable under Section 6 to the fullest extent permitted by law; provided, however, that: (i) no seller of Registrable Securities guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any seller of Registrable Securities who was not guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation; and (ii) contribution by any seller of Registrable Securities shall be limited in amount to the net amount of proceeds received by such seller from the sale of such Registrable Securities.

#### 8. ASSIGNMENT OF REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

The Company shall not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Investor; provided, however, that any transaction, whether by merger, reorganization, restructuring, consolidation, financing or otherwise, whereby the Company remains the surviving entity immediately after such transaction shall not be deemed an assignment. The Investor may not assign its rights under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Company, other than to an affiliate of the Investor controlled by Jonathan Cope or Josh Scheinfeld, in which case the assignee must agree in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

#### 9. AMENDMENT OR WAIVER OF REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

No provision of this Agreement may be (i) amended other than by a written instrument signed by both parties hereto or (ii) waived other than in a written instrument signed by the party against whom enforcement of such waiver is sought. Failure of any party to exercise any right or remedy under this Agreement or otherwise, or delay by a party in exercising such right or remedy, shall not operate as a waiver thereof.

#### 10. <u>MISCELLANEOUS</u>.

- (a) <u>Holder</u>. A Person is deemed to be a holder of Registrable Securities whenever such Person owns or is deemed to own of record such Registrable Securities. If the Company receives conflicting instructions, notices or elections from two or more Persons with respect to the same Registrable Securities, the Company shall act upon the basis of instructions, notice or election received from the registered owner of such Registrable Securities.
- (b) <u>Notices</u>. Any notices, consents, waivers or other communications required or permitted to be given under the terms of this Agreement must be in writing and will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) upon receipt, when delivered personally; (ii) upon receipt, when sent by facsimile or email (provided confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party); or (iii) one (1) Business Day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, in each case properly addressed to the party to receive the same. The addresses for such communications shall be:

#### If to the Company:

Moleculin Biotech, Inc.

5300 Memorial Drive, Suite 950

Houston, Texas 77007 Telephone: 713-300-5160

E-mail: jfoster@moleculin.com Attention: Jonathan P. Foster, CFO

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice or service of process):

Schiff Hardin LLP 100 N. 18<sup>th</sup>, Suite 300 Philadelphia, PA 19103 Telephone: (202) 724-6847 Facsimile: (202) 778-6460

E-mail: cpavri@schiffhardin.com Attention: Cavas S. Pavri, Esq.

#### If to the Investor:

Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC 440 North Wells, Suite 410

Chicago, IL 60654

Telephone: (312) 822-9300 Facsimile: (312) 822-9301

E-mail: jscheinfeld@lpcfunds.com/jcope@lpcfunds.com

Attention: Josh Scheinfeld/Jonathan Cope

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice or service of process):

Dorsey & Whitney LLP 51 West 52<sup>nd</sup> Street New York, NY 10019

Telephone: (212) 415-9214 Facsimile: (212) 953-7201

E-mail: marsico.anthony@dorsey.com Attention: Anthony J. Marsico, Esq.

or at such other address, email address and/or facsimile number and/or to the attention of such other person as the recipient party has specified by written notice given to each other party three (3) Business Days prior to the effectiveness of such change. Written confirmation of receipt (A) given by the recipient of such notice, consent, waiver or other communication, (B) mechanically or electronically generated by the sender's facsimile machine or email account containing the time, date, recipient facsimile number or email address, as applicable, and an image of the first page of such transmission or (C) provided by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, shall be rebuttable evidence of personal service, receipt by facsimile or receipt from a nationally recognized overnight delivery service in accordance with clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, respectively.

- Governing Law. The corporate laws of the State of Delaware shall govern all issues concerning the relative rights of the Company and its stockholders. All other questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Illinois, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Illinois or any other jurisdictions) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdictions other than the State of Illinois. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting the State of Illinois, County of Cook, for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof to such party at the address for such notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement in that jurisdiction or the validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement in any other jurisdiction. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- (d) <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitute the entire understanding among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. There are no restrictions, promises, warranties or undertakings, other than those set forth or referred to herein and therein. This Agreement, the Purchase Agreement and the other Transaction Documents supersede all other prior oral or written agreements between the Investor, the Company, their affiliates and persons acting on their behalf with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof.
- (e) <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and any permitted successors and assigns of the Company and, except as set forth in Section 9, is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other Person.
- (f) <u>Headings</u>. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.
- (g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more identical counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party; provided that a facsimile signature or signature delivered by e-mail in a ".pdf" format data file, including any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com, www.echosign.adobe.com, etc., shall be considered due execution and shall be binding upon the signatory thereto with the same force and effect as if the signature were an original signature.
- (h) <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each party shall do and perform, or cause to be done and performed, all such further acts and things, and shall execute and deliver all such other agreements, certificates, instruments and documents, as the other party may reasonably request in order to carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(i) No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the ties to express their mutual intent and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.
** Signature Page Follows **
12

IN WITNESS	WHEREOF, the parties	have caused this	Registration Rig	ghts Agreement t	to be duly o	executed as	of day and
year first above written.							

## **THE COMPANY:**

MOLECULIN BIOTECH, INC.

By: <u>/s/ Jonathan P. Foster</u>
Name: Jonathan P. Foster
Title: Chief Financial Officer

#### **INVESTOR:**

LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL FUND, LLC BY: LINCOLN PARK CAPITAL, LLC BY: ROCKLEDGE CAPITAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Josh Scheinfeld
Name: Josh Scheinfeld
Title: President

13

#### **EXHIBIT A**

# Information About The Investor Furnished To The Company By The Investor Expressly For Use In Connection With Each Registration Statement and Prospectus Supplement

#### **Information With Respect to Lincoln Park Capital**

As of the date of the Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC, beneficially owned 4,759,611 shares of our common stock. Josh Scheinfeld and Jonathan Cope, the Managing Members of Lincoln Park Capital, LLC, the manager of Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC, are deemed to be beneficial owners of all of the shares of common stock owned by Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC. Messrs. Cope and Scheinfeld have shared voting and investment power over the shares being offered under the prospectus supplement filed with the SEC in connection with the transactions contemplated under the Purchase Agreement. Lincoln Park Capital, LLC is not a licensed broker dealer or an affiliate of a licensed broker dealer.

# OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Walter V. Klemp, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Moleculin Biotech, Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 2. necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 3. material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 4. (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be b. designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial a. reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 12, 2020	
By: /s/ Walter V. Klemp	
Walter V. Klemp	
Chief Executive Officer	

(Principal Executive Officer)

#### OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Jonathan P. Foster, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Moleculin Biotech, Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 2. necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 4. (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be b. designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial a. reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 12, 2020	
By: /s/ Jonathan P. Foster	
Ionathan P Foster	

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 of Moleculin Biotech, Inc. (the "Company") as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Walter Klemp, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m or 78o(d)); and
- The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 12, 2020

By: /s/ Walter V. Klemp

Walter V. Klemp Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Moleculin Biotech, Inc. and will be retained by Moleculin Biotech, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 of Moleculin Biotech, Inc. (the "Company") as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Jonathan Foster, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m or 78o(d)); and
- The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 12, 2020

By: /s/ Jonathan P. Foster

Jonathan P. Foster Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Moleculin Biotech, Inc. and will be retained by Moleculin Biotech, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

# **Document And Entity Information - shares**

# 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Nov. 05, 2020

**Document Information [Line Items]** 

Entity Central Index Key 0001659617

**Entity Registrant Name** Moleculin Biotech, Inc.

Amendment Flag false Current Fiscal Year End Date --12-31 **Document Fiscal Period Focus** Q3 Document Fiscal Year Focus 2020 Document Type 10-O **Document Quarterly Report** true

**Document Period End Date** Sep. 30, 2020

**Document Transition Report** false

**Entity File Number** 001-37758

Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code DE

**Entity Tax Identification Number** 47-4671997

5300 Memorial Drive Entity Address, Address Line One

Entity Address, City or Town Houston Entity Address, State or Province TXEntity Address, Postal Zip Code 77007 City Area Code 713 Local Phone Number

300-5160

**Entity Current Reporting Status** Yes **Entity Interactive Data Current** Yes **Entity Small Business** true

Non-accelerated Filer **Entity Filer Category** 

**Entity Emerging Growth Company** true **Entity Ex Transition Period** true **Entity Shell Company** false

Title of 12(b) Security Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share

**Trading Symbol MBRX** Security Exchange Name **NASDAQ** 

Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding 62,464,564

Condensed Consolidated		
Balance Sheets (Unaudited) -	_	, Dec. 31,
USD (\$)	2020	2019
\$ in Thousands		
<u>Current assets:</u>		
<u>Cash and cash equivalents</u>	\$	\$
	12,795	-
<u>Prepaid expenses and other current assets</u>	2,455	2,749
<u>Total current assets</u>	15,250	13,484
Furniture and equipment, net	522	316
<u>Intangible assets</u>	11,148	11,148
Operating lease right-of-use asset	224	287
<u>Total assets</u>	27,144	25,235
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	1,343	2,153
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	2,095	1,417
Total current liabilities	3,438	3,570
Operating lease liability - long-term, net of current portion	190	276
Warrant liability - long-term	9,049	5,818
Total liabilities	12,677	9,664
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)		
Stockholders' equity		
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding	0	0
Common stock, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized as of September 30, 2020 and	<u>.</u>	
December 31, 2019, 61,764,225 and 45,727,700 shares issued and outstanding at September	62	46
30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	68,649	55,055
Accumulated other comprehensive income	33	31
Accumulated deficit	(54,277)	(39,561)
Total stockholders' equity	14,467	15,571
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	\$
	27,144	25,235

# Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) (Parentheticals) - \$ / shares

Sep. 30, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Preferred stock, par value (in dollars per share)	\$ 0.001	\$ 0.001
Preferred stock, shares authorized (in shares)	5,000,000	5,000,000
Preferred stock, shares issued (in shares)	0	0
Preferred stock, shares outstanding (in shares)	0	0
Common stock, par value (in dollars per share)	\$ 0.001	\$ 0.001
Common stock, shares authorized (in shares)	100,000,000	100,000,000
Common stock, shares issued (in shares)	61,764,225	45,727,700
Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares)	61,764,225	45,727,700

<b>Condensed Consolidated</b>	3 Months Ended		9 Months Ended	
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss (Unaudited) - USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019
Revenues	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0
<b>Operating expenses:</b>				
Research and development	4,435,000	2,785,000	10,971,000	7,816,000
General and administrative	1,659,000	1,672,000	5,122,000	4,748,000
Depreciation and amortization	57,000	51,000	154,000	147,000
<u>Total operating expenses</u>	6,151,000	4,508,000	16,247,000	12,711,000
Loss from operations	(6,151,000	(4,508,000)	(16,247,000)	(12,711,000)
Other income:				
Gain from change in fair value of warrant liability	2,743,000	124,000	1,489,000	3,059,000
Other income, net	10,000	5,000	32,000	5,000
<u>Interest income, net</u>	3,000	5,000	10,000	10,000
Net loss before taxes	(3,395,000)(4,374,000)(14,716,000)(9,637,000)			
Income tax benefit	0	229,000	0	229,000
Net loss	\$	\$	\$	\$
	(3,395,000	(4,145,000)	(14,716,000)	(9,408,000)
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted (in dollars per share)	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.09)	\$ (0.26)	\$ (0.24)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted (in shares)	61,474,857	45,464,746	56,979,507	39,034,303
Net loss	\$	\$	\$	\$
	(3,395,000	(4,145,000)	(14,716,000)	(9,408,000)
Other comprehensive income (loss):				
Foreign currency translation	10,000	(3,000)	2,000	(16,000)
Comprehensive loss	\$	\$	\$	\$
	(3,385,000	(4,148,000)	(14,714,000)	)(9,424,000)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows		9 Months Ended			
(Unaudited) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands		20 Sep. 30, 2019			
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net loss	\$ (14,716)	\$ (9,408)			
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:					
<u>Depreciation and amortization</u>	154	147			
Stock-based compensation	1,265	1,155			
<u>License rights expense settled in stock</u>	0	490			
Change in fair value of warrant liability	(1,489)	(3,059)			
Operating lease, net of sublease receipts	90	(10)			
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	294	(2,337)			
Accounts payable	(810)	1,942			
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	565	(1,441)			
Net cash used in operating activities	(14,647)	(12,521)			
Cash flows from investing activities:					
Purchase of fixed assets	(360)	(42)			
Net cash used in investing activities	(360)	(42)			
Cash flows from financing activities:					
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	0	5			
Proceeds from exercise of warrants	5	1,557			
Payment of tax liability for vested restricted stock units	(17)	0			
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of issuance costs	17,077	19,292			
Net cash provided by financing activities	17,065	20,854			
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	2	(16)			
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	2,060	8,275			
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period	10,735	7,134			
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period	12,795	15,409			
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:					
Cash paid for interest	0	1			
Cash paid for taxes	20	15			
Research and development expense settled in stock	0	490			
Non-cash investing and financing activities:					
Purchases of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities	<u>es</u> \$ 316	\$ 21			

Palame at Dec. 31, 2018   Substituting   Substitu	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Unaudited) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Lincoln Park [Member] Common Stock [Member]	Paid-in	Lincoln Park [Member] Retained Earnings [Member]	Lincoln Park [Member] AOCI Attributable to Parent [Member]	Lincoln Park [Member]	Common Stock [Member]	Additional Paid-in Capital [Member]	Retained Earnings [Member]	AOCI Attributable to Parent [Member]	Total
Same at Dec. 31, 2018   Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Same at Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Same at Same at Same at Same at Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Same at Same at Same at Same at Same at Dec. 31, 2019   Same at Same							28,528,663	1			
Sale   Figure   Sale							\$ 29	\$ 40,564	\$ (26,356)	\$ 35	
Substitution   Subs	Issued for cash - sale of						7	4,=	+ (==,===)	7	14,272
Same	common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)	605,367					5,250,000				
Stock-hased compensation	common stock, net of issuance	\$ 0	\$ 883	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 883	\$ 5	3,221	0	0	3,226
Porcigin currency translation   S.0   S.0   C.1   C.1   C.1     Excreticed. number of shares (in shares)   Stock options exertised   S.0   S.							0	348	0	0	348
Patentised, number of shares (in shares)	Consolidated net loss						0	0	(4,041)	0	(4,041)
Sinck options exercised   Sinch options exercised   Sinch options exercised   Sinch shares) at Mar. 31, 2019   Sinch shares) at Mar. 31, 2019   Sinch shares) at Mar. 31, 2019   Sinch shares) at Dec. 31, 2018   Sinch shares at Dec. 31, 2018   Sinch shares at Dec. 31, 2018   Sinch shares at Sinch shares	•						\$ 0	0	0	(11)	(11)
Stock options exercised   S 0   S   O   O   S   Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2019   S   34,409,027   S   34,504   S   35,409,027   S   34,409,027   S   34							25,000				
Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2019         34, 449,021         30, 397, 24         14,682           Balance at Mar. 31, 2019         28,528,663         3         14,072         28,528,632         3         14,272           Balance at Dec. 31, 2018         \$29         40,564         (26,356)         35         14,272           Consolidated net loss         \$29         40,564         (26,356)         35         14,272           Consolidated net loss         \$2,727,700         (9,408)         (16)         18,375         14,272         (20,308)         14,272         (20,308)         14,272         (20,308)         14,272         (20,308)         14,272         (20,408)         (20,308)         14,272         (20,408)							\$ 0	5	0	0	5
Balance at Mar. 31, 2019   S.34   45,021   (30,397)   24   14,682   Balance (in shares) at Dec. 31, 2018   S.29, 28,528,652   S.29, 28,028   S.29, 28,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29, 28,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29, 28,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29, 28,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46   S.29,029   S.46   S.4673   S.29,029   S.46	Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31,						34,409,030	)			
Balance (in shares) at Dec. 31, 2018   \$28,528,652   \$35   14,272   \$20,500   \$35   14,272   \$35   \$35   14,272   \$35									(30 397)	24	14 682
Salance at Dec. 31, 2018   S.29   40,564   (26,356)   35   14,272   (27,000)   (27,000									(0,000)		,
Consolidated net loss         (9,408)           Forcign currency translation         45,727,7∪           Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2019         \$46         \$46, \$3,700         \$1,570         \$1,870           Balance at Sep. 30, 2019         \$44,400         \$4,400         \$1,000         \$1,870         \$1,870           Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2019         \$34,400         \$32,000         \$2         \$1,682           Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)         \$9,375,000         \$2         \$1,882           Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)         \$9         \$3,575         \$0         \$0         \$3,584           Stock-based compensation         \$0         \$18         \$0         \$1,882 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>20,320,003</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>							20,320,003	1			
Foreign currency translation         45,727,70√         (16)           Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2019         \$ 46, 2727,70√         \$ 34,409,03√         \$ 18,975           Balance at Sep. 30, 2019         \$ 34,409,03√         \$ 2         \$ 14,682           Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2019         \$ 34,409,03√         \$ 2         \$ 14,682           Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)         9,375,00√         \$ 2         \$ 14,682           Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)         \$ 9         \$,575         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 3,584           Costs         \$ 9         \$ 3,575         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 3,584           Stock-based compensation         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 3,584           Costs         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 1,221         \$ 0         \$ 0         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2         \$ 2							\$ 29	40,564	(26,356)	35	
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2019   Balance at Sep. 30, 2019   Balance at Sep. 30, 2019   Balance at Mar. 31, 2019   Balance at Jun. 30, 2019   Balance											
Balance at Sep. 30, 2019       \$ 46       54,673       (35,763)       19       18,975         Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2019       \$ 34,409,030       34,409,030       24       14,682         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       9,375,000       24       14,682         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       \$ 9,375,000       0       0       3,584         costs       \$ 9       3,575       0       0       3,584         costs       \$ 0       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$ 0       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$ 0       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$ 0       0       0       (2)       (2)       (2)         Warrants exercised       \$ 2       4,729       0       0       4,731         Balance (in shares)       45,197,048       3       3       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4       4	Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30,						45,727,700	)			(10)
Salance at Mar. 31, 2019   Salance at Jun. 30,							\$ 46	54,673	(35,763)	19	18,975
Balance at Mar. 31, 2019       \$ 34       45,021       (30,397)       24       14,682         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       9,375,000       3       3       4       4,682       4,883       4,883       6       0       0       0       0       0       4,121       0       0       1,121       0       1,121       0       1,121       0<	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						34,409,030	)			
Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)   Issued for cash - sale of co							\$ 34	45,021	(30,397)	24	14,682
costs (in shares)         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs       \$9       3,575       0       0       3,584         Stock-based compensation       0       318       0       0       318         Consolidated net loss       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$0       0       (2)       (2)         Warrants exercised (in shares)       \$1,413,018       ***         Warrants exercised       \$2       4,729       0       0       4,731         Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2019       \$45,197,048       ***       ***       ***       ***       22,092       1,413,018       ***       ***       ***       ***       ***       **       4,731       ***       **       ***       ***       ***	Issued for cash - sale of							,	, ,		,
Sauce for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs   Suck-based compensation   Suck-							9,375,000				
common stock, net of issuance costs       \$ 9       3,575       0       0       3,584         Stock-based compensation       0       318       0       0       318         Consolidated net loss       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$ 0       0       0       (2)       (2)         Warrants exercised (in shares)       1,413,018       3       3       4       7       1       4       7       1       4       7       1       1       3       1       4       7       1       3       4       7       1       3       4       7       1       3       4       7       3       4       7       1       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       7       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3       4       3 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>											
Stock-based compensation         0         318         0         0         318           Consolidated net loss         0         0         (1,221)         0         (1,221)           Foreign currency translation         \$0         0         0         (2)         (2)           Warrants exercised (in shares)         1,413,018         ***         ***         ***           Warrants exercised         \$2         4,729         0         0         4,731           Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2019         \$45,197,048         ***							\$ 9	3,575	0	0	3,584
Consolidated net loss       0       0       (1,221)       0       (1,221)         Foreign currency translation       \$0       0       0       (2)       (2)         Warrants exercised (in shares)       1,413,018       3.12 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0</td><td>218</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>218</td></t<>							0	218	0	0	218
So   0   0   0   (2)   (2)	•										
Warrants exercised (in shares)       1,413,018         Warrants exercised       \$ 2       4,729       0       0       4,731         Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2019       45,197,048       45,197,048       22       22,092         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       100,674       45,197,048									. ,		
Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2019       45,197,048         Balance at Jun. 30, 2019       \$ 45       53,643       (31,618)       22       22,092         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       100,674       52       0       0       52         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs       \$ 0       52       0       0       52         Stock-based compensation       0       489       0       0       489											· /
2019   45,197,048	Warrants exercised						\$ 2	4,729	0	0	4,731
Balance at Jun. 30, 2019       \$ 45       53,643       (31,618)       22       22,092         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)       100,674       30							45,197,048	3			
Issued for cash - sale of         common stock, net of issuance       100,674         costs (in shares)       Issued for cash - sale of         common stock, net of issuance       \$ 0       52       0       0       52         costs       Stock-based compensation       0       489       0       0       489							\$ 45	53,643	(31,618)	22	22,092
costs (in shares)         Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs       \$ 0       52       0       0       52 costs         Stock-based compensation       0       489       0       0       489											
Issued for cash - sale of         common stock, net of issuance       \$ 0       52       0       0       52         costs       Stock-based compensation       0       489       0       0       489							100,674				
common stock, net of issuance       \$ 0       52       0       0       52         costs       Stock-based compensation       0       489       0       0       489											
Stock-based compensation 0 489 0 0 489	common stock, net of issuance						\$ 0	52	0	0	52
							0	480	0	0	480
	•										(4,145)

The state of the s	Φ.Ο.	0	0	(2)	(2)
Foreign currency translation Common stock issued for	\$ 0	0	0	(3)	(3)
license rights (in shares)	429,978				
Common stock issued for	<b>6</b> 1	400	0	0	400
license rights	\$ 1	489	0	0	490
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2019	45,727,70	00			
Balance at Sep. 30, 2019	\$ 46	54,673	(35,763)	19	18,975
Balance (in shares) at Dec. 31,	45,727,70		, , ,		ŕ
<u>2019</u>		00			
Balance at Dec. 31, 2019	\$ 46	55,055	(39,561)	31	15,571
<u>Issued for cash - sale of</u> common stock, net of issuance	7.500.000	`			
costs (in shares)	7,500,000	,			
Issued for cash - sale of					
common stock, net of issuance	\$ 7	559	0	0	566
<u>costs</u>					
Stock-based compensation	0	397	0	0	397
Consolidated net loss	0	0	(1,209)	0	(1,209)
Foreign currency translation Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31,	\$ 0	0	0	(33)	(33)
2020	53,227,70	00			
Balance at Mar. 31, 2020	\$ 53	56,011	(40,770)	(2)	15,292
Balance (in shares) at Dec. 31,	45,727,70	00			
2019					
Balance at Dec. 31, 2019	\$ 46	55,055	(39,561)	31	15,571
Consolidated net loss Foreign currency translation					(14,716) \$ 2
Exercised, number of shares					
(in shares)					0
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30,	61 764 22	25			
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020	61,764,22	25			
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30,	61,764,22 \$ 62	25 68,649	(54,277)	33	\$ 14.467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020 Balance at Sep. 30, 2020	\$ 62	68,649	(54,277)	33	\$ 14,467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31,		68,649	(54,277)	33	
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020	\$ 62	68,649	(54,277) (40,770)	33 (2)	
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53	68,649 00 56,011			14,467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance	\$ 62 53,227,70	68,649 00 56,011			14,467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53	68,649 00 56,011			14,467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964	68,649 00 56,011	(40,770)	(2)	14,467 15,292
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53	68,649 00 56,011			14,467
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964	68,649 00 56,011	(40,770)	(2)	14,467 15,292
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0	68,649 00 56,011 4	(40,770)	0	14,467 15,292 10,007
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0	68,649 00 56,011 1 10,000 408	(40,770) 0 0	(2) 0 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112)	(2) 0 0 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112)
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30,	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30,	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 54 66,428	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 54 66,428	(40,770) 0 0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60 1,301,126	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 64 66,428	(40,770)  0  0 (10,112) 0  0 (50,882)	(2) 0 0 0 25 0 23	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25 9
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 54 66,428	(40,770)  0  0 (10,112) 0	(2) 0 0 0 0 25 0	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60 1,301,126	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 64 66,428	(40,770)  0  0 (10,112) 0  0 (50,882)	(2) 0 0 0 25 0 23	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25 9
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised (in shares)  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60 1,301,126 \$ 2	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 64 66,428	(40,770)  0  0 (10,112) 0  0 (50,882)	(2) 0 0 0 25 0 23	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25 9 15,629
Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance at Sep. 30, 2020  Balance (in shares) at Mar. 31, 2020  Balance at Mar. 31, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation  Consolidated net loss  Foreign currency translation  Warrants exercised  Balance (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Balance at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares) at Jun. 30, 2020  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs (in shares)  Issued for cash - sale of common stock, net of issuance costs  Stock-based compensation	\$ 62 53,227,70 \$ 53 7,170,964 \$ 7 0 0 \$ 0 4,500 \$ 0 60,403,16 \$ 60 1,301,126 \$ 2 0	68,649 00 56,011 4 10,000 408 0 0 9 64 66,428 6 1,778 460	(40,770)  0  0 (10,112) 0  0 (50,882)  0	(2) 0 0 0 25 0 23	14,467 15,292 10,007 408 (10,112) 25 9 15,629 1,780 460

Common stock issued upon vesting of restricted stock units (net of shares withheld for 59,935 payment of tax liability) (in shares) Common stock issued upon vesting of restricted stock units \$0 (17)0 0 (17)(net of shares withheld for payment of tax liability) Balance (in shares) at Sep. 30, 61,764,225 2020 Balance at Sep. 30, 2020 \$ \$ 62 \$ 68,649 \$ (54,277) \$ 33 14,467

<b>Condensed Consolidated</b>	3 Months Ended					
Statements of Stockholders'						
<b>Equity (Unaudited)</b>	Sep. 30,	Jun. 30,	Mar. 31,	Sep. 30,	Jun. 30,	Mar. 31,
(Parentheticals) - USD (\$)	2020	2020	2020	2019	2019	2019
\$ in Thousands						
Issued for cash - sale of common stock,	\$ 135	\$ 336	\$ 709	\$ 59	\$ 1,300	\$ 617
issuance costs	φ 133	φ <i>33</i> 0	\$ 109	Φ 39	\$ 1,500	φ U1 /

## Note 1 - Nature of Business and Liquidity

Notes to Financial
Statements
Nature of Business and
Liquidity [Text Block]

### 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

#### 1. Nature of Business and Liquidity

The terms "MBI" or "the Company", "we", "our", and "us" are used herein to refer to Moleculin Biotech, Inc. MBI is a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company, organized as a Delaware corporation in July 2015, with its focus on the treatment of highly resistant cancers and viruses through the development of its drug candidates, all of which are based on license agreements with The University of Texas System on behalf of the MD Anderson Cancer Center, which we refer to as MD Anderson. MBI formed Moleculin Australia Pty. Ltd., (MAPL), a wholly owned subsidiary, to perform certain preclinical development in Australia. This enables the Company to enjoy the benefits of certain research and development tax credits in Australia. In February 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with Animal Life Sciences, LLC (ALI), where the Company has granted a sublicense to ALI to research, develop, make, have made, use, offer to sell, sell, export or import and commercialize certain licensed products for non-human use and share development data. ALI issued to the Company a 10% interest in ALI. ALI converted into a corporation and became Animal Life Sciences, Inc.

Core Technologies - MBI has three core technologies, two of which have multiple drug candidates, and all of which are based on discoveries made at MD Anderson. These core technologies are 1) Annamycin, 2) its STAT3 Immune/Transcription Modulators, or simply "Immune/Transcription Modulators" WP1066 portfolio and 3) its Antimetabolite (including Metabolism/Glycosylation Inhibitors) WP1122 portfolio of molecules. The Company's clinical stage drugs are Annamycin, an anthracycline which is currently in one Phase 1/2 study for the treatment of relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (AML), with one Phase 1 study in the United States of America (US) recently concluding, WP1066, an Immune/Transcription Modulator, which is in two Phase 1 clinical trials in the US for the treatment of brain tumors, and WP1220, a member of the WP1066 portfolio of drugs, which has completed a Phase 1 proof-of-concept clinical trial in Poland for the topical treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL), a form of skin cancer.

The Company refers to Annamycin as a "Next Generation Anthracycline" since it is designed to avoid the multidrug resistance mechanisms that typically defeat currently approved anthracyclines, as well as to be non-cardiotoxic, which is the dose limiting toxicity for all currently approved anthracyclines. Annamycin is currently in a Phase 1/2 clinical trial in Europe, having successfully completed a Phase 1 safety trial in the US in early 2020, and preliminary clinical data suggests that it may have the potential to become the first therapy suitable for the majority of relapsed AML patients regardless of gene mutations. These trials have so far demonstrated safety, including the absence of any cardiotoxicity, and have demonstrated some initial efficacy. Additionally, preclinical research in animal models at MD Anderson demonstrated that Annamycin is able to significantly improve survival in multiple tumors that have metastasized to the lungs. Coupled with research demonstrating that Annamycin is capable of accumulating in the lungs at high levels, this suggests that Annamycin may be well suited to become a treatment for lung-localized tumors and the Company is performing preclinical work to enable an IND or its equivalent to be filed by the end of this year.

WP1066 is one of several Immune/Transcription Modulators in the Company's pipeline that appear capable of stimulating immune response to tumors by inhibiting the errant activity of Regulatory T-Cells (TRegs) while also inhibiting key oncogenic transcription factors, including p-STAT3, c-Myc and HIF-1 alpha. These transcription factors are widely sought targets that may also play a role in the lack of efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors in certain resistant tumors. The "proof-of-concept" Phase 1 trial in Poland for WP1220 demonstrated safety and efficacy and the Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner for the continued development of WP1220 as a topical therapy for CTCL.

The Company is also developing new prodrugs to exploit the potential uses of its WP1122 portfolio of antimetabolites, including inhibitors of glycolysis and glycosylation. Its lead Metabolism/Glycosylation Inhibitor compound, WP1122, provides an opportunity to cut off the fuel supply of tumors and viruses by taking advantage of their overdependence on glucose and glycolysis as compared with healthy cells. New research also points to the potential for the glucose decoy (2-DG) within WP1122 to be capable of enhancing the usefulness of checkpoint inhibitors and inhibiting glycosylation and glycolysis in virally infected cells. During 2020, the Company entered into agreements with several third party research centers to conduct research on WP1122 for antiviral properties against a range of viruses, including Coronavirus. Additional research with other molecules in this portfolio with independent contractors has also begun.

**Drug Candidates** - Within the Company's core technologies, it currently has five drug candidates representing three substantially different mechanisms of action. Annamycin is a chemotherapy designed to inhibit the replication of DNA of rapidly dividing cells and is the Company's most mature drug candidate. The Company has a trial open in Poland and one that recently completed in the US. The US Phase 1 portion of the Phase 1/2 trial reached key safety end points in early 2020. As a result of discussions with the FDA, the Company will utilize its trial in Europe to establish a recommended Phase 2 dose (RP2D) and to generate additional safety and efficacy data as requested by the FDA. The Phase 1/2 trial in Poland continues its dose escalation and is in its fifth cohort where patients are being treated at 240 mg/m2. The second patient in that cohort experienced a dose limiting toxicity (DLT), secondarily related to concomitant medication not being withheld. The DLT was resolved, and that cohort will be expanded to a total of six patients. If a second DLT in this cohort occurs, then we would enroll three subjects that would be treated at 210 mg/m2 to confirm the maximum tolerated dosage. If no additional DLT occurs in the current cohort, then we will progress to the sixth cohort at 300 mg/m2. We believe the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is slowing the pace of our patient recruitment in our Polish Annamycin clinical trial. We cannot assess when such an impact on our trial will be alleviated or if it will worsen. So far both trials have demonstrated that Annamycin, to date, is safe and is noncardiotoxic. The trials have demonstrated initial efficacy as well.

In addition to Annamycin, the Company has other drug development projects, two of which are also in clinical trials:

- Two separate Phase 1 physician-sponsored clinical trials are under way to evaluate WP1066. One trial is at MD Anderson Cancer Center for the potential treatment of adult patients with brain tumors and the other is at Emory University for the potential treatment of pediatric brain tumors. Both have begun treating patients. In the Emory trial, one of the patients with DIPG (Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma), showed an apparent response to the treatment with both clinical improvement and radiologic reduction of tumor size. We caution that this is preliminary data and no conclusions should be drawn from this single event.
- The Company is also evaluating WP1066 for the potential treatment of AML, pancreatic and other cancers. MBI has begun pre-clinical work that it expects to generate sufficient data for an IND for an intravenous formulation of one of its STAT3 inhibitors, which filing is expected to be submitted in 2021.
- WP1220 is an analog of WP1066 for which Polish authorities approved the Company's Clinical Trial Application (CTA) in 2019 for a Phase 1 "proof-of-concept" clinical trial to study the topical treatment of CTCL. This trial was completed, and the Company believes it demonstrated sufficient efficacy to justify a Phase 2 trial. The Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner in 2021 for the further development of WP1220 for the treatment of CTCL.
- Several molecules in the WP1122 portfolio are being evaluated for their potential to address hard to treat cancers and viruses. This portfolio of antimetabolites includes WP1122 which inhibits glycolysis and glycosylation. The Company has begun preclinical work on WP1122 and other analogs in this portfolio to possibly position one or more of them as treatments for certain cancers and viruses, including the Coronavirus. The

Company believes this work may support an IND or its equivalent for WP1122 and/or related compounds.

Clinical Trials - The Company has concluded the initial Phase 1 portion of its Phase 1/2 trial of Annamycin for the potential treatment of AML in the US due to the FDA's requirement to set the initial dose level relatively low in comparison with previous Annamycin clinical trials. Additionally, the Company believes that patient recruitment for its Annamycin AML clinical trial in Europe will continue to be more successful than in the US due to a comparatively lower number of competitive clinical trials and the protocol there being approved to start at a significantly higher dose than in the US with fewer enrollment screening limitations. This European AML trial is in its fifth cohort in the dose ranging Phase 1 portion of the trial. The Company has also announced plans to submit an IND or its equivalent for the use of Annamycin to potentially treat lung metastases, which it expects to submit before the end of 2020.

In September 2018, the physician-sponsored WP1066 Phase 1 clinical trial for the treatment of glioblastoma and melanoma metastasized to the brain, which opened for recruitment in July 2018, began treating patients. In April 2020, a second physician-sponsored Phase 1 trial for the potential treatment of pediatric brain tumors began recruitment and has begun treating patients. In August 2019, the Company completed its proof-of-concept Phase 1 clinical trial in Poland to study WP1220, a part of the WP1066 portfolio, for the treatment of CTCL. This trial demonstrated the safety of WP1220 and also demonstrated, the Company believes, initial efficacy sufficient to support beginning a Phase 2 clinical trial. The Company intends to attempt to join efforts with a strategic partner in 2021 for the further development of WP1220 for the treatment of CTCL.

Moleculin has recently announced discoveries (both internally funded and independently developed) supporting the potential use of WP1122 for the treatment of COVID-19 and other viral diseases. The Company is deploying resources on the development of an IND or its equivalent for testing WP1122 in patients with COVID-19 and/or certain cancers, as such preclinical work may support both viral and cancer indications. It expects to submit such an IND or its equivalent in the first half of 2021, as access to in vivo studies may necessitate such timing.

Licenses - The Company has been granted royalty-bearing, worldwide, exclusive licenses for the patent and technology rights related to all of MBI's drug technologies, as these intellectual property rights are owned in part or entirely by MD Anderson. The Annamycin drug substance is no longer covered by any existing patent protection, however, the Company filed new patent applications in July 2019 for formulation, synthetic process and reconstitution related to MBI's Annamycin drug product candidate, although there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining such patent protection. Most of this technology is also licensed from MD Anderson. The Company sponsors significant research at MD Anderson. New patents may result out of this research. From time to time, there are license issues that need to be discussed and handled with MD Anderson such as adding additional patents to existing license agreements and extension of milestones. The Company believes that such issues will be handled in the ordinary course of business.

Independently from potential patent protection, MBI has received Orphan Drug designation (ODD) from the FDA for Annamycin for the treatment of AML and for WP1066 for the treatment of glioblastoma. ODD may provide tax and other benefits during product development, and if either product is approved, may lead to a grant of seven-year market exclusivity. Under that exclusivity, which runs from the date of the approval of the New Drug Application (NDA) in the US, the FDA generally (there are important exceptions) could not approve another product containing the same drug for the designated indication. The Company also intends to apply for similar status in the European Union (EU) where market exclusivity could extend to 10 years from the date of Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) approval. Separately, the FDA may also grant market exclusivity of 5 years for newly approved new chemical entities (which the Company believes Annamycin would be one), which would preclude approval of any other annamycin product, but there can be no assurance that such exclusivity will be granted. In April 2019, FDA approved the Company's request for Fast Track Designation for Annamycin for the treatment of relapsed or refractory AML. Fast Track Designation, the purpose

of which is to expedite drug development and approval, is granted to drugs intended to treat serious conditions and where data demonstrate the potential to address an unmet medical need.

COVID 19 - In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the world. The spread of COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in US and international markets, including Poland, where the Company conducts some of its clinical trials and Italy, where its drug supply is produced. There has been limited interruption of the Company's drug supply, and some Polish clinics where the Company is conducting trials have limited access on monitoring activities. Additionally, the Company believes COVID-19 has materially slowed the progress of the Company's trials. This could worsen or be alleviated at any time. Furthermore, there is significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the US and international economies and, as such, the Company is unable to determine if it will have a material impact to its operations.

Nasdaq - On September 30, 2020, the Company received a letter from NASDAQ notifying the Company that for the last 30 consecutive business days the bid price for the Company's common stock had closed below the minimum \$1.00 per share requirement for continued inclusion on the Nasdaq Capital Market pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the "Bid Price Rule"). The deficiency letter does not result in the immediate delisting of the Company's common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market. In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until March 29, 2021, to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule. If, at any time before March 29, 2021, the bid price for the Company's common stock closes at \$1.00 or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, the Nasdaq Staff will provide written notification to the Company that it complies with the Bid Price Rule, unless the Staff exercises its discretion to extend this 10 day period pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(G). If the Company is not in compliance with the Bid Price Rule by March 29, 2021, the Company may be afforded a second 180 calendar day period to regain compliance. To qualify, the Company would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for the Nasdaq Capital Market, except for the minimum bid price requirement. In addition, the Company would be required to notify Nasdaq of its intent to cure the minimum bid price deficiency, which may include, if necessary, implementing a reverse stock split. If the Company does not regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule by March 29, 2021 and is not eligible for an additional compliance period at that time, the Nasdaq Staff will provide written notification to the Company that its common stock may be delisted. The Company would then be entitled to appeal the Nasdaq Staff's determination to a NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel and request a hearing. There can be no assurance that, if the Company does appeal a delisting determination by the Nasdaq Staff to the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel, that such appeal would be successful. The Company intends to monitor the closing bid price of its common stock and may, if appropriate, consider available options to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule, which could include effecting a reverse stock split. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule.

Note 2 - Basis of
Presentation, Principles of
Consolidation and
Significant Accounting
Policies

Notes to Financial
Statements
Significant Accounting
Policies [Text Block]

#### 9 Months Ended

Sep. 30, 2020

#### 2. Basis of presentation, principles of consolidation and significant accounting policies

Basis of Presentation – Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Information - The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (U.S. GAAP) for financial information, and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) with respect to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements furnished reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments), which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of results for the interim periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year. These interim condensed unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and notes thereto contained in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 19, 2020.

**Principles of consolidation** - The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to U.S. GAAP. The company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment. All long-lived assets of the Company reside in the US.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management considers many factors in selecting appropriate financial accounting policies and controls, and in developing the estimates and assumptions that are used in the preparation of these financial statements. Management must apply significant judgment in this process. In addition, other factors may affect estimates, including expected business and operational changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumptions used in developing estimates, and whether historical trends are expected to be representative of future trends. The estimation process often may yield a range of potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes and management must select an amount that falls within that range of reasonable estimates. This process may result in actual results differing materially from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of financial statements. Estimates are used in the following areas, among others: fair value estimates on intangible assets, warrants, and stock-based compensation expense, as well as accrued expenses and taxes.

Going Concern - These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain necessary equity financing to continue operations and the attainment of profitable operations. As of September 30, 2020, the Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of \$54.3 million since inception and had not yet generated any revenue from operations. Additionally, management anticipates that its cash on hand as of September 30, 2020, is sufficient to fund its planned operations into but not beyond the near term. These factors raise substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to

continue as a going concern. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company may seek additional funding through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding, commercialization, marketing and distribution arrangements, other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements and delay planned cash outlays or a combination thereof. Management cannot be certain that such events or a combination thereof can be achieved.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid accounts with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Periodically in the ordinary course of business, the Company may carry cash balances at financial institutions in excess of the Federally insured limits of \$250,000.

**Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets -** Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	-	ember 2020	December 31, 2019	
Vendor prepayments and deposits	\$	1,312	\$	1,857
Prepaid insurance		880		352
Other current assets		257		529
Related party receivables		5		10
Non-trade receivables		1		1
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets	\$	2,455	\$	2,749

Vendor prepayments at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, includes approximately \$1.1 million and \$1.5 million, respectively, for the expansion of Annamycin production commitments on a commercial scale currently expected to be delivered through the remainder of 2020 and into the first quarter of 2021 for use in clinical trials.

Intangible Assets - Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit. Acquired intangible assets identified as in-process research and development (IPR&D) assets, are considered indefinite lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. If the associated research and development effort is abandoned, the related IPR&D assets will be written-off and the Company will record a noncash impairment loss on its statements of operations. For those compounds that reach commercialization, the IPR&D assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets periodically and take into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate that impairment exists. No impairments of intangible assets have been identified during any of the periods presented. Intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach.

**Property and Equipment, net** - Leasehold improvements, furniture, equipment and software are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease term. Accumulated depreciation on property and equipment was \$0.4 million and \$0.3 million at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Asset - The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception or during modifications or renewal of an existing lease. Operating lease assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based upon the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The lease payments used to determine the Company's operating lease assets may include lease incentives, stated rent

increases and escalation clauses linked to rates of inflation when determinable and are recognized in the Company's operating lease assets in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company has elected the practical expedient and does not separate lease components from nonlease components for its leases. The Company's operating leases are reflected in operating lease right-of-use asset (ROU), accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and operating lease liability - long-term, net of current portion in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases, defined as leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date, are excluded from this treatment and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Refer to Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies - Lease Obligations Payable for additional information related to the Company's operating leases.

**Cost Method Investment** - The Company's cost method investment consists of an investment in a corporation in which it does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and financial activities. Management evaluates this investment for possible impairment quarterly.

**Fair Value of Financial Instruments -** The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of non-trade receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and its warrant liability. The carrying amount of non-trade receivables, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of such.

The Company has categorized its assets and liabilities that are valued at fair value on a recurring basis into a three-level fair value hierarchy in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheets at fair value are categorized based on a hierarchy of inputs as follows:

- Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets of identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.
  - Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company's financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis include the fair value of warrant liability discussed in Note 4.

The following table provides assets and liabilities reported at fair value and measured on a recurring basis at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Description	Me a	abilities easured t Fair Value	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Ot Obse Inj	ficant her rvable puts vel 2)	Une	gnificant Other observable Inputs Level 3)
Fair value of warrant liability as of September 30, 2020:	\$	9,049		\$		\$	9,049
Fair value of warrant liability as of December 31, 2019:	\$	5,818	\$	\$		\$	5,818

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of the beginning of the third quarter and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises that occurred during the third quarter of 2020 and adjusts for balances for changes in fair value that occurred during the current quarter. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Liability Current	Warrant Liability Long-Term	Warrant Liability Total	
Balance, June 30, 2020	\$ —	\$ 11,792	\$ 11,792	
Exercise of warrants	_	_	_	
Change in fair value - net		(2,743)	(2,743)	
Balance, September 30, 2020	<u>\$</u>	\$ 9,049	\$ 9,049	

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of December 31, 2019 and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises, and changes in fair value that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020	Liability Liab		arrant iability ng-Term	Varrant iability Total	
Balance, December 31, 2019	\$	_	\$	5,818	\$ 5,818
Issuances of warrants		_		4,724	4,724
Exercise of warrants		_		(4)	(4)
Change in fair value - net		_		(1,489)	(1,489)
Balance, September 30, 2020	\$		\$	9,049	\$ 9,049

Loss Per Common Share - Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For purposes of this calculation, options to purchase common stock, restricted stock units subject to vesting and warrants to purchase common stock are considered to be common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. In periods when losses are reported, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents, because their inclusion would be antidilutive. For the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 22.9 million and approximately 14.7 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 20.8 million and approximately 11.3 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect.

Stock-based Compensation - Stock-based compensation expense includes the estimated fair value of equity awards vested or expected to vest during the reporting period. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic (ASC) 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (ASC 718). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock units, and modifications to existing stock options, to be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values. The grant date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the grant date fair value of restricted stock awards is determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant (or if the date of grant is not a business day, on the business day prior to the date of the grant). The awards are subject to service vesting conditions. Compensation expense related to awards to employees and directors

with service-based vesting conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis based on the grant date fair value over the associated service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term, net of forfeitures which are recognized as they occur. Compensation expense related to awards to non-employees with service-based vesting conditions is recognized based on the then-current fair value at each financial reporting date prior to the measurement date over the associated service period of the award or the vesting event, applicable, which is generally the vesting term. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company began using the volatility of its own stock since it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price.

**Subsequent Events -** The Company's management reviewed all material events through the date these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued for subsequent events disclosure consideration, see other notes and specifically Note 8 - Subsequent Events.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) (ASU 2018-13). ASU 2018-13 modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, based on the concepts in the Concepts Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company's adoption of this pronouncement effective January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) (ASU 2019-12). ASU 2019-12 modifies the requirements for the timing of adoption of enacted change in tax law. The effects of changes on taxes currently payable or refundable for the current year must be reflected in the computation of annual effective tax rate in the first interim period that includes the enactment date of the new legislation, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted upon issuance of this ASU. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) (ASU 2020-06). ASU 2020-06 amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity's own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. The Board observed that the application of the derivatives scope exception guidance results in accounting for some contracts as derivatives while accounting for economically similar contracts as equity. The Board also decided to improve and amend the related EPS guidance. The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities that meet the definition of a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filer, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

The Company does not believe that any other recently issued effective pronouncements, or pronouncements issued but not yet effective, if adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

### Note 3 - Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

**Notes to Financial Statements** 

Accounts Payable, Accrued Liabilities, and Other Liabilities Disclosure, Current [Text Block]

## 9 Months Ended

Sep. 30, 2020

### 3. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following components (in thousands):

	September	
	30, 2020	31, 2019
Accrued chemistry manufacturing and control costs	\$ 1,086	\$ 49
	211	0.2
Accrued clinical activities	311	93
Accrued payroll and bonuses	247	436
Operating lease liability - current	114	103
Related party payable	99	99
Accrued license fees and sponsored research agreements	95	201
Accrued legal, regulatory, and professional	87	272
Accrued other	56	164
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$ 2,095	\$ 1,417

#### Note 4 - Warrants

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Notes to Financial
Statements
Warrants Disclosure [Text Block]

#### 4. Warrants

At September 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, respectively, the Company has the following warrants outstanding:

	Number of Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at September 30, 2020	Number of Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at December 31, 2019	Weighted Average Exercise Price at September 30, 2020	Remaining Contractual Life at September 30, 2020 (No. Years)
Liability Classified Warrants (1)				
Issued February 2017	404,002	404,002	\$ 1.50	1.4
Issued February 2018	2,273,700	2,273,700	2.80	2.9
Issued June 2018 (2)	742,991	742,991	2.03	3.2
Issued March 2019	1,581,000	1,585,500	1.10	3.5
Issued April 2019	5,250,000	5,250,000	1.75	3.6
Issued February 2020	6,150,000		1.05	4.8
	16,401,693	10,256,193	\$ 1.58	
<b>Equity Classified Warrants</b>				
Issued May 2016 - Bonwick	107,802	107,802	\$ 7.50	0.6
Issued July 2017 - Consulting (3)	150,000	150,000	2.61	1.8
Issued April 2018 - Consulting	100,000	100,000	3.00	0.5
Issued August 2019 - Consulting	150,000	150,000	1.64	1.9
Issued April 2020 - Consulting	100,000	_	1.14	4.6
	607,802	507,802	\$ 3.06	
Balance outstanding	17,009,495	10,763,995	\$ 1.63	

- (1) If the Company subdivides (by any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or otherwise) its outstanding shares of its common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately reduced and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately increased. Additionally, if the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock split or otherwise) its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately increased and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately decreased. Also, the Company may voluntarily reduce the warrant exercise price for its warrants issued in March 2019 and February 2017 and may voluntarily extend the contractual term of its warrants issued in February 2017.
- (2) Includes warrants to purchase 710,212 shares at an exercise price of \$2.02, expiring December 22, 2023, and warrants to purchase 32,779 shares at an exercise price of \$2.32, expiring June 21, 2023.
- (3) Includes warrants to purchase 100,000 shares at an exercise price of \$2.41 and warrants to purchase 50,000 shares at an exercise price of \$3.00.

#### **Liability Classified Warrants**

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model (BSM) to determine the fair value of its warrants at the date of issue and outstanding at each reporting date.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates on zero coupon US Treasury bonds linearly interpolated to obtain a maturity period commensurate with the term of the warrants.

Estimated volatility is a measure of the amount by which the Company's stock price is expected to fluctuate each year during the expected life of the warrants. Beginning in 2020, only the volatility of the Company's own stock is used in the BSM as it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price. In 2019, the Company used the volatility of its own stock blended with the volatility of peer entities due to the lack of sufficient historical data of its stock price.

The assumptions used in determining the fair value of the Company's outstanding liability classified warrants are as follows:

	September	December
	30, 2020	31, 2019
Risk-free interest rate	0.1% to	1.6% to
RISK-Tree interest rate	0.3%	1.7%
Volotility	112.5% to	97.5% to
Volatility	124.1%	107.5%
Expected life (years)	1.4 to 4.9	2.1 to 4.3
Dividend yield		<u> </u>

A summary of the Company's liability classified warrant activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and related information follows:

Number of Shares	Range of Warrant Exercise		Warrant			0	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual
Under	Price per		$\mathbf{E}$	xercise	Life (Years)		
Warrant	Sh	are		Price	Life (Tears)		
10,256,193	\$1.10	\$2.80	\$	1.89	4.0		
6,150,000	1.05	1.05		1.05	4.8		
(4,500)	1.10	1.10		1.10	_		
				_	_		
16,401,693	\$1.05	\$2.80	\$	1.58	3.9		
16,401,693	\$1.10	\$2.80	\$	1.89	3.9		
	Under Warrant 10,256,193 6,150,000 (4,500) — 16,401,693	Variation         Ware Exertion           Under Warrant         Price Shape           10,256,193         \$1.10           6,150,000         1.05           (4,500)         1.10           —         —           16,401,693         \$1.05	Number of Shares         Warrant Exercise           Under Warrant         Price per Share           10,256,193         \$1.10         \$2.80           6,150,000         1.05         1.05           (4,500)         1.10         1.10           —         —         —           16,401,693         \$1.05         \$2.80	Variant Shares         Warrant Exercise         Warrant A           Under Warrant Share         Exercise         Exercise           10,256,193         \$1.10         \$2.80         \$6,150,000         1.05         1.05           (4,500)         1.10         1.10         -         -         -	Number of Shares         Warrant Exercise         Weighted Average           Under Warrant         Price per Share         Exercise           10,256,193         \$1.10         \$2.80         \$ 1.89           6,150,000         1.05         1.05         1.05           (4,500)         1.10         1.10         1.10           —         —         —         —           16,401,693         \$1.05         \$2.80         \$ 1.58		

In connection with the Company's stock offering that closed in February 2020, the Company issued warrants to purchase 5,625,000 shares of its common stock, that are exercisable six months from the date of issuance, at a price of \$1.05 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and expire five years from the date they are first exercisable, and issued Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. a warrant (Underwriter Warrant) to purchase up to 525,000 shares of its common stock with an exercise price of \$1.05 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, which expires in February 2025.

For a summary of the changes in fair value associated with our warrant liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, see Note 2 - Basis of presentation, principles of consolidation and significant accounting policies - Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

#### **Equity Classified Warrants**

In April 2020, equity warrants to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock were issued to a consultant, with vesting contingent on certain conditions focused on generating up to \$10 million of approved research and development expenditures on the Company's drug portfolio.

At September 30, 2020 the Company had 607,802 equity classified warrants outstanding and 512,802 warrants were exercisable. At December 31, 2019, the Company had 507,802 equity classified warrants outstanding and all were exercisable.

The Company recorded zero and \$92,000 in stock compensation expense for non-employee consulting agreements for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$5,000 and \$94,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At September 30, 2020, there was \$91,000 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to the Company's equity-classified warrants.

#### **Note 5 - Equity**

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Notes to Financial
Statements
Stockholders' Equity Note
Disclosure [Text Block]

#### 5. Equity

#### **July 2020 Stock Issuances**

In July 2020, pursuant to the 2019 ATM Agreement, the Company issued 1,301,126 shares of common stock at an average price of \$1.47 per share through the ATM Prospectus Supplement. The Company received total proceeds of \$1.9 million, net of \$0.1 million in transaction expenses. Previously, in April 2020, pursuant to the 2019 ATM Agreement, the Company issued 7,170,964 shares of common stock at an average price of \$1.44 per share through the ATM Prospectus Supplement. The Company received total proceeds of \$10.3 million, net of \$0.3 million in transaction expenses.

#### February 2020 Stock Offering

In February 2020, the Company entered into subscription agreements with certain institutional investors for the sale by the Company of 7,500,000 shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase 5,625,000 shares of common stock at a combined public offering price of \$0.80 per share and related warrant. The Company received total proceeds of \$6.0 million, net of \$0.7 million in transaction expenses. See Note 4 - Warrants for equity classified warrants granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

#### **Stock-based Compensation and Outstanding Awards**

Under the terms of the Company's 2015 Stock Plan, as amended, and approved by its stockholders in June 2020, 10.5 million shares of the Company's common stock were available for grant to employees, non-employee directors and consultants. The 2015 Stock Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock awards, stock unit awards, or stock appreciation rights. As of September 30, 2020, there were 4,409,132 shares remaining to be issued under the 2015 Stock Plan.

Stock-based compensation for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Ni	ine Mon Septem		
	2	020	2	2019		2020	2019
General and administrative	\$	366	\$	430	\$	1,029	\$ 1,003
Research and development		94		59		236	152
Total Stock-based Compensation Expense	\$	460	\$	489	\$	1,265	\$ 1,155

Each of the Company's stock-based compensation arrangements are discussed below.

#### **Stock Options**

Stock option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company's stock at the date of grant. Stock option awards generally have a 10-year contractual term and vest over a 4-year period for employees and over a 1 to 3-year period for directors from the grant date on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The grant-date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Additionally, the Company's stock options provide for full vesting of unvested outstanding options, in the event of a change of control of the Company.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model that uses the assumptions noted below. The expected term of the stock option awards was computed using the "plain vanilla" method as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 because the Company does not have sufficient data regarding employee exercise behavior to estimate the expected term. Beginning in 2020, the Company used the volatility of its own stock in the BSM as it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price. Prior to 2020, the volatility was determined by referring to the average historical volatility of a peer group of public companies combined with its own due to the lack of sufficient historical data of its stock price. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

The fair value of the option grants has been estimated, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Nine Mon Septem	
<b>Stock Option Assumptions:</b>	2020	2019
Risk-free interest rate	0.2% to 0.5%	1.0% to 1.3%
Expected volatility of common stock	125.4% to 128.0%	85% to 100%
Expected life (years)	3.8 to 6.3	5.3 to 6.3
Expected dividend yield	%	<u>    %                                </u>

Stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 is as follows:

		W	eighted			Weighted		
		A	verage	We	eighted	Average	A	ggregate
			Grant	A	verage	Remaining	I	ntrinsic
			Date			Contractual		
	Number of		Fair	Ex	ercise	Term (in		Value
	Shares		Value	1	Price	years)		varuc
Outstanding, December 31, 2019	3,836,000	\$	1.59	\$	2.26	8.3	\$	_
Granted	1,554,750	\$	0.83	\$	0.95			
Exercised	_	\$	_	\$	_			
Forfeited	(20,000)	\$	0.89	\$	1.06			
Outstanding, September 30, 2020	5,370,750	\$	1.37	\$	1.88	8.1	\$	_
Exercisable, September 30, 2020	1,978,917	\$	1.91	\$	2.79	7.2	\$	_

Options granted during 2020 have an aggregated fair value of \$1.3 million that was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. At September 30, 2020, total compensation cost not yet recognized was \$3.0 million and the weighted average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 2.65 years. The aggregate fair value of options vesting in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was \$1.2 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. In July 2020, the Company granted 1,349,750 employee stock options. In August 2020, the Company issued 100,000 options to Dr. Waldemar Priebe, one of the Company's founders and chair of our Scientific Advisory Board. In October 2020, the Company granted 40,000 stock options, with 3-year annual vesting upon appointment of Elizabeth Cermak to the Company's Board of Director's.

#### Restricted Stock

Restricted stock units are granted with a grant date fair value determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant date. Restricted stock units vest annually in four equal installments. Additionally, the Company's restricted stock unit agreements provide for full vesting of the restricted stock award in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Restricted stock unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 is as follows:

		Weig Aver Grant	age	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual
	Number of	Fair V	/alue	Term (in
	Shares	Tan v	aruc	years)
Unvested Shares, December 31, 2019	316,907	\$	1.31	3.5
Granted	353,211	\$	0.93	
Vested	(79,227)	\$	1.31	
Unvested Shares, September 30, 2020	590,891	\$	1.08	3.3

As of September 30, 2020, total compensation cost not yet recognized was \$0.6 million and the weighted average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 3.3 years.

#### **Note 6 - Income Taxes**

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Notes to Financial
Statements
Income Tax Disclosure [Text]

Block]

6. Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company does not expect to pay any significant federal, state, or foreign income taxes in 2020 as a result of the losses recorded during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the additional losses expected for the remainder of 2020 and cumulative net operating loss carryforwards. Accounting standards require the consideration of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is "more likely than not" that some component or all of the benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a result, as of September 30, 2020, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance for all deferred tax assets.

The Company recorded an income tax provision of zero and \$229,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 is 0% and 5.2%, respectively. The effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 is 0% and 1.4%, respectively. The total income tax benefit for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was comprised of research and development tax credits recoverable, associated with Moleculin Australia Pty. Ltd, (MAPL), a wholly-owned subsidiary formed in June 2018, related to preclinical development in Australia. There were no research and development tax credits for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The income tax rates vary from the federal and state statutory rates primarily due to the change in fair value of the stock warrants and valuation allowances on the Company's deferred tax assets. The Company estimates its annual effective tax rate at the end of each quarterly period. Jurisdictions with a projected loss for the year where no tax benefit can be recognized due to the valuation allowance could result in a higher or lower effective tax rate during a particular quarter depending on the mix and timing of actual earnings versus annual projections.

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) to provide certain relief as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among other things, includes provisions relating to net operating loss carry back periods, alternative minimum tax credit refunds, and modification to the net interest deduction limitations. The CARES Act did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The Company continues to monitor any effects that may result from the CARES Act.

## Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies

Notes to Financial Statements

Commitments and
Contingencies Disclosure
[Text Block]

### 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

#### 7. Commitments and Contingencies

In addition to the commitments and contingencies described elsewhere in these notes, see below for a discussion of the Company's commitments and contingencies as of September 30, 2020.

#### **Lease Obligations Payable**

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company did not enter into any lease arrangements requiring any additional right-of-use assets or liabilities to be recorded.

The following summarizes quantitative information about the Company's operating leases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Ni	ne Mon Septem	 Ended r 30,	
	20	020	2	019		2020	2019
Lease cost:							
Operating lease cost	\$	29	\$	15	\$	87	\$ 31
Short-term lease cost		4		12		13	38
Variable lease cost		7		7		22	 19
Total	\$	40	\$	34	\$	122	\$ 88

The Company recorded approximately \$10,000 and \$31,000 in sublease income from a related party for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Sublease income is recorded as other income, net on the Company's condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Other supplemental cash flow information for operating leases is as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			N	Ended r 30,			
	2	020		2019		2020		2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the								
measurement of lease liabilities:								
Operating cash flows from operating leases	\$	34	\$	20	\$	100	\$	41
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:								
Operating leases	\$	—	\$	212	\$	_	\$	321

At September 30, 2020, future minimum liabilities under ASC 842 for the Company's operating leases were as follows (in thousands):

Maturity of lease liabilities	As of September 30, 2020
2020 (remaining three months)	\$ 34
2021	138
2022	105
2023	56

2024	10
2025 and thereafter	 
Total lease payments	343
Less: imputed interest	 (39)
Present value of operating lease liabilities	\$ 304

As of September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases is 2.7 years, and the weighted average discount rate is 9.6%. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable and as such, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on a peer analysis using information available at the commencement date, which represents an internally developed rate that would be incurred to borrow, on a collateralized basis, over a similar term, an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

#### Licenses

**MD** Anderson - Total expenses related to the Company's license agreements with MD Anderson were \$61,000 and \$60,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$183,000 and \$180,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

*HPI* - On March 16, 2020, the Company entered into two agreements with a related party, Houston Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (HPI). The first agreement, which has a term of two years, continues a prior consulting arrangement with HPI on the Company's licensed molecules and requires payments for \$43,500 per quarter to HPI. The second agreement, which can be cancelled with sixty days' notice by either party, allows the Company's employees access to laboratory equipment owned by HPI for a payment of \$15,000 per quarter to HPI. Total expenses related to the Company's agreements with HPI were \$59,000 and zero for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$226,000 and \$75,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

**Sponsored Research Agreements with MD Anderson -** MBI entered into a Sponsored Laboratory Study Agreement with MD Anderson expiring in October 2021. The expenses recognized under this MD Anderson agreement with regards to the Sponsored Laboratory Study Agreement were \$212,000 and \$177,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$537,000 and \$366,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

#### **Note 8 - Subsequent Events**

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Notes to Financial
Statements
Subsequent Events [Text Block]

#### 8. Subsequent Events

In addition to the subsequent events discussed elsewhere in these notes, see below for a discussion of our subsequent events occurring after September 30, 2020.

**2020** ATM Agreement - As previously reported, in July 2020, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (Agreement) with Oppenheimer & Co. Inc. (2020 ATM Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the Company may sell from time to time through Oppenheimer shares of the Company's common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to \$15.0 million. In October 2020, the Company issued 700,339 shares of common stock at an average price of \$0.83 per share through the 2020 ATM Agreement, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of \$0.6 million. The Company paid a commission to Oppenheimer equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of its common stock under the 2020 ATM Agreement. The 2019 ATM Agreement expired at the end of the third quarter.

**2020** Lincoln Park Equity Line - On November 11, 2020, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the "2020 Purchase Agreement") and a registration rights agreement (the "2020 Registration Rights Agreement") with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC ("Lincoln Park"). Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, Lincoln Park has agreed to purchase from the Company up to \$22.0 million of the Company's common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time during the term of the 2020 Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, the Company filed with the SEC a registration statement to register the shares that have been or may be issued to Lincoln Park under the 2020 Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Purchase Agreement, at the time the Company signed the 2020 Purchase Agreement and the 2020 Registration Rights Agreement, the Company issued 760,194 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park as consideration for its commitment to purchase shares of our common stock under the 2020 Purchase Agreement and may issue an additional 304,077 shares pro-rata when and if Lincoln Park purchases (at the Company's discretion) the \$22.0 million aggregate commitment.

On November 12, 2020, the Company sold Lincoln Park at \$0.707 per share 2,829,214 shares of common stock for aggregate consideration of \$2.0 million, and issued 27,643 in additional commitment shares.

On November 11, 2020, the Company terminated its purchase agreement dated October 4, 2018 with Lincoln Park.

## **Significant Accounting Policies (Policies)**

# Accounting Policies [Abstract]

Basis of Accounting, Policy [Policy Text Block]

# 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Basis of Presentation – Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Information - The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (U.S. GAAP) for financial information, and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) with respect to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements furnished reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments), which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of results for the interim periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year. These interim condensed unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and notes thereto contained in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 19, 2020.

Consolidation, Policy [Policy Text Block]

**Principles of consolidation** - The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to U.S. GAAP. The company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment. All long-lived assets of the Company reside in the US.

<u>Use of Estimates, Policy</u> [Policy Text Block] Use of Estimates - The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management considers many factors in selecting appropriate financial accounting policies and controls, and in developing the estimates and assumptions that are used in the preparation of these financial statements. Management must apply significant judgment in this process. In addition, other factors may affect estimates, including expected business and operational changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumptions used in developing estimates, and whether historical trends are expected to be representative of future trends. The estimation process often may yield a range of potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes and management must select an amount that falls within that range of reasonable estimates. This process may result in actual results differing materially from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of financial statements. Estimates are used in the following areas, among others: fair value estimates on intangible assets, warrants, and stock-based compensation expense, as well as accrued expenses and taxes.

Going Concern Policy [Policy Text Block]

Going Concern - These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain necessary equity financing to continue operations and the attainment of profitable operations. As of September 30, 2020, the Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of \$54.3 million since inception and had not yet generated any revenue from operations. Additionally, management anticipates that its cash on hand as of September 30, 2020, is sufficient to fund its planned operations into but not beyond the near term. These factors raise substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company may seek additional funding through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding, commercialization, marketing

and distribution arrangements, other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements and delay planned cash outlays or a combination thereof. Management cannot be certain that such events or a combination thereof can be achieved.

<u>Cash and Cash Equivalents</u>, <u>Policy [Policy Text Block]</u> Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid accounts with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Periodically in the ordinary course of business, the Company may carry cash balances at financial institutions in excess of the Federally insured limits of \$250,000.

Goodwill and Intangible
Assets, Intangible Assets,
Policy [Policy Text Block]

Intangible Assets - Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit. Acquired intangible assets identified as in-process research and development (IPR&D) assets, are considered indefinite lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. If the associated research and development effort is abandoned, the related IPR&D assets will be written-off and the Company will record a noncash impairment loss on its statements of operations. For those compounds that reach commercialization, the IPR&D assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets periodically and take into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate that impairment exists. No impairments of intangible assets have been identified during any of the periods presented. Intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach.

Property, Plant and
Equipment, Policy [Policy
Text Block]

**Property and Equipment, net** - Leasehold improvements, furniture, equipment and software are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease term. Accumulated depreciation on property and equipment was \$0.4 million and \$0.3 million at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Lessee, Leases [Policy Text Block]

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Asset - The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception or during modifications or renewal of an existing lease. Operating lease assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based upon the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The lease payments used to determine the Company's operating lease assets may include lease incentives, stated rent increases and escalation clauses linked to rates of inflation when determinable and are recognized in the Company's operating lease assets in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company has elected the practical expedient and does not separate lease components from nonlease components for its leases. The Company's operating leases are reflected in operating lease right-of-use asset (ROU), accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and operating lease liability - long-term, net of current portion in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases, defined as leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date, are excluded from this treatment and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Refer to Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies - Lease Obligations Payable for additional information related to the Company's operating leases.

Investment, Policy [Policy Text Block]

**Cost Method Investment -** The Company's cost method investment consists of an investment in a corporation in which it does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and financial activities. Management evaluates this investment for possible impairment quarterly.

Fair Value of Financial
Instruments, Policy [Policy
Text Block]

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of non-trade receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and its warrant liability. The carrying amount of non-trade receivables, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of such.

The Company has categorized its assets and liabilities that are valued at fair value on a recurring basis into a three-level fair value hierarchy in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Assets and liabilities recorded in the balance sheets at fair value are categorized based on a hierarchy of inputs as follows:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets of identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company's financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis include the fair value of warrant liability discussed in Note 4.

The following table provides assets and liabilities reported at fair value and measured on a recurring basis at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

		Quoted Prices	Significant	Significant
	Liabilities	in Active	Other	Other
	Measured	Markets for	Observable	Unobservable
	at Fair	Identical	Inputs	Inputs
Description	Value	Assets (Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)
Fair value of warrant liability as of September 30, 2020:	\$ 9,049	\$	\$	\$ 9,049
Fair value of warrant liability as of December 31, 2019:	\$ 5,818	\$ —	\$	\$ 5,818

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of the beginning of the third quarter and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises that occurred during the third quarter of 2020 and adjusts for balances for changes in fair value that occurred during the current quarter. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warr Liabi Curr	lity	Warrant Liability Long-Term	Warrant Liability Total
Balance, June 30, 2020	\$	—	\$ 11,792	\$ 11,792
Exercise of warrants			_	_
Change in fair value - net			(2,743)	(2,743)
Balance, September 30, 2020	\$		\$ 9,049	\$ 9,049

The table below (in thousands) of Level 3 liabilities begins with the valuation as of December 31, 2019 and then is adjusted for the issuances and exercises, and changes in fair value that occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The ending balance of the Level 3 financial instrument presented above represents our best estimates and may not be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Liability Current		Warrant Liability Long-Term		Varrant Liability Total
Balance, December 31, 2019	\$		\$	5,818	\$ 5,818
Issuances of warrants		_		4,724	4,724
Exercise of warrants		_		(4)	(4)
Change in fair value - net				(1,489)	(1,489)
Balance, September 30, 2020	\$		\$	9,049	\$ 9,049

Earnings Per Share, Policy [Policy Text Block]

Loss Per Common Share - Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For purposes of this calculation, options to purchase common stock, restricted stock units subject to vesting and warrants to purchase common stock are considered to be common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. In periods when losses are reported, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents, because their inclusion would be antidilutive. For the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 22.9 million and approximately 14.7 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, approximately 20.8 million and approximately 11.3 million, respectively, of potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect.

Share-based Payment
Arrangement [Policy Text
Block]

Stock-based Compensation - Stock-based compensation expense includes the estimated fair value of equity awards vested or expected to vest during the reporting period. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic (ASC) 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (ASC 718). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock units, and modifications to existing stock options, to be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values. The grant date fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the grant date fair value of restricted stock awards is determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant (or if the date of grant is not a business day, on the business day prior to the date of the grant). The awards are subject to service vesting conditions. Compensation expense related to awards to employees and directors with service-based vesting conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis based on the grant date fair value over the associated service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term, net of forfeitures which are recognized as they occur. Compensation expense related to awards to nonemployees with service-based vesting conditions is recognized based on the then-current fair value at each financial reporting date prior to the measurement date over the associated service period of the award or the vesting event, applicable, which is generally the vesting term. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company began using the volatility of its own stock since it now has sufficient historic data in its stock price.

Subsequent Events, Policy [Policy Text Block]

**Subsequent Events -** The Company's management reviewed all material events through the date these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued for subsequent events disclosure consideration, see other notes and specifically Note 8 - Subsequent Events.

New Accounting
Pronouncements, Policy
[Policy Text Block]

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) (ASU 2018-13). ASU 2018-13 modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, based on the concepts in the Concepts Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company's adoption of this

pronouncement effective January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) (ASU 2019-12). ASU 2019-12 modifies the requirements for the timing of adoption of enacted change in tax law. The effects of changes on taxes currently payable or refundable for the current year must be reflected in the computation of annual effective tax rate in the first interim period that includes the enactment date of the new legislation, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted upon issuance of this ASU. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) (ASU 2020-06). ASU 2020-06 amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity's own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. The Board observed that the application of the derivatives scope exception guidance results in accounting for some contracts as derivatives while accounting for economically similar contracts as equity. The Board also decided to improve and amend the related EPS guidance. The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities that meet the definition of a Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filer, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this standard will have, if any, on its financial statements.

The Company does not believe that any other recently issued effective pronouncements, or pronouncements issued but not yet effective, if adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

## Note 2 - Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidation and Significant Accounting Policies (Tables)

### 9 Months Ended

Sep. 30, 2020

•			
	otes	0	hΙΔC
ΤV	ULLS	Lai	UIUS

Deferred Costs, Capitalized, Prepaid, and Other Assets
Disclosure [Table Text Block]

	tember , 2020	31, 2019			
Vendor prepayments and deposits	\$ 1,312	\$	1,857		
Prepaid insurance	880		352		
Other current assets	257		529		
Related party receivables	5		10		
Non-trade receivables	 1		1		
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets	\$ 2,455	\$	2,749		

<u>Fair Value Measurements, Recurring and Nonrecurring</u>
[Table Text Block]

	Liabilities Measured	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for	Significant Other Observable	Significant Other Unobservable			
	at Fair	Identical	Inputs	Inputs			
Description	Value	Assets (Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)			
Fair value of warrant liability as of September 30, 2020:	\$ 9,049	\$ _	\$ —	\$ 9,049			
Fair value of warrant liability as of December 31, 2019:	\$ 5,818	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 5,818			

<u>Fair Value, Liabilities Measured on Recurring Basis,</u> <u>Unobservable Input Reconciliation [Table Text Block]</u>

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Liability Current	Warrant Liability Long- Term	Warrant Liability Total
Balance, June 30, 2020	\$ —	\$ 11,792	\$ 11,792
Exercise of warrants	_	_	_
Change in fair value - net		(2,743)	(2,743)
Balance, September 30, 2020	<u>\$</u>	\$ 9,049	\$ 9,049
	Wannant	Warrant	Warrant
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020	Warrant Liability Current	Liability Long- Term	Liability Total
	Liability	Long-	Liability Total
30, 2020	Liability Current	Long- Term	Liability Total
30, 2020  Balance, December 31, 2019	Liability Current	Long- Term \$ 5,818	Liability Total \$ 5,818 4,724
30, 2020  Balance, December 31, 2019 Issuances of warrants	Liability Current	Long- Term \$ 5,818 4,724	Liability Total \$ 5,818 4,724 (4)
Balance, December 31, 2019 Issuances of warrants Exercise of warrants	Liability Current	Long- Term \$ 5,818 4,724 (4)	Liability Total \$ 5,818 4,724 (4)

## Note 3 - Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities (Tables)

**Notes Tables** 

<u>Schedule of Accrued Liabilities [Table Text Block]</u>

## 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

	<b>September 30, 2020</b>		ecember 1, 2019
Accrued chemistry manufacturing and control costs	\$ 1,086	\$	49
Accrued clinical activities	311		93
Accrued payroll and bonuses	247		436
Operating lease liability - current	114		103
Related party payable	99		99
Accrued license fees and sponsored research agreements	95		201
Accrued legal, regulatory, and professional	87		272
Accrued other	56		164
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$ 2,095	\$	1,417

Note	4 -	Warrants	(Tables)	)
11000	•	TT COLL I CELLED	( I WDICS)	,

## 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

Number of

Weighted

0.1% to

0.3%

112.5% to

1.6% to

1.7%

97.5% to

Remaining

Number of

### **Notes Tables**

Schedu	le of Stockholders'
<b>Equity</b>	Note, Warrants or
Rights	[Table Text Block]

	Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at	Shares Under Outstanding Warrants at	Average Exercise Price at	Contractual Life at September 30, 2020
	September 30, 2020	December 31, 2019	<b>September 30, 2020</b>	(No. Years)
Liability Classified Warrants (1)		·		
Issued February 2017	404,002	404,002	\$ 1.50	1.4
Issued February 2018	2,273,700	2,273,700	2.80	2.9
Issued June 2018 (2)	742,991	742,991	2.03	3.2
Issued March 2019	1,581,000	1,585,500	1.10	3.5
Issued April 2019	5,250,000	5,250,000	1.75	3.6
Issued February 2020	6,150,000	_	1.05	4.8
	16,401,693	10,256,193	\$ 1.58	
<b>Equity Classified Warrants</b>				
Issued May 2016 - Bonwick	107,802	107,802	\$ 7.50	0.6
Issued July 2017 - Consulting (3)	150,000	150,000	2.61	1.8
Issued April 2018 - Consulting	100,000	100,000	3.00	0.5
Issued August 2019 - Consulting	150,000	150,000	1.64	1.9
Issued April 2020 - Consulting	100,000	_	1.14	4.6
	607,802	507,802	\$ 3.06	
Balance outstanding	17,009,495	10,763,995	\$ 1.63	
			September 30, 2020	<b>December</b> 31, 2019

Schedule of Warrants or Rights, Assumptions Used [Table Text Block]

Risk-free interest rate

Volatility

Schedule of Warrant Activity [Table Text Block]

Volatility				12	4.1%	107.5%
Expected life (years)				1.4	to 4.9	2.1 to 4.3
Dividend yield				_	_%	<u>%</u>
	Number of Shares Range o Warran Exercise				ighted erage	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual
	Under Warrant	Price per Share		Exercise Price		Life (Years)
Balance at January 1, 2020	10,256,193	\$1.10	\$2.80	\$	1.89	4.0
Granted	6,150,000	1.05	1.05		1.05	4.8
Exercised	(4,500)	1.10	1.10		1.10	_
Expired						_
Balance at September 30, 2020	16,401,693	\$1.05	\$2.80	\$	1.58	3.9
Vested and Exercisable at September 30, 2020	16,401,693	\$1.10	\$2.80	\$	1.89	3.9

## **Note 5 - Equity (Tables)**

## 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

N	ot	es '	Ta	bl	les

Notes Tables								
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Expensed				Three		Ionths Nine Mont		
and Capitalized, Amount [Table Text Block]					ıded			
			_	Septer 2020		30, 019	2020	ember 30, 2019
	General and adminis	strative	9					29 \$ 1,003
	Research and develo		4	94		59	23	
	Total Stock-based C	•	n s	460	\$	489	\$ 1.26	55 \$ 1,155
	Expense		=	100	Ψ	107	Ψ 1,2C	= ====
Schedule of Share-based Payment Award,								Months
Stock Options, Valuation Assumptions [Table						E		September 30,
Text Block]	<b>Stock Option Assu</b>	mptions:					2020	2019
	Risk-free interest ra	Ī					.2% to	1.0% to
	Kisk-free frierest fa	ie					0.5%	1.3%
	Expected veletility	of	ata ale			1	25.4%	85% to
	Expected volatility of	of common	SIOCK			1	to 28.0%	100%
	Expected life (years	)					8 to 6.3	5.3 to 6.3
	Expected dividend y	yield					<u>%</u>	<u> </u> %
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option,			Weighted		1 . 1		ighted	
Activity [Table Text Block]			Average Grant	•	ghted rage		erage naining	Aggregate Intrinsic
			Date	Avc	rage		tractual	
		Number	Fair	Exe	rcise		m (in	Value
		of Shares	Value	Pr	ice	ye	ears)	value
	Outstanding, December 31, 2019	3,836,000	\$ 1.59	\$	2.26		8.3	\$ —
	Granted	1,554,750	\$ 0.83	3 \$	0.95			
	Exercised			- \$	_			
	Forfeited	(20,000)	\$ 0.89	\$	1.06			
	Outstanding,	5,370,750	¢ 12	7 C	1.88		0.1	¢.
	September 30, 2020	3,370,730	\$ 1.3	/ ֆ	1.88		8.1	<b>5</b> —
	Exercisable,							
	September 30,	1,978,917	\$ 1.9	1 \$	2.79		7.2	\$ —
	2020							
Schedule of Nonvested Restricted Stock Units						•	ghted crage	Weighted Average
Activity [Table Text Block]							_	Remaining
								Contractual
				Num		Fair	Value	Term (in
	Havestad Clause D	a a a mark 2.1	2010	of Sh				years)
	Unvested Shares, Do Granted	ecember 31,	2019		,907 ,211		1.31 0.93	3.5
	Vested				,227)		1.31	
	Unvested Shares, Se	eptember 30	, 2020		,891		1.08	3.3
	,	-						

# Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies (Tables)

## **Notes Tables**

Lease, Cost [Table Text Block]

## 9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	20	020	2	019	2	020	2	019
Lease cost:		,						
Operating lease cost	\$	29	\$	15	\$	87	\$	31
Short-term lease cost		4		12		13		38
Variable lease cost		7		7		22		19
Total	\$	40	\$	34	\$	122	\$	88
		hree I	Mon	ths		Nine N		hs
	En	ded Se	epte	mber	Ended September 30,			
		3	-					
	20	020	2	019	2	020		019
Cash paid for amounts included in the								
measurement of lease liabilities:								
Operating cash flows from operating leases	\$	34	\$	20	\$	100	\$	41
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange								
for lease liabilities:								
Operating leases	\$	_	\$	212	\$	_	\$	321
Maturity of lease liabilities	As of September 30, 2020							
2020 (remaining three months)					\$			34
2021								138
2022								105
2023								56

Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, Maturity [Table Text Block]

Maturity of lease liabilities	As of September 30, 2020	
2020 (remaining three months)	\$	34
2021		138
2022		105
2023		56
2024		10
2025 and thereafter		_
Total lease payments		343
Less: imputed interest		(39)
Present value of operating lease liabilities	\$	304

<b>Note 1 - Nature of Business</b>		
and Liquidity (Details	Sep. 30, 2020	
Textual)		
Number of Core Drug Technologies	3	
Number of Drug Candidates	5	
Number of Approaches to Treating Cancer of Drug Candidates 3		
Animal Life Sciences, Inc [Member]		
Equity Method Investment, Ownership Percentage	10.00%	

Note 2 - Basis of Presentation, Principles of	3 Months Ended		9 Months Ended		12 Months Ended
Consolidation and Significant Accounting Policies (Details Textual) \$ in Thousands, shares in Millions	1181) (8)	7A19	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$) shares	Sep. 30, 2019 shares	Dec. 31, 2019 USD (\$)
Number of Operating Segments			1		
Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit), Ending Balance	\$ (54,277)		\$ (54,277)		\$ (39,561)
Impairment of Intangible Assets (Excluding Goodwill), Total			0		0
Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Property, Plant, and Equipment, Ending Balance	\$ 400		\$ 400		300
Antidilutive Securities Excluded from Computation of Earnings Per Share, Amount (in shares)   shares	22.9 14	.7	20.8	11.3	
Annamycin [Member]					
Vendor Prepayments and Deposits, Expansion of Production Commitments	\$ 1,100		\$ 1,100		\$ 1,500

Note 2 - Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidation and Significant Accounting Policies - Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets (Details) - USD (\$)

Sep. 30, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

\$ in Thousands		
Vendor prepayments and deposits	\$ 1,312	\$ 1,857
Prepaid insurance	880	352
Other current assets	257	529
Related party receivables	5	10
Non-trade receivables	1	1
Total prepaid expenses and other current	t assets \$ 2,455	\$ 2,749

Note 2 - Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidation and Significant Accounting

**Policies - Assets and Sep. 30, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019** 

Liabilities at Fair Value Measured on a Recurring Basis (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands

Fair value of warrant liability	\$ 9,049	\$ 5,818
Fair Value, Inputs, Level 1 [Memb	oer]	
Fair value of warrant liability	0	0
Fair Value, Inputs, Level 2 [Memb	oer]	
Fair value of warrant liability	0	0
Fair Value, Inputs, Level 3 [Memb	oer]	
Fair value of warrant liability	\$ 9,049	\$ 5,818

Note 2 - Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidation and Significant Accounting	3 Months Ended 9 Months En		
<b>Policies - Level 3 Liabilities</b>	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2020	
(Details) - Fair Value, Inputs,			
Level 3 [Member] - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands			
Warrant Liability Current [Member]			
Balance	\$ 0	\$ 0	
Exercise of warrants	0	0	
Change in fair value - net	0	0	
Issuances of warrants		0	
Balance	0	0	
Warrant Liability Noncurrent [Membe	<u>r]</u>		
Balance	11,792	5,818	
Exercise of warrants	0	(4)	
Change in fair value - net	(2,743)	(1,489)	
<u>Issuances of warrants</u>		4,724	
Balance	9,049	9,049	
Warrant Liability [Member]			
Balance	11,792	5,818	
Exercise of warrants	0	(4)	
Change in fair value - net	(2,743)	(1,489)	
<u>Issuances of warrants</u>		4,724	
Balance	\$ 9,049	\$ 9,049	

## Note 3 - Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities - Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Accrued chemistry manufacturing and control costs	\$ 1,086	\$ 49
Accrued clinical activities	311	93
Accrued payroll and bonuses	247	436
Operating lease liability - current	114	103
Related party payable	99	99
Accrued license fees and sponsored research agreements	95	201
Accrued legal, regulatory, and professional	87	272
Accrued other	56	164
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities	\$ 2,095	\$ 1,417

		3 Months	Ended	9 Month	s Ended		
Note 4 - Warrants (Details Textual) - USD (\$)	Feb. 10, 2020	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Apr. 30, 2020	Dec. 31, 2019
Class of Warrant or Right,		17,009,495	:	17,009,495	ξ.		10,763,995
Outstanding (in shares)		17,007,773	,	17,007,77	,		10,703,773
Share-based Payment		\$ 460,000	\$	\$	\$		
Arrangement, Expense		Ψ 100,000	489,000	1,265,000	1,155,000		
Warrants Issued in June 2018 and							
Expiring December 22, 2023							
[Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number							
of Securities Called by Warrants or		710,212		710,212			
Rights (in shares)							
Class of Warrant or Right,							
Exercise Price of Warrants or		\$ 2.02		\$ 2.02			
Rights (in dollars per share)							
Warrants Issued in June 2018 and							
Expiring June 21, 2023 [Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number		22 ==2		22			
of Securities Called by Warrants or		32,779		32,779			
Rights (in shares)							
Class of Warrant or Right,		Φ 2 22		Φ 2 22			
Exercise Price of Warrants or		\$ 2.32		\$ 2.32			
Rights (in dollars per share)							
Warrants Issued in July 2017 for							
Consulting with Exercise Price of 2.41 [Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number							
of Securities Called by Warrants or		100,000		100,000			
Rights (in shares)		100,000		100,000			
Class of Warrant or Right,							
Exercise Price of Warrants or		\$ 2.41		\$ 2.41			
Rights (in dollars per share)		ψ 2.41		ψ 2.41			
Warrants Issued in July 2017 for							
Consulting with Exercise Price							
3.00 [Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number							
of Securities Called by Warrants or		50,000		50,000			
Rights (in shares)		,		,			
Class of Warrant or Right,							
Exercise Price of Warrants or		\$ 3.00		\$ 3.00			
Rights (in dollars per share)							
Warrants Issued in Connection							
with the February 2020 Stock							
Offering [Member]							

Class of Warrant or Right, Number of Securities Called by Warrants or Rights (in shares)	5,625,000	)					
Class of Warrant or Right, Exercise Price of Warrants or Rights (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.05						
Class of Warrant or Right, Initial Exercise Period (Month)	6 months						
Warrants and Rights Outstanding, Term (Year)	5 years						
Class of Warrant or Right, Outstanding (in shares)	1]	6,150,000		6,150,000			0
Oppenheimer Co, Underwriter Warrant [Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number of Securities Called by Warrants or Rights (in shares)	525,000						
Class of Warrant or Right, Exercise Price of Warrants or	\$ 1.05						
Rights (in dollars per share) Warrants Issued in April 2020 for Consulting [Member]							
Class of Warrant or Right, Number of Securities Called by Warrants or						100,000	
Rights (in shares) Class of Warrant or Right, Vesting Contingency, Research and						\$	
<u>Development Expenditures</u> <u>Threshold</u>						10,000,00	0
Class of Warrant or Right, Outstanding (in shares) Equity Classified Warrants		100,000		100,000			0
[Member] Class of Warrant or Right,							
Outstanding (in shares)		607,802		607,802			507,802
Class of Warrant or Right, Vested and Exercisable (in shares)		512,802		512,802			507,802
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Expense		\$ 0	\$ 92,000	\$ 5,000	\$ 94,000		
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Amount, Total		\$ 91,000		\$ 91,000			

<sup>[1]</sup> If the Company subdivides (by any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or otherwise) its outstanding shares of its common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately reduced and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately increased. Additionally, if the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock

split or otherwise) its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately increased and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately decreased. Also, the Company may voluntarily reduce the warrant exercise price for its warrants issued in March 2019 and February 2017 and may voluntarily extend the contractual term of its warrants issued in February 2017.

Note 4 - Warrants -		9 Months Ended	12 Months Ended	3
Warrants Outstanding (Details) - \$ / shares		Sep. 30, 2020	Dec. 31, 2019	Feb. 10, 2020
Balance outstanding (in shares) Weighted Average [Member]		17,009,495	10,763,995	
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share) Warrants Issued in February 2017 [Member]		\$ 1.63		
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	404,002	404,002	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[1]	1 year 4 months 24 days		
Warrants Issued in February 2017 [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]				
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1]	\$ 1.50		
Warrants Issued in February 2018 [Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	2,273,700	2,273,700	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[1]	2 years 10 months 24 days		
Warrants Issued in February 2018 [Member]   Weighted Average				
[Member] Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1]	\$ 2.80		
Warrants Issued in June 2018 [Member]		ψ 2.00		
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1],[2	<sup>2</sup> ]742,991	742,991	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)		3 years 2 months 12 days	,	
Warrants Issued in June 2018 [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]		Ž		
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1],[2	2]\$ 2.03		
Warrants Issued in March 2019 [Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	1,581,000	1,585,500	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[1]	3 years 6 months		
Warrants Issued in March 2019 [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]				
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1]	\$ 1.10		
Warrants Issued in April 2019 [Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	5,250,000	5,250,000	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[1]	3 years 7 months 6 days		
Warrants Issued in April 2019 [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]				

Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1]	\$ 1.75		
Warrants Issued in Connection with the February 2020 Stock Offering	<u>ıg</u>			
[Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	6,150,000	0	
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)				\$
		4		1.05
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[1]	4 years 9 months 18 days		
Warrants Issued in Connection with the February 2020 Stock Offering	n or	monuis 18 days		
[Member]   Weighted Average [Member]	15			
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[1]	\$ 1.05		
Liability Classified Warrants [Member]		Ψ 1.02		
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[1]	16,401,693	10,256,193	ł
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)		3 years 10	10,230,193	,
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual me (rear)		months 24 days	4 years	
Liability Classified Warrants [Member]   Weighted Average		months 2 radys		
[Member]				
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 1.58	[1]\$ 1.89	
Warrants Issued in May 2016 to Bonwick [Member]		•	•	
Balance outstanding (in shares)		107,802	107,802	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)		7 months 6 days	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Warrants Issued in May 2016 to Bonwick [Member]   Weighted		,		
Average [Member]				
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 7.50		
Warrants Issued in July 2017 for Consulting [Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)	[3]	150,000	150,000	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	[3]	1 year 9 months		
	[-]	18 days		
Warrants Issued in July 2017 for Consulting [Member]   Weighted				
Average [Member]	507			
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	[3]	\$ 2.61		
Warrants Issued in April 2018 for Consulting [Member]				
Balance outstanding (in shares)		100,000	100,000	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)		6 months		
Warrants Issued in April 2018 for Consulting [Member]   Weighted				
Average [Member]		ф <b>2</b> 00		
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 3.00		
Warrants Issued in August 2019 for Consulting [Member]		150,000	150,000	
Balance outstanding (in shares)  Palance outstanding remaining contractual life (Veer)		150,000	150,000	
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)		1 year 10 months 24 days		
Warrants Issued in August 2019 for Consulting [Member]   Weighted	1	mondis 2 radys		
Average [Member]	<u>-</u>			
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 1.64		

Warrants Issued in April 2020 for Consulting [Member]		
Balance outstanding (in shares)	100,000	0
Balance outstanding, remaining contractual life (Year)	4 years 7 months 6 days	
Warrants Issued in April 2020 for Consulting [Member]   Weighted		
Average [Member]		
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.14	
Equity Classified Warrants [Member]		
Balance outstanding (in shares)	607,802	507,802
Equity Classified Warrants [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]		
Balance outstanding, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	\$ 3.06	

- [1] If the Company subdivides (by any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or otherwise) its outstanding shares of its common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately reduced and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately increased. Additionally, if the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock split or otherwise) its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately increased and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately decreased. Also, the Company may voluntarily reduce the warrant exercise price for its warrants issued in March 2019 and February 2017 and may voluntarily extend the contractual term of its warrants issued in February 2017.
- [2] Includes warrants to purchase 710,212 shares at an exercise price of \$2.02, expiring December 22, 2023, and warrants to purchase 32,779 shares at an exercise price of \$2.32, expiring June 21, 2023.
- [3] Includes warrants to purchase 100,000 shares at an exercise price of \$2.41 and warrants to purchase 50,000 shares at an exercise price of \$3.00.

## Note 4 - Warrants -Assumptions Used (Details) -Liability Classified Warrants [Member]

Sep. 30, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

0	0
0.001	0.016
1.125	0.975
1.4	2.1
0.003	0.017
1.241	1.075
4.9	4.3
	0.001 1.125 1.4 0.003

Note 4 - Warrants - Warrant Activity (Details) - \$ / shares	9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2020	12 Months Ended Dec. 31, 2019
Balance, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	10,763,995	
Balance, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	17,009,495	10,763,995
Weighted Average [Member]		
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.63	
Liability Classified Warrants [Member]		
Balance, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	[1] 10,256,193	
Balance, weighted average remaining contractual life (Year)	3 years 10 months 24 days	4 years
Granted, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	6,150,000	
Granted, weighted average remaining contractual life (Year)	4 years 9 months 18 days	
Exercised, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	(4,500)	
Expired, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	0	
Balance, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	[1] 16,401,693	10,256,193
Vested and Exercisable, number of shares under warrants (in shares)	16,401,693	
Vested and Exercisable, weighted average remaining contractual life	3 years 10 months 24	
(Year)	days	
Liability Classified Warrants [Member]   Minimum [Member]		
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.10	
Granted, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.05	
Exercised, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.10	
Expired, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	0	
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.05	\$ 1.10
Vested and Exercisable, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.10	
Liability Classified Warrants [Member]   Maximum [Member]	• 00	
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	2.80	
Granted, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.05	
Exercised, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.10	
Expired, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	0	2.00
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)  Vested and Evereisable, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	2.80 2.80	2.80
<u>Vested and Exercisable, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)</u> <u>Liability Classified Warrants [Member]   Weighted Average [Member]</u>		
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.89	
Granted, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.05	
Exercised, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.10	
Expired, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	0	
Balance, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	1.58	[1]\$ 1.89
Vested and Exercisable, warrant exercise price (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.89	ψ 1.07

[1] If the Company subdivides (by any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or otherwise) its outstanding shares of its common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately reduced and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately increased. Additionally, if the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock split or otherwise) its outstanding shares of common stock into a smaller number of shares, the warrant exercise price is proportionately increased and the number of shares under outstanding warrants is proportionately decreased. Also, the Company may voluntarily reduce the warrant exercise price for its warrants issued in March 2019 and February 2017 and may voluntarily extend the contractual term of its warrants issued in February 2017.

Note 5 Equity (Details	1 Months Ended					9 Mon Ende		
Note 5 - Equity (Details Textual) \$ / shares in Units, \$ in Thousands	Feb. 10, 2020 USD (\$) \$ / shares shares	Oct. 30, 2020 shares	Aug. 31, 2020 shares	Jul. 31, 2020 USD (\$) \$ / shares shares		2020	Sep. 30, 2019 USD (\$)	Jun. 15, 2018 shares
Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock						\$ 17,077	\$ 19,292	
Share Based Compensation Arrangement by Share Based Payment Award, Options, Grants in						1,300		
Period, Aggregate Fair Value Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Options, Vested in Period, Fair Value						\$ 1,200	\$ 1,000	
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Options, Grants in Period, Gross (in shares)   shares				1,349,750		1,554,750		
Director [Member]   Subsequent  Event [Member]  Share-based Compensation  Arrangement by Share-based		40,000						
Payment Award, Options, Grants in Period, Gross (in shares)   shares  Company Founder and Chair of Scientific Advisory Board [Member]								
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Options, Grants in Period, Gross (in shares)   shares			100,000	)				
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] Share-based Compensation								
Arrangement by Share-based Payment Award, Expiration Period (Year)						10 years		
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Amount, Total						\$ 3,000		
Share-based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet Recognized, Period for Recognition (Year)						2 years 7 months 24 days		

Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] | Employees [Member] **Share-based Compensation** Arrangement by Share-based 4 years Payment Award, Award Vesting Period (Year) Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] | Director [Member] | Subsequent Event [Member] **Share-based Compensation** Arrangement by Share-based 3 Payment Award, Award Vesting years Period (Year) Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] | Director [Member] | Minimum [Member] **Share-based Compensation** Arrangement by Share-based 1 year Payment Award, Award Vesting Period (Year) Share-based Payment Arrangement, Option [Member] | Director [Member] | Maximum [Member] Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based 3 years Payment Award, Award Vesting Period (Year) Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) [Member] Share-based Payment Arrangement, Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet \$ 600 Recognized, Amount, Total Share-based Payment Arrangement, 3 years 3 Nonvested Award, Cost Not yet months Recognized, Period for Recognition 18 days (Year) **Share Based Compensation** Arrangement by Share Based 4 Payment Award, Number of **Installment Periods** The 2015 Stock Plan [Member] **Share-based Compensation** Arrangement by Share-based 10,500,000 Payment Award, Number of Shares Authorized (in shares) | shares

Share-based Compensation					
Arrangement by Share-based					
Payment Award, Number of Shares					4,409,132
Available for Grant (in shares)					
<u>shares</u>					
Warrants Issued in Connection with					
the February 2020 Stock Offering					
[Member]					
Class of Warrant or Right, Number					
of Securities Called by Warrants or	5,62	5,000			
Rights (in shares)   shares					
The 2019 ATM Agreement					
[Member]					
Stock Issued During Period, Shares,			1 201 12	(7.170.06)	İ
New Issues (in shares)   shares			1,301,120	67,170,964	ŀ
Shares Issued, Average Price Per					
Share (in dollars per share)   \$ /			\$ 1.47	\$ 1.44	
<u>shares</u>					
Proceeds from Issuance of Common			¢ 1 000	¢ 10 200	
Stock			\$ 1,900	\$ 10,300	
Payments of Stock Issuance Costs			\$ 100	\$ 300	
February 2020 Stock Offering					
[Member]					
Stock Issued During Period, Shares,	7.50	0.000			
New Issues (in shares)   shares	7,500	0,000			
Payments of Stock Issuance Costs	\$ 700	0			
Shares and Warrants Issued in					
Period, Purchase Price Per Share and	\$ 0.8	20			
Related Warrant (in dollars per share)		50			
\$ / shares					

\$ 6,000

Proceeds from Issuance or Sale of Equity, Total

Note 5 - Equity - Stock-based Compensation (Details) -	3 Mont	hs Ended	9 Months Ended		
USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	9 Sep. 30, 2020	0 Sep. 30, 2019	
Stock-based compensation expense	\$ 460	\$ 489	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,155	
General and Administrative Expense [Member]	]				
Stock-based compensation expense	366	430	1,029	1,003	
Research and Development Expense [Member]					
Stock-based compensation expense	\$ 94	\$ 59	\$ 236	\$ 152	

Note 5 - Equity -	9 Months Ended					
<b>Assumptions Used (Details)</b>	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019				
Expected dividend yield	0.00%	0.00%				
Minimum [Member]						
Risk-free interest rate	0.20%	1.00%				
Expected volatility of common stock	125.40%	85.00%				
Expected life (years) (Year)	3 years 9 months 18 days	55 years 3 months 18 days				
Maximum [Member]						
Risk-free interest rate	0.50%	1.30%				
Expected volatility of common stock	128.00%	100.00%				
Expected life (years) (Year)	6 years 3 months 18 days	s 6 years 3 months 18 days				

Note 5 - Equity - Stock Option Activity (Details) - USD (\$)	1 Months Ended Jul. 31, 2020		12 Months Ended Dec. 31, 2019
Outstanding, number of shares (in shares)	Jul. 31, 2020	3,836,000	Dec. 31, 2017
Outstanding, weighted average grant date fair value (in			
dollars per share)		\$ 1.59	
Outstanding, weighted average exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 2.26	
Outstanding, weighted average remaining contractual		8 years 1 month 6	8 years 3 months 18
term (Year)		days	days
Outstanding, aggregate intrinsic value		\$ 0	\$ 0
Granted, number of shares (in shares)	1,349,750	1,554,750	
Granted, weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share)		\$ 0.83	
Granted, weighted average exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 0.95	
Exercised, number of shares (in shares)		0	
Exercised, weighted average grant date fair value (in		\$ 0	
dollars per share)		\$ 0	
Exercised, weighted average exercise price (in dollars per		\$ 0	
share)			
Forfeited, number of shares (in shares)		(20,000)	
Forfeited, weighted average grant date fair value (in		\$ 0.89	
dollars per share)  Earfaited, weighted everyone everying price (in dellars non			
Forfeited, weighted average exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 1.06	
Outstanding, number of shares (in shares)		5,370,750	3,836,000
Outstanding, weighted average grant date fair value (in		\$ 1.37	\$ 1.59
dollars per share)		ψ 1.5 /	ψ 1.0 <i>y</i>
Outstanding, weighted average exercise price (in dollars		\$ 1.88	\$ 2.26
per share) Exercisable, number of shares (in shares)		1,978,917	
Exercisable, weighted average grant date fair value (in		1,970,917	
dollars per share)		\$ 1.91	
Exercisable, weighted average exercise price (in dollars per share)		\$ 2.79	
Exercisable, weighted average remaining contractual		7 years 2 months 12	)
term (Year)		days	-
Exercisable, aggregate intrinsic value		\$ 0	

<b>Note 5 - Equity - Restricted Stock Unit Activity (Details)</b>	9 Months Ended	12 Months Ended
- Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) [Member] - \$ / shares	Sep. 30, 2020	Dec. 31, 2019
<u>Unvested Shares</u> , number of shares (in shares)	316,907	
<u>Unvested Shares</u> , weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.31	
Unvested Shares, weighted average remaining contractual term (Year)	3 years 3 months 18 days	3 years 6 months
Granted, number of shares (in shares)	353,211	
Granted, weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share)	\$ 0.93	
Vested, number of shares (in shares)	(79,227)	
Vested, weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share)	\$ 1.31	
<u>Unvested Shares</u> , number of shares (in shares)	590,891	316,907
<u>Unvested Shares, weighted average grant date fair value (in dollars per share)</u>	\$ 1.08	\$ 1.31

Note & Income Toxes	3 Mont	ths Ended	9 Months Ended	
Note 6 - Income Taxes (Details Textual) - USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019
Income Tax Expense (Benefit), Total	\$ (0)	\$ (229,000)	\$ 0	\$ (229,000)
Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Percent, Total	0.00%	5.20%	0.00%	1.40%
Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation, Tax Credit, Research, Amount			\$ 0	

		3 Months	<b>Ended</b>	9 Months Ended	
Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies (Details Textual)	Mar. 16, 2020 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2019 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2019 USD (\$)
Sublease Income	. ,	\$ 10,000	\$ 31,000		
Operating Lease, Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (Year)		2 years 8 months 12 days		2 years 8 months 12 days	
Operating Lease, Weighted Average Discount Rate, Percent		9.60%		9.60%	
Research and Development Expense, Total		\$ 4,435,000	2,785,000	\$ 10,971,000	\$ 7,816,000
Houston Pharmaceuticals, Inc [Member]					
Related Party Transaction, Expenses from Transactions with Related Party		59,000	0	226,000	75,000
Houston Pharmaceuticals, Inc [Member]   Consulting Agreement on Licensed Molecules [Member]					
Other Commitments, Number of Agreements	2				
Other Commitment, Total	\$ 43,500				
Houston Pharmaceuticals, Inc [Member]   Agreement					
Providing Access to Laboratory Equipment [Member]					
Other Commitment, Total	\$				
Other Commitments, Cancellation Period (Day)	15,000 60 days				
MD Anderson [Member]					
License Agreements Expense		61,000	60,000	183,000	180,000
Research and Development Expense, Total		\$ 212,000	\$ 177,000	\$ 537,000	\$ 366,000

<b>Note 7 - Commitments and</b>	3 Mont	hs Ended	9 Months Ended		
Contingencies - Lease Cost (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	
Operating lease cost	\$ 29	\$ 15	\$ 87	\$ 31	
Short-term lease cost	4	12	13	38	
<u>Variable lease cost</u>	7	7	22	19	
<u>Total</u>	40	34	122	88	
Operating cash flows from operating leases	34	20	100	41	
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities operating leases	\$ 0	\$ 212	\$ 0	\$ 321	

Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies - Future Minimum Liabilities (Details) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)
2020 (remaining three months)	\$ 34
2021	138
2022	105
2023	56
2024	10
2025 and thereafter	0
Total lease payments	343
Less: imputed interest	(39)
Present value of operating lease liabili	<u>ties</u> \$ 304

Note 8 - Subsequent Events		1 Months Ended		3	Months	s Ended	I		9 Month	s Ended	
(Details Textual) - USD (\$)	Nov. 12, 2020	Oct. 31, 2020	Sep. 30, 2020	Jun. 30, 2020	Mar. 31, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Jun. 30, 2019	Mar. 31, 2019	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2019	Jul. 31, 2020
Proceeds from Issuance of									\$	\$	
Common Stock									17,077,000	19,292,000	
Stock Issued During Period,			\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$			
Value, New Issues			1,780,000	10,007,000	566,000	52,000	3,584,000	3,226,000			
Lincoln Park [Member]											
Stock Issued During Period, Value, New Issues								\$ 883,000			
Subsequent Event [Member]   Lincoln Park [Member]											
Stock Issued During Period, Shares, New Issues (in shares)	2,829,214										
Purchase Agreement,											
Common Stock, Maximum	\$ 22.0										
Aggregate Commitment											
Stock Issued During Period,											
Shares, Commitment	760,194										
Consideration (in shares)											
Purchase Agreement,											
Maximum Aggregate Commitment, Number of	304,077										
Additional Shares Issued (in	304,077										
shares)											
Shares Issued, Price Per Share											
(in dollars per share)	\$ 0.707										
Stock Issued During Period,	\$										
Value, New Issues	2,000,000.0										
Stock Issued During Period,											
Shares, Additional	27,643										
Commitment Shares (in	27,043										
shares)											
The 2020 ATM Agreement											
[Member]											
At Market Issuance Sales											\$
Agreement, Maximum											15,000,000.0
Aggregate Offering Price											- , ,
The 2020 ATM Agreement											
[Member]   Subsequent Event											
[Member]											
Stock Issued During Period, Shares, New Issues (in shares)		700,339	)								
Shares Issued, Average Price Per Share (in dollars per share)	1	\$ 0.83									
Proceeds from Issuance of		\$									
Common Stock		600,000	)								
At Market Issuance Sales											
Agreement, Commission Fee,		3.00%									

Percentage of Gross Proceeds

\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_

\_\_

```
Experience of the control of the con
                                 Security of the control of the contr
```

\_\_\_

```
Section 1. The section of the sectio
Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Construction of the Constr
                                        Transmission of the Community of State Sta
                                        Security Control (passes) (mark top, passes) (passes) (pa
                    The control of the co
                                        Section of the control of the contro
```

-

```
Account of the second of the s
                                   The control of the co
```

```
Section 1. The section of the sectio
                                                Total

Commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commission of the commi
```

```
man's (mint)

- 
Comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the comment of the commen
```

```
| The control of the
```

```
Section 1. The second section of the second section of the section of the second section of the 
James Anna Marian Maria
The second secon
Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Common Annual Co
```

```
Transaction for the control of the c
                                                                                        Early (and the control of the contro
The control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the co
```

```
Account of the control of the contro
                 Control State(),
State() |
                                  Section 1

Annual Control of the Con
                                  Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Teach 1

Tea
                                                   The second secon
```

```
American V. Viscoli socializa del continue d
```

\_\_\_\_

```
Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Security Sec
                                              Account of the second s
                                              The state of the s
                                              Section 1. Section 2. 
Search States and a season of the season of
```